## Draft National Ethical Guidelines

## for

# Biomedical and Health Research involving Human Participants



## **Indian Council of Medical Research**

New Delhi

#### CONTENTS

	Sections	Page No
	Preamble	1-2
1.	Statement of General Principles on Ethical Considerations	3-4
	involving Human Participants	
2.	General Ethical Issues	5-11
3.	Ethical Review Procedures	12-30
4.	Informed Consent Process	31-37
5.	Vulnerability	38-53
6.	Clinical Trials of drugs and other interventions	54-75
7.	Epidemiological & Public Health Research	76-84
8.	Research in Social and Behavioral Sciences	85-91
9.	Human Genetics Testing and Research	92-106
10.	Biological materials, Biobanking and Datasets	107-115
11.	International Collaboration	116-119
12.	New Technologies	120-125
13.	Research during Humanitarian Emergencies and Disasters	126-130
14.	Responsible conduct of Research	131-139

#### Preamble

1 2

3 The code of conduct for physicians was well laid out in the Indian traditional systems of medicine 4 and 'do no harm' was the underlying universal principle besides other principles applicable to the 5 existing culture and the class systems of the society. The Indian Council of Medical Research 6 (ICMR) issued the 'Policy Statement on Ethical Considerations involved in Research on Human 7 Subjects' in 1980. Due to rapid advances in biomedical science and technology, a new ethical 8 dimension necessitated further updation of these guidelines. Subsequently the 'Ethical Guidelines 9 for Biomedical Research on Human Subjects' was released in 2000, followed by another revision 10 in 2006 as 'Ethical Guidelines for Biomedical Research on Human Participants'. ICMR in the year 11 2007 jointly brought out a guideline with the Department of Biotechnology (DBT) on 'Guidelines 12 for Stem Cell Research and Therapy', which was further revised in 2013 as the 'National Guidelines' 13 for Stem Cell Research'.

14

The Nuremberg Code (1947) was the first International document on the ethics of research in human subjects and highlighted the essentiality of obtaining voluntary consent. In 1964, the World Medical Association formulated guidelines on conducting research in humans, known as the Declaration of Helsinki. This has undergone seven revisions with the latest version issued in October, 2013 at Fortaleza, Brazil.

20

21 In 1979, the 'Belmont Report' (USA) released by the National Commission for the Protection of 22 Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioural Research for the first time enunciated the three 23 basic ethical principles for research involving human subjects: Respect for Persons, Beneficence 24 and Justice. The principle of Non Maleficence was added to the ethical principles later (1994). The 25 Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) of US released the Federal Policy for the 26 protection of Human subjects as the "Common Rule" in 1991. The International Conference on 27 Harmonization (ICH) brought out the Good Clinical Practice Guidelines E6 (R1) in 1996. The 28 National Bioethics Advisory Commission, USA (2001), The Council for International Organizations 29 of Medical Sciences (CIOMS), Geneva (2002) and the Nuffield Council of Bioethics, UK (2002) 30 released guidelines relevant to research in developing countries. UNESCO's Universal Declaration 31 on Bioethics and Human Rights (2005) and other international instruments on human rights 32 further defined the universal codes of ethics to be adopted by the Member countries. Some of 33 these guidelines are currently undergoing revision. The ICMR Ethical Guidelines have adapted

important guidance points from these International guidelines in accordance with the socio-cultural milieu of our country.

36 The socio-cultural ethos in India and its varying standards of health care today pose unique 37 challenges to the application of universal ethical principles to biomedical and health research. The 38 last decade has seen emerging ethical issues necessitating further revision as 'National Ethical 39 Guidelines for Biomedical and Health Research on Human Participants 2016'. These Guidelines have 40 covered some newer areas like Social and Behavioural Sciences, Responsible Conduct of Research 41 and New Technologies, while a few other specialised areas like Informed Consent process, 42 Biological Materials and Datasets, Vulnerability, International Collaboration, Research during 43 Humanitarian Emergencies and Disasters have been expanded.

44

#### 45 **Scope**

These guidelines are applicable to all biomedical, socio-behavioural and health research conducted in India involving human participants, their biological material and data. The PURPOSE of such research:

49

50 i. SHOULD be directed towards enhancing knowledge about the human condition in
 51 relation to its social and natural environment.

- 52 ii. CONDUCTED under conditions that no person or persons become a mere means for the 53 betterment of others and that human beings who are subjected to any medical research 54 or scientific experimentation are dealt with in a manner conducive to and consistent 55 with their dignity and well being, under conditions of professional fair treatment and 56 transparency.
- 57 iii. MUST be subjected to a regime of EVALUATION at all stages of the proposal i.e.,
  58 research design and conduct with the objectives in mind, the means by which they are
  59 sought to be achieved, the anticipated benefits and harms, declaration of results and use
  60 of the results thereof.

## 1. Statement of General Principles on Ethical Considerations involving

#### 63

#### Human Participants

1.0 Research pertains to a broad range of scientific enquiry on human participants for 64 65 developing generalisable knowledge that improves health, increases understanding of 66 disease and is justified ethically by its social value. Every research has some inherent risk and probabilities of harm to participants/community. Therefore, protection of participants 67 68 should be built in to the design of study. Do no harm (non maleficence) has been the underlying universal principle in all systems of medicine around the world for guiding health 69 70 care. While conducting biomedical and health research, the four basic principles namely; 71 Respect for Persons (Autonomy), Beneficence, Non Maleficence and Justice have been 72 enunciated to govern research. These four basic principles have been expanded into 12 73 general principles described below, which are to be applied to all biomedical and health 74 research involving human participants or research using their biological material or data.

#### 75 **1.1 General Principles**

- Principle of biomedical and health research whereby the rights, safety and well being of research participants are the most important considerations.
- Principle of essentiality whereby the research entailing the use of human
   participants is considered to be essential after a due consideration of all alternatives
   in the light of the existing knowledge in the proposed area of research. This should
   be duly vetted by an Ethics Committee (EC) independent of the proposed research.
- Principle of voluntariness whereby the right of the participant to agree or not to
  agree to participate in research or to withdraw from research at any time is always
  respected. The informed consent process will ensure that this right is safeguarded.
- 1.1.4 Principle of non-exploitation whereby the research participants are equitably
   selected so that the burdens and benefits of the research are distributed fairly and
   without arbitrariness or discrimination. Sufficient safeguards shall be ensured to
   protect the vulnerable groups.
- Principle of ensuring privacy and confidentiality whereby the identity and records of
   the human participants of research are kept confidential and access is limited to only
   those authorized. However, under certain circumstances (suicidal ideation, homicidal
   tendency, HIV positive etc) the information can be breached for valid scientific or
   legal reasons as the right to life of an individual supersedes the right to privacy of the
   research participant.

- 95 1.1.6 Principle of risk minimization whereby due care is taken by all stakeholders
  96 (including but not limited to investigators, ECs, sponsors, regulators) at all stages of
  97 the research to ensure that the risks are minimized and if any harm occurs
  98 appropriate care is given.
- 99 1.1.7 Principle of Professional Competence whereby the research is planned, conducted,
  100 evaluated and monitored at all times by persons who are competent and have the
  101 appropriate and relevant qualification and/ or experience and/ or training.
- 102**1.1.8Principle of Accountability** whereby all stakeholders involved in research, are103accountable for their actions. The research is conducted in a fair, honest, impartial104and transparent manner. The related records, data and notes should be retained for105required period for possible external scrutiny.
- 106
   1.1.9 Principle of the Maximization of Benefit whereby due care is taken that the research
   107 is designed and conducted in such a way so as to maximize the benefits to the
   108 research participants directly or indirectly and/ or to the society.
- 109 1.1.10 Principle of Institutional Arrangements whereby institutions where the research is
   being conducted should have policies for appropriate research governance and take
   the responsibility to facilitate research by providing required infrastructure,
   manpower, funds and training opportunities.
- 1.1.11 Principle of Transparency whereby the research plan and the outcomes emanating
   through such research are brought into the public domain through reports,
   registries, scientific and other publications while safeguarding the right to privacy of
   participants. All stakeholders involved in research should disclose any conflict of
   interest if any, and manage them appropriately.
- 1.1.12 Principle of Totality of Responsibility whereby the professional and moral
   responsibilities complying to ethical guidelines and related regulations is binding on
   all stakeholders directly or indirectly.

123

#### 2. General Ethical Issues

124 2.0 All research involving human participants should be conducted in accordance with the four basic ethical principles as outlined in section 1.0. The researcher and her/ his team are 125 126 responsible for protecting the rights, safety and well-being of the participants enrolled in 127 the study. She/ he should have the appropriate qualifications and competence in 128 biomedical research methodology and should be aware of and comply with the scientific, 129 medical, ethical, legal and social requirements of the research proposal. The ECs have the 130 responsibility to ensure that the research is conducted in accordance with the above 131 mentioned principles.

#### 132 2.1 Informed Consent Process

133 Informed consent protects the individual's autonomy to freely make a choice whether to 134 participate in research or not. The process involves 3 components - providing relevant 135 information, its comprehension and voluntariness.

136 The informed consent document (patient/ participant information sheet and informed consent 137 form) should have the required elements. It should be reviewed and approved by the EC before 138 enrollment of the participants. For all biomedical research involving human participants, it is the primary responsibility of the researcher to obtain the written, informed consent of the 139 140 prospective participant. In the case of an individual who is not capable of giving informed 141 consent, the consent of a legally acceptable/ authorised representative should be obtained. In 142 certain circumstances audio/ audio-visual recording of the informed consent process may be 143 required, e.g., in case of certain regulatory clinical trials.

Oral Consent/ waiver of consent/ reconsent may be obtained under certain conditions after due
 considerations and approval by the EC. Refer to section 4 on Informed Consent process for
 further details.

147 2.2 Payment For Participation

2.2.1 Participants may be reimbursed for expenses incurred in connection with their
participation in research if required, e.g., for travel related expenses. Participants
may also be paid for inconvenience incurred, time spent and other incidental
expenses in either cash or kind or both as deemed necessary, e.g., loss of wages,
food supplies etc.

- 153 2.2.2 The participant should not be made to pay extra for any of the research related 154 activities including investigations, patient work up, any interventions and associated 155 treatment.
- 156 2.2.3 They may also receive additional medical services at no cost.
- 2.2.4 When the LAR (Legally Acceptable Representative) is giving consent on behalf of a
   participant, no payments should be offered that may become an undue inducement
   except a reimbursement of the travel and other incidental expenses incurred for the
   participation in the research.
- 161 2.2.5 ECs must review and approve the payments (in cash or kind or both) and the 162 processes involved, and also determine that this does not amount to 'undue 163 inducement'.
- 164 **2.3 Privacy and Confidentiality**

Privacy is the right of an individual to control or influence what information can be collected and stored and by whom and to whom that information may be disclosed to or shared with. Confidentiality is the obligation of the researcher/ research team/ organisation to the participant to safeguard the entrusted information. It includes obligation to protect information from unauthorised access, use, disclosure, modification, loss or theft.

- 170 2.3.1 The investigator should safeguard the confidentiality of the participant's information171 and related research data.
- 172 2.3.2 The limits of the researchers' ability to ensure strict confidentiality must be explained
  173 to the participant.
- Any publication arising out of research should consider upholding the privacy of the
  individuals by not publishing any photographs or revealing the individual's identity. If
  this is required for scientific reasons a specific re-consent would be required.
- 177 2.3.4 Some information may be sensitive and should be protected to avoid stigmatisation178 and/ or discrimination.
- 2.3.5 While conducting research with stored biological samples or medical records, coding
  or anonymisation of personal information should be done and access should be
  limited.

182 2.3.6 Data of individual participants/ community may be disclosed under the following
 183 circumstances (Table 2.1) –

#### Table 2.1

1. Under the orders of a court of law;
2. Threat to a person's life or community;
3. Public Health risk which would take precedence over personal right to privacy;
4. Serious adverse reactions which are required to be communicated to regulator
authority;
5. Requirements of government agencies or regulatory authorities.

185

184

#### 186 2.4 Benefit-Risk Assessment

187 Benefits refer to any sort of favourable outcome of the research to the individual, community or 188 society which can be direct or indirect and should justify the risks. Risk can be discomfort or harm 189 which could be physical, psychological, social, economical or legal. It is defined as an aggregate of 190 the probability and magnitude of injury or harm or discomfort anticipated in research.

- 1912.4.1All Research has potential benefits and risks, which can be at individual, societal or at192community level. Mechanisms should be in place to maximize benefits and minimize193risks to participants.
- 2.4.2 Researcher should ensure that reasonable benefit-risk ratio should be an integral
   part of the research design and state the plans to minimize the risks and discomforts
   and maximize the benefits, if applicable.
- 197 2.4.3 EC should assess the inherent benefit-risk ratio, plans for minimizing the risk and
  198 discomfort and decide on the merit of the research before approving it.

#### 199 2.5 Compensation for Research Related Harms

Research participants who suffer from direct physical, psychological, social, legal or economic harm as a result of their participation are entitled to financial or other assistance to compensate them equitably for any temporary or permanent impairment or disability such as medical care, referrals, clinical facilities etc. In case of death, their dependents are entitled to financial compensation. The research proposal should have an in-built provision for mitigating research related harms.

206 2.5.1 It is the responsibility of the investigator to report to the EC all serious adverse 207 events (SAE) occurring within a period of 7 days along with a report on relatedness of

- these to the research. In case of any death reporting should be done within 24 hoursof occurrence or information.
- 210 2.5.2 It is the responsibility of the EC to review the relatedness of the SAE to the research
  211 as reported by the investigator and determine the quantum of compensation to be
  212 paid for research related injury or harm.
- 213 2.5.3 All adverse events (AE) should be recorded and reported to the EC according to a 214 pre-planned timetable, depending on the risk level and as recommended by the EC.
- 215 2.5.4 In investigator initiated research and student research or when the research is
  216 funded, by the granting agencies, investigator/ institution where the research is
  217 conducted, becomes its sponsor.
- 2182.5.4.1The institution should have an in-built mechanism to be able to provide for219compensation e.g. through a corpus fund created in the institution.
- 220 2.5.4.2 It is the responsibility of the host institution to provide compensation and/
  221 or insurance for research related injury or harm as decided by the EC. Every
  222 institution should provide/ create funds for such purposes.
- 223 2.5.4.3 In the applications for research grants to funding agencies National or
   224 International, Government/ Non Government agencies the investigator
   225 should keep budgetary provision for insurance cover and/ or
   226 compensation.
- 2272.5.4.4Participants may be offered free medical care of co-morbid conditions228(ancillary care) provided it does not amount to undue inducement.

229 2.5.5 For other sponsored research, it is the responsibility of the sponsor (Pharmaceutical
 230 Company, a Government or a Non Governmental organisation, National or
 231 International/ bilateral/ multilateral donor agencies/ institutions) to include in the
 232 budget to cover for insurance or compensation for research related injury or harm as
 233 decided by the EC.

#### 234 2.6 Conflict of Interest

235 Conflict of Interest (COI) is a set of conditions where professional judgment concerning a primary 236 interest like participants welfare or the validity of research tends to be unduly influenced by a 237 secondary interest, non-financial (personal, academic or political) or financial. COI can be at the level of researchers, EC members, institutions or sponsors. Some or the other COI are always
present in research, however it is important to declare these at the outset and properly manage
them.

- 241 2.6.1 Research institutions must develop and implement policies and procedures to242 identify, mitigate conflicts of interest and educate their staff about such conflicts.
- 243 2.6.2 Researchers must ensure that the materials submitted to EC include a disclosure of244 interests that may affect the research.
- 245 2.6.3 ECs must evaluate each study in light of any disclosed interests and ensure that246 appropriate means of mitigation are taken.
- 247 2.6.4 Conflict of interest within the ECs should be declared and managed in accordance248 with standard operating procedures (SOPs) of that EC.

#### 249 2.7 Distributive Justice

- 250 2.7.1 Efforts must be made to ensure that individuals or communities invited for research
  251 are selected in such a way that the burdens and benefits of research are equitably
  252 distributed.
- 253 2.7.2 Those who are economically or socially disadvantaged or with any disability should
  254 not be used to benefit others who are better off than them.
- 255 2.7.3 Research should not lead to social, racial or ethnic inequalities.
- 256 2.7.4 Plans for benefit sharing with participants, donors of biological materials or data
   257 should be included in the study which has potential for commercialization.
- 258 2.7.5 This should be decided a priori in consultation with the stakeholders before it is259 evaluated by the ECs.

#### 260 **2.8 Selection of Vulnerable and Special Groups as Research Participants**

Vulnerable groups and individuals "may have an increased likelihood of being wronged or of incurring additional harm". In some cases, persons are vulnerable because they are relatively (or absolutely) incapable of protecting their own interests.

264 2.8.1 Characteristics that make individuals vulnerable are: Clinical conditions - Age and
 265 Medical condition or Situational conditions including but not limited to: economically

- disadvantaged, socially disadvantaged individuals e.g. ethnic or religious groups,
   individuals/communities which have hierarchical relationships, institutionalised
   persons, humanitarian emergencies, language barrier and cultural differences.
- 269 2.8.2 In general, these participants should be included in research only when the research
  270 is directly answering the health needs or requirements of the group. However,
  271 vulnerable populations have an equal right to be included in research so that
  272 benefits accruing from the research apply to them too.
- 273 2.8.3 The EC should make a determination on vulnerability and ensure that additional274 safeguards and monitoring mechanisms are in place.
- 275 Refer to section 5 on Vulnerability for further details.

#### 276 2.9 Community Engagement

Community can be defined as a group of people sharing the same geographical location, beliefs
culture, age, gender, profession, lifestyle, or disease etc. Community should be meaningfully
engaged before, during and after the research to mitigate culturally sensitive issues and ensure
more responsiveness to their health needs and requirements.

- 281 2.9.1 Community can be engaged in many ways and can provide valuable opinion
  282 whenever research involves a particular community.
- 283 2.9.2 Community advisory board/ group (CAB/ CAG) can act as an interphase between the
   284 community (from which participants are to be drawn), the researchers and the
   285 concerned EC. Members from the community can also be represented in the EC as a
   286 member/ special invitee.
- 287 2.9.3 Community engagement does not replace individual informed consent. It ensures
   288 that community's health needs and expectations are addressed, informed consent is
   289 appropriate, and access to research benefits is provided through research that is
   290 designed and implemented in the best interests of science and community.
- 291 2.9.4 After the study is completed, the community representative can help in dissemination292 of the results to the entire community.

Refer to section 7 on Epidemiological and Public Health Research and Section 8 on Research inSocial and Behavioural Sciences for further details.

#### 295 2.10 Post Research Access and Benefits Sharing

The benefits accruing from research should be made accessible to individuals, communities and populations whenever feasible. Sometimes more than the benefit to the individual participant, the community may be given benefit in an indirect way through improving their living conditions,

establishing counselling centres, clinics or schools, and giving education on good health practices.

- 2.10.1 Efforts should be made to communicate the research findings of the study back to
   the individuals/ communities where ever feasible.
- 302 2.10.2 The research team should make plans for post research access and sharing of
   303 benefits (academic, intervention) with the participants.
- 2.10.3 Post-research access arrangements or other care must be described in the study
   protocol so that the EC may consider such arrangements during its review.
- 306 2.10.4 EC should consider the need for an *a priori* agreement between the investigators
   307 and sponsors regarding all the points mentioned above (from 2.10.1 to 2.10.3).
- 3082.10.5 The studies with restricted scope e.g. student projects, post study benefit to the309participants may not be feasible but conscious efforts should be made by the310institution to take steps to continue to support and give better care to the311participants
- 312

#### **3. Ethical Review Procedures**

314 3.0 It is necessary that all proposals on health, biomedical and behavioral research should be 315 reviewed and approved by an appropriately constituted EC to safeguard the rights, safety 316 and well-being of all research participants. ECs are entrusted not only with the initial 317 review of research proposals prior to their initiation, but also have a continuing 318 responsibility of regular monitoring of the approved research to ensure ethical compliance 319 during the conduct of research. The EC should be competent and independent in its 320 functioning.

- 321 3.0.1 The EC is responsible for scientific and ethical review of research proposals.
- 322 3.0.2 The Institution is responsible for establishing an EC to ensure an appropriate and
   323 sustainable system for quality ethical review and monitoring.
- 324 3.0.3 The Institution is responsible to make available required logistical support e.g. 325 infrastructure, staff, space, funds and protected time for the Member Secretary.
- 326
- 327 **3.1** Terms of Reference for Ethics Committees
- 3283.1.1The Terms of Reference for the EC and members should be clearly specified by the329Institution in the EC Standard Operating Procedures (List of SOPs: given in Annexure 1).
- 330 3.1.2 Every EC should have written SOPs according to which the Committee should function. 331 EC can refer to ICMR guidelines in preparing the SOP for all biomedical research and 332 for industry sponsored drug and devise trials they can refer to CDCSO guidelines for 333 relevant areas. The SOPs should be updated periodically based on the changing 334 requirements. A copy of the latest version of SOPs should be made available to each 335 member and they should be trained on the SOPs. The SOPs must be available in the 336 Secretariat of the EC as hard and soft copies.
- 337 3.1.3 The scope of EC should be stated.
- 338 3.1.4 The tenure and renewal policy of the EC should be predefined.
- 339 3.1.5 The EC members should not have any known record of misconduct.
- 340 3.1.6 The EC should be registered with the relevant regulatory authorities as per updated
  341 requirements, e.g., ECs approving regulatory clinical trials should be registered with
  342 CDSCO.

#### 343 3.2 Special Situations

- 3.2.1 Institutions can have multiple EC to review large number of research proposals/
  different kinds of research. Each EC should function as a stand-alone committee which
  should follow all the SOPs and TORs of that institution.
- 347 3.2.2 Institutions could have subcommittees e.g., SAE subcommittee, Data Safety Monitoring
   348 Committee or expedited review committee. These should be part of the main
   349 committee and comprise chairperson/ member secretary and appropriate designated 1 2 members of the main EC. These subcommittees should report to the concerned main
   351 EC.
- 352 3.2.3 If an Institution wishes to utilize the services of the EC of another Institution relevant
   353 requirements must be fulfilled before they do so (Table 3.1) -
- 354

# The institution should provide a "No Objection Certificate" and agree to be overseen by the other EC. Enter into an MoU with that institute. EC of the other institute should have access to all research records including the source documents, research participants and be able to monitor the

Table 3.1

355

- 3563.2.4Stem cell proposals should be first reviewed and approved by Institutional Committee357for Stem Cell Research (ICSCR) before they are submitted to the EC for consideration.
- 358 3.2.5 There are also independent ethics committees (Ind EC) functioning outside 359 institutions for researchers who have no institutional attachments.
- 3603.2.5.1 A registered legal entity must be first established, governed by individuals who361will oversee and monitor the functioning of the Ind EC.
- 362 3.2.5.2 The Ind EC should function according to SOPs that follow national guidelines363 for functioning of ECs.
- 3643.2.5.3 The Ind EC should not oversee proposals from investigators of/ affiliated to365institutions, which have own ECs.
- 366 3.3 Composition of EC
- 367 3.3.1 The ECs should be multi-disciplinary and multi-sectoral.

research.

- 368 3.3.2 There should be adequate representation of age and gender.
- 369 3.3.3 Preferably 50% of the members should be non-affiliated or from outside the Institution.
- 370 3.3.4 The number of members in an EC should preferably be between 7 and 15.
- 371 3.3.5 The EC should have a mix of medical and non-medical members.
- 372 The composition, affiliations, qualifications, roles and responsibilities may be as follows (given

373 in Table 3.2)

- 374
- 375

#### Table 3.2

S.	Members of	Affiliation	Qualifications	Roles & Responsibilities of EC
No.	EC			Members
1.	Chairperson/ Vice Chairperson (optional)	Non- institutional (Should not be currently affiliated to the Institution)	<ul> <li>An eminent person from any background</li> <li>Preferably having experience of serving on an ethics committee</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Conduct EC meetings and accountable for functioning of the committee</li> <li>Ensure active participation of all members (particularly non-affiliated, non-medical) in all discussions and deliberations.</li> <li>Handling of complaints against Investigators, EC members, conflict of interest issues and requests for use of EC data etc.</li> <li>Ratify minutes of the previous meetings.</li> <li>Review SAE reports with causality assessment.</li> <li>In case of anticipated absence of both Chairperson and Vice Chairperson at a planned meeting, the Chairperson should nominate a committee member as Acting Chairperson or the members present may elect an Acting Chairperson on the day of the meeting. The Acting Chairperson should be a non-affiliated person and will have all the powers of the Chairperson for that meeting.</li> </ul>
2.	Member Secretary/	Institutional	• Should be a staff member of the	• Organize an effective and efficient procedure for receiving, preparing,

	Alternate	institution.	circulating and maintaining each
	member	• Should have	proposal for review.
	Secretary	knowledge and	• Schedule EC meetings, prepare the
	(optional)	experience in clinical	agenda and minutes.
		research and ethics,	• Organise EC documentation,
		have personal	communication and archival.
		interest and good	• Arrange for training of EC secretariat
		communication skills.	and EC members.
		<ul> <li>Should be able to</li> </ul>	• Ensure SOPs are updated as and
		devote adequate	when required.
		time to this activity	• Ensure adherence of EC functioning
		which should be	as per SOPs.
		protected by the	• Prepare for and respond to audits
		institution.	and inspections.
3.	One - two	<ul> <li>should be individuals</li> </ul>	Declare any conflict of interest to
	persons from	with scientific	the Chairperson, if any, at each
	Basic Medical	qualification and	meeting which should be recorded
	Science areas	expertise.	in the minutes.
	(for drug trials		Review and attend EC Meetings
	preferably		and participate in discussions and
	Pharmacologist		deliberations.
	– Medical/		• Review the progress reports and
	Non-medical)		final reports.
4.	One - two	• should be individuals	Review Serious Adverse Event
	Clinicians	with qualification and	reports and recommend
		expertise.	appropriate action(s).
5.	One Legal	<ul> <li>should have a basic</li> </ul>	• Carry out monitoring visits at study
	Expert	degree in law	sites as and when needed.
6.	One Social	• should be individuals	Maintain confidentiality of the
	Scientist	with social/ behavioral	documents and deliberations of EC
		science qualification	meetings.
		and expertise	• Participate in continuing education
7.	One	<ul> <li>should be individuals</li> </ul>	activities in research ethics and get
	Philosopher/	with qualification,	updated on relevant guidelines
	Ethicist/	training and/ or	and regulations.
	Theologian	expertise and be	
		sensitive to the local	
		cultural and moral	
		values.	
8.	One Lay	A literate person from	
	Person from	the public or	
	the community	community who is	
		<ul> <li>Not qualified in</li> </ul>	
		medical/ health	

sciences	
<ul> <li>not pursued a</li> </ul>	
medical	
science/health	
related career in the	
last 5 years	
• is aware of the local	
language, cultural and	
moral values of the	
community.	
• Indulges in social and	
community activities	
• is willing to read and	
review the proposals	
specifically the	
informed consent	
document,	

377

3.3.6 The Quorum should be as specified in the Table 3.3.

378

S. No.	Quorum Requirements
1.	The quorum of the EC should be a minimum of five or 50% percent of the members plus one whichever is more.
2.	No decision is valid without fulfilment of the quorum.
3.	The quorum should comprise of both medical and non-medical members.
4.	Minimum one non-affiliated member should be part of quorum.
5.	Quorum for regulatory clinical trials should be as per CDSCO requirements.

Table 3.3

379

380 3.3.7 The Head of the Institution should not be part of the EC to maintain the independence381 and should act as an appellate authority in case of disputes.

3.3.8 The EC can also have a set of alternate members who can be invited as members with
decision-making powers to meet the quorum requirements. These members have the
same terms of reference and attend the meeting in absence of regular members.

# 3853.3.9The EC can maintain a panel of Subject Experts who are consulted for their subject386expertise, for instance, a pediatrician for pediatric research, a cardiologist for research

387			on card	iac disorders etc. They may be invited to attend the meeting for opinion on
388			specific	proposal but will not have voting rights.
389		3.3.10	D EC may	v include a representative from specific patient groups in the Committee as a
390			membe	r of EC/ special invitee, for opinion on specific proposal, for example HIV, genetic
391			disorde	rs, cancer etc but will not have voting rights.
392	3.4	Term	s of Refe	rence for EC members
393		3.4.1	The Hea	d of the Institution should appoint all EC members, including the Chairperson.
394		3.4.2	The app	pointment letter issued to all members should specify the terms of references.
395			The lett	er head issued by the Head of the Institution should include at the minimum, the
396			followin	g -
397 398 399			•	Role and responsibilities of the member in the Committee Duration of appointment Conditions of appointment
400		3.4.3	General	ly the term of membership may be for 2-3 years. The duration could be
401			extende	d for further terms as specified in SOPs and a defined percentage of members
402			could be	e changed on regular basis.
403		3.4.4	Membe	rs to be appointed on the EC should be willing to fulfil the EC requirements
404			(given ir	table 3.4)
105			Biveni	
405				Table 2.4 Systember of 50 years increases
406				Table 3.4 Examples of EC requirements
407			S. No.	EC Requirements
408		-	1.	Submit a recent signed CV, training certificates on research ethics courses and GCP guidelines as required.
409			2.	If members are not trained in research ethics or GCP at the time of
410				induction as member in the EC, the member must undergo training and submit training certificates within 6 months (or as per institutional policy) of
		-		appointment
411			3.	Be willing to place her/ his full name, profession and affiliation to the EC in the public domain
412		-	4.	Sign a Confidentiality Agreement
		-	5.	Read, understand, accept and follow the Conflict of Interest policy of EC
413				and declare the Conflict of Interest if any at appropriate time.
		ľ	6.	Willing to undergo training or update programmes during the tenure as EC
414				member.
			7	FC members should be aware of relevant Guidelines and Regulations.

415	3.5	Criteria f	for selection of members of EC should be specified in SOPs
416		3.5.1	Members should be selected in their personal capacities based on their qualifications,
417		(	experience, interest, commitment and willingness to volunteer the necessary time and
418		(	effort for the EC. (Refer Table 3.2 for qualifications and roles and responsibilities of EC
419		I	members).
420		3.5.2	Members are appointed in the EC for a particular role. They cannot substitute for any
421		(	other absent member's role for a meeting.
422	3.6	Training	
423		3.6.1 M	lembers should be trained in research ethics, EC functions, SOPs and should be
424		СС	onversant with ethical guidelines and relevant regulations of the country.
425		3.6.2 EC	C members should undergo initial and continuing training in research ethics, regulatory
426		re	equirements if any and applicable EC SOPs.
427		3.6.3 Ar	ny change in the relevant guidelines or regulatory requirements should be brought to
428		th	ne attention of all EC members.
429		3.6.4 EC	C members should be aware of local, social and cultural norms and emerging ethical
430		iss	sues.
431	3.7	Roles an	nd Responsibilities of Ethics Committee
432 433		3.7.1 Tł w	he basic responsibility of an EC is to ensure protection of the rights, safety and vell being of the research participants.
434		3.7.2 Tł	he EC will perform this function through competent initial and continuing review
435 436		of it	f all scientific, ethical, medical and social aspects of project proposals received by in an objective, timely and independent manner.
437		3.7.3 EC	Cs should ensure the scientific soundness of the proposed research even if a
430		50	clentine review committee has previously ratified it.
439 440		3.7.4 Th m	he AE/ SAE should be reviewed by EC and needful suggestions should be made to PI. EC hay suggest appropriate compensation, wherever required.
441 442		3.7.5 Er fo	nsure that universal ethical values and international scientific standards are ollowed in terms of local community values and customs.
443 444		3.7.6 As to	ssist in the development and education of the research community responsive local health care requirements.
445 446		3.7.7 Re sh	esponsibilities of Members should be clearly defined (details in Table 3). The SOP's nould be given to the members at the time of their appointment.

3.7.8 Secretariat should support the Member Secretary and Alternate Member Secretary (if
applicable) in all their functions and should be trained in documentation and filing
procedures.

#### 450 **3.8 Submission and Review Procedures**

- 451 3.8.1 Investigators should submit proposals to the Secretariat for review as per EC
- 452 SOPs and timelines in the prescribed format along with required
- 453 documentation. EC should prepare a checklist for the same (given in Table 3.5).
- 454

#### Table 3.5 Documents required for proposal submission

S. No.	Required Documents& Checklist
1.	Covering letter to the Member Secretary
2.	Project submission application form for initial review
3.	The correct version of the research proposal (see item 29)
4.	The correct version of the Informed consent Document (ICD) in English and local language(s)
5.	Brief Curriculum Vitae of all the study investigators (as specified in the SO
6.	Details of Funding agency/ Sponsor and fund allocation (if applicable)
7.	Amendments to the study (if any)
8.	Translation and Back translation certificates (if applicable)
9.	Amendments to the ICD (if any)
10.	Case Record Form/questionnaire
11.	Recruitment procedures: advertisement, notices, letters to docto applicable)
12.	Patient instruction card, identity card, diary etc. (if applicable)
13.	Investigator Brochure (if applicable)
14.	Regulatory permissions (as applicable)
15.	Regulatory Documents as needed (e.g. Investigator's Undertaking to DCGI)
16.	Relevant Administrative approvals (as applicable),
17.	Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) in case of studies involving collaboration with other institutions (if applicable)
18.	GCP training certificate (preferably within 5 years) of Principal Investigator and study team (recommended for clinical trials)
19.	A statement on conflict of interest (COI), if any
20.	Any other research ethics / other training evidence as required as per EC
21.	List of ongoing research studies undertaken by Principal Investigat applicable)
22.	Investigator's Brochure (as applicable for Drug/ Biologicals / Device trials)
23.	Clinical Trial Agreement between the sponsors, investigator and the Head of the Institution(s) (if applicable)

24. 25.	Insurance policy (it is preferable to have the policy and not only the insurance certificate)for study participants indicating conditions of coverage, date of commencement and date of expiry of coverage of risk (if applicable) Indemnity policy clearly indicating the conditions of coverage, date of commencement and date of expiry of coverage of risk (if applicable)
26.	Institutional Committee for Stem Cell Research approval (if applicable)
27.	Documentation of clinical trial registration (preferable)
28.	Any additional document (s), as required by EC
29.	<ul> <li>Protocol should include the following - <ul> <li>a) The face page with title of project with signatures of Principal Investigator (PI) and</li> <li>b) Sponsor (if applicable)</li> <li>c) Background with rationale of why a human study is needed to answer the research question</li> <li>d) Clear research objectives and end points (if applicable)</li> <li>e) Participant recruitment procedures</li> <li>f) Eligibility criteria</li> <li>g) Detailed description of methodology of the proposed research, including sample size (with justification), type of study design (observational, experimental, pilot, randomized, blinded etc.), types of data collection, intended intervention, dosages of drugs, route of administration, duration of treatment and details of invasive procedures if any.</li> <li>h) Justification for placebo, benefit-risk assessment, plans to withdraw. If standard therapies are to be withheld, justification for the same</li> <li>i) Procedure for seeking and obtaining informed consent with sample of patient/participant information sheet and informed consent forms in English and local languages. AV recording if applicable</li> <li>j) Plan for statistical analysis of the study.</li> <li>k) The privacy and confidentiality of the study participants.</li> <li>l) For research involving more than minimal risk, an account of management of such risk or injury.</li> <li>m) Proposed compensation and reimbursement of incidental expenses and management of research related injury/ illness during and after research period.</li> <li>n) Provision of Ancillary care for unrelated illness during the duration of research.</li> <li>o) An account of storage and maintenance of all data collected during the trial.</li> <li>p) Plans for publication of results - positive or negative - while maintaining confidentiality of personal information/identity.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>

456 3.8.2 The EC Member Secretary/ secretariat shall screen the proposals for their 457 completeness and depending on the risk involved categorise them into three types,

(given in Table 3.6).

### Table 3.6 Types of review

namely, exemption from review, expedited review and full committee review

5.	Types of Review		
No.			
1.	Exemption from review	<ul> <li>Proposals that can be exempt from review include those with less than minimal risk where there are no linked identifiers, e.g.</li> <li>Research conducted on data that is in the public domain for systematic reviews or meta-analyses.</li> <li>Observation of public behaviour when information is recorded without linked identifiers and disclosure would not harm the interests of the observed person.</li> <li>Quality control and quality assurance audits in the institution.</li> <li>Comparison among instructional techniques, curricula, or classroom management methods.</li> <li>Consumer acceptance studies related to taste and food</li> </ul>	
2.	Expedited review	<ul> <li>Proposals that pose no more than minimal risk may undergo expedited review, e.g.,</li> <li>Research involving non-identifiable specimen and human tissue from sources like blood banks, tissue banks, left over clinical samples.</li> <li>Research involving clinical documentation materials which are non identifiable (data, documents, records)</li> <li>Modifications or amendment to approved protocol including administrative changes or correction of typographical errors and change in investigator(s).</li> <li>Revised proposal previously approved through expedited review, full review or continuing review of approved proposals.</li> <li>Minor deviations from originally approved research causing no risk or minimal risk.</li> <li>Progress /Annual reports where there is no additional risk e.g. activity limited to data analysis.</li> <li>Expedited Review will be conducted by Chairperson, Member Secretary and 1- 2 designated members.</li> <li>Expedited review of SAEs/ unexpected AEs will be conducted by SAE subcommittee.</li> <li>The approval granted through expedited review and the decisions of the SAE subcommittee must be ratified at the</li> </ul>	

3.	Full	All research proposals presenting more than minimal risk
	Committee	that are not covered under exempt or expedited review
	Review	should be subjected to full committee review, e.g.,
		<ul> <li>Studies involving vulnerable population even if the risk is minimal.</li> </ul>
		• Studies involving intentional deception of participants.
		<ul> <li>Research proposals that have received exemption from review, or have undergone expedited review/ undergone subcommittee review should be ratified by the full committee. Full committee has a right to reverse/ or modify any decision taken by the subcommittee or expedited committee.</li> </ul>
		• Amendments of proposals/related documents
		(including but not limited to informed consent
		documents, Investigators Brochure, advertisements,
		recruitment methods etc.) involving an increase in risk.
		Major Deviations and violations
		• Any new information that has emerged during the
		course of the research must also be reviewed and
		decisions taken if necessary to terminate the study or
		not in view of altered benefit- risk assessment
		<ul> <li>Research during emergencies and disasters through unscheduled meetings.</li> </ul>

464 3.8.3 An investigator cannot decide that her/ his proposal falls in the exempted or 465 expedited category without approval from the EC and may request the EC for 466 consideration. Final decision on the type of review rests with the EC and should be on 467 case to case basis.

## 468 3.8.4 All EC members should review all proposals. EC may adopt different procedures for 469 review of proposals as detailed in their SOPs.

3.8.5 The EC may adopt a system for pre-meeting peer review by subject experts and
obtain clarifications from the researchers before the meeting in order to save
time and make the review more efficient during the full committee meeting,
especially in institutions where there are no separate scientific review
committees.

- 3.8.6 The EC may have a system of appointing primary and secondary reviewers.
  Member Secretary in consultation with chairperson should identify the primary
  and secondary reviewers for reviewing the scientific content and the informed
  consent document.
- 3.8.7 Subject experts may be identified and requested to review the proposal. These
  experts may be invited to the EC meeting but will not participate in the final
  decision.

3.8.8 The designated primary reviewers and the subject experts should conduct theInitial review as per the pre-defined study assessment form.

484 Review of study protocol and study related documents should be done for Social 3.8.9 485 value, Scientific design and conduct of the study, Benefit-risk assessment, 486 Selection of study population and recruitment of research participants, Payment 487 for participation, Protection of research participants' privacy and confidentiality, Community considerations, Qualifications of Investigators and assess adequacy of 488 489 study sites, Disclosure or declaration of potential conflicts of interest, Plans for 490 Medical management of and compensation for study related injury, Review of the 491 Informed Consent Procedure, etc. (given in Table 3.7).

492

493

Table 3.7

1.	Social Values	• The basic requirement for health research to be ethically permissible is that it must have anticipated social value. The outcome of the research should be relevant to the health problems of the society. All stakeholders, including sponsors, researchers, and ECs must ensure that the planned research has social value.
2.	Scientific design and conduct of the study	<ul> <li>Valid scientific methods are essential to make the research ethically viable as poor science can expose research participants or communities to risks without any possibility of benefit.</li> <li>Although ECs may obtain documentation from a prior scientific review, they should also determine that the research methods are scientifically sound, and should examine the ethical implications of the chosen research design or strategy.</li> </ul>
3.	Benefit-risk assessment	<ul> <li>The benefits accruing from the planned research either to the participant or to the community or society in general must justify the risks inherent in the research.</li> <li>Risks may be physical, psychological, economic, or social and harm may occur either at an individual level or at the family, community or population level. It is necessary to look first at the intervention under investigation and assess its potential harms and then consider the aggregate of harms and benefits of the study as a whole</li> <li>EC should review plans of risks management, including withdrawal criteria with rescue medication or procedures.</li> </ul>

		•	EC should give advice regarding minimisation of risk/
			discomfort wherever applicable.
		•	The adequacy of provisions made for monitoring and
			auditing the conduct of the research, including the
			constitution of a data safety monitoring board (DSMB)
			if applicable (e.g. in clinical trials)
4.	Selection of	•	Recruitment should be Voluntary and non-coercive.
	study		There should be fair selection of participants as per
	population and		inclusion exclusion criteria. However, selection of
	recruitment of		participants should be distributive and such that not a
	research		particular population or tribe or economic group is
	participants		coerced to participate or benefit.
		•	Participant should be given option to opt out without
			the routine care being affected.
		•	No individuals or group of persons must bear the
			burdens of participation in research without any
			benefits except in studies where healthy volunteers
			are involved.
		•	Vulnerable group will not be recruited unless proper
			justification is provided.
5.	Payment for	•	EC should review plans for payment for participation,
	participation		reimbursement of incurred cost (e.g. travel or lost
			wages) and inconvenience.
		•	ECs should determine that payments are not so large
			so as to make prospective participants take part in the
			research without due consideration of the risks,
			against their better judgement (no undue
			inducement).
6.	Protection of	•	ECs should examine the processes that are put in place
	research		to safeguard participants' privacy and confidentiality.
	participants		
	privacy and		
-	confidentiality		
7.	Community	•	The EC should consider that due respect is given to the
	considerations		community and their interests are protected and the
			research addresses its needs.
		•	EC SHOULD SEE THAT HO STIGMA OF DISCRIMINATION ENSUES
			rom the proposed research and harm II any should be
		-	EC should review plane for communication of results
			back to the community at the and of the study
		_	back to the community at the end of the study.
		•	EC may examine now the benefits of the research
			will be disseminated to the community.

494		8.	Qualifications	•	The EC should look at the suitablility of qualifications
495			of investigators		and experience of the PI to conduct the proposed
			adequacy of		participants
496			study sites.		
407		9.	Disclosure or	•	The EC should review the declaration of COI by
497			declaration of		investigator if any and suggest ways to manage them
498			conflicts of		
			interest.		
499		10.	Plans for	•	The EC should look at the proposed plan for tackling
500			Medical		any medical injuries or emergencies
500			management of		
501			compensation		
502			for study		
503			related injury.		
504		11.	Review of the	•	The process for obtaining informed consent, including
505			Informed		the identification of those responsible for obtaining
506			Consent		consent and the procedures adopted for vulnerable
507			Process		The adequacy completeness and understandability of
508					the information to be given to the research participants,
509					representative(s)(LARs)
510				0	Contents of the patient/ participation information
511					sheet including the local language translations (Details
512					in section 4 on Informed Consent process).
513				0	Back translations of the informed consent document in English wherever required.
514				0	Provision for audiovisual recording of consent process
515					if applicable as per relevant regulations.
516				0	If consent waiver or verbal consent request has been asked for this should be reviewed by assessing whether
517					the protocol meets the criteria (see section of guidelines
518					on Informed Consent)
519	3.9 Deci	sion I	Making Process		
520	3.9.1	All	proposals that are	e de	etermined to undergo full committee review must be
521		deli	berated and the	dec	cision about the proposal taken at a full committee
522		mee	eting.		
523	3.9.2	EC	members should l	be g	given enough time to review the documents sent. The
524		peri	od may vary betw	een	1-2 weeks except for emergency research.

525 3.9.3 ECs should conduct regular full board meetings to deliberate proposals at pre-526 decided schedule, as described in the SOPs.

#### 527 **3.10 Full Committee Meeting**

- 3.10.1 A meeting will be considered valid only if the quorum is fulfilled, which should bemaintained throughout the meeting.
- 3.10.2 The chairperson welcomes the members. The member secretary introduces theagenda.
- 5323.10.3If a member has declared a conflict of interest (COI) for a proposal then this533should be submitted in writing to the Chairperson before the meeting. This should be534recorded in the minutes.
- 535 3.10.4 List of absentee members should be informed.
- 536 3.10.5 Proposals should be taken up as per agenda items.
- 537 3.10.6 Ratification of the minutes of the previous meeting, exempt review, expedited 538 review.
- 5393.10.7 The investigator may be called in to present a proposal or provide clarifications540on the study protocol that has been submitted for review.
- 541 3.10.8 The primary reviewers should brief the members about the study proposal.
- 3.10.9 The comments of an independent consultant (if applicable) could be presented by
  the Member Secretary or Subject experts may be invited to offer their views, but
  should not take part in the decision making process. However, her/ his opinion must
  be recorded.
- 3.10.10 Representative(s) of the study group population can be invited during deliberations
  to offer their viewpoint but should not take part in the decision making process.
- 3.10.11 The member who has declared COI should withdraw from the EC meeting, while
  the research proposal is being discussed and should be minuted.
- 3.10.12 The decision must be taken either by a broad consensus or majority vote (as
   per SOP) and should be recorded. Any negative opinion should be recorded with
   reasons.
- 553 3.10.13The decisions may be as given in Table 3.8
- 554

#### Table 3.8

1.	Approval – With or without suggestions or comments.
2.	Minor modifications- Approval is given after examination by the member
	secretary or expedited review as the case may be.
3.	Resubmission – Where major modifications are suggested which will be

555		placed before the full committee for reconsideration.
556		4. Not approved (or termination/ revoking of permission if applicable). Clearly
557		defined reasons must be given for not approved/ termination/ revoking
558		permission.
559		
560	3,10,14	Approval may be granted for the whole duration of the proposed research.
561	0.2012.1	However, the validity of the approval letter is only up to one year. Depending on
562		the risk involved the progress of the project may be monitored annually or at
563		shorter period (quarterly half yearly) as per EC SOP. The approval may be
564		continued if progress is satisfactory
504	2 10 15	An EC may deside to reverse its peritive desision on a study if it receives
202	5.10.15	information that may advariable offect the henefit ( rick association of a study in it receives
500	2 4 0 4 6	The Member Constant (assisted by the Constant) staff) should record the
567	3.10.16	The Member Secretary (assisted by the Secretarial starr) should record the
568		discussions and make the minutes which should be circulated to all the members
569		for comments before final approval by the Chairperson/ Co- Chairperson/
570		Alternate Chair/ designated member of the committee.
571	3.10.17	It is good practice to get the minutes prepared and finalized at the end of the
572		meeting and gets everyone's approval signed and dated on the spot.
573	3.10.18	The decision of the EC should be communicated to the researcher along with
574		suggestions if any.
575		
576	3.11 Conti	nuing Review
577	3.11.1	The ongoing research should be reviewed at regular intervals of at least once a year
578		(or more if deemed necessary depending on the level of risk) as may be specified
579		in the SOP of the EC and at the time of according approval and indicated in the
580		communication letter.
581	3.11.2	EC should evaluate annual progress of ongoing projects, review serious adverse
582		event (SAE) reports at site and other sites, protocol deviations/ violations, any
583		new information pertaining to the research and assess final reports of all research
584		activities.
585	3.11.3	In the case of SAEs, for regulatory trials applicable regulations must be complied
586		with. The EC should also ensure compliance by the Investigator. For non
587		regulatory trials an institutional policy should be in place.

- 5883.11.4 EC should examine the measures taken for the medical management of SAEs.589Participants should not have to bear costs for the management of study related590injury whether they are in the intervention arm or not. Compensation must be591given for research related injuries if applicable, as determined by the EC and592regulatory requirement where applicable.
- 3.11.5 For protocol deviations/ violations the EC should examine the corrective actions.
  If the violations are serious the EC may halt the continuation of the study. The EC
  may report to the Institutional Head/ Government authorities where there is
  continuing non-compliance to ethical standards.
- 3.11.6 Reports of monitoring done by the sponsor and DSMB reports may also besought.

#### 599 3.12 Site Monitoring

- 6003.12.1 It is recommended that ECs should have mechanisms to monitor the approved601study site, till completion of research to check for compliance or improve the602function.
- 6033.12.2 Monitoring can be 'not for cause' or 'for cause' and must be decided at a full604committee meeting
- Routine monitoring: for example (not restricted to), for proposals that have a high
   risk, vulnerable participants. This can be decided at the initial review or continuing
   review.
- 608

#### Table 3.9 Examples of 'For cause' monitoring (not restricted to)

S. No.	Examples of For cause monitoring
1.	High number of protocol violations/deviations
2.	Large number of proposals carried out at the study site or by the same
	investigator
3.	Large number of Serious Adverse Events (SAE) reports
4.	High recruitment rate
5.	Complaints received from participants
6.	Any media report
7.	Adverse Information received from any other source
8.	Non compliance to EC directions
9.	Misconduct by the investigator
10.	Any other cause as decided by EC

609

#### 610 **3.13 Record Keeping and Archiving**

- 611 3.13.1 Record Keeping
- 612 3.13.1.1 All documentation and communication of an EC should be dated, filed and
- 613 preserved according to written procedures.

614	3.13.1.2 Str	ict confidentiality should be maintained during access and retrieval			
615	procedures.				
616	3.13.1.3 All active and inactive (closed) files should be appropriately labelled and				
617	archived separately in designated areas.				
618	The following records should be maintained (Table 3.10).				
619		Table 3.10			
620					
621	Administrative Documents	<ul> <li>The constitution and composition of the EC</li> <li>Signed and dated copies of the most recent Curriculum vitae of all EC members</li> </ul>			
622		Confidentiality agreement			
623		COI declaration			
624		<ul> <li>Financial records</li> </ul>			
625		Registration/ accreditation documents as required			
626		<ul> <li>A copy of national and international guidelines and applicable regulations</li> </ul>			
627		Regulatory Notifications			
628		<ul> <li>Meeting related documents</li> <li>Agenda minutes all communications</li> </ul>			
629		• SOPs			
630	Proiect	One hard copy and a soft copy of initial research proposal and			
631	Related	related documents			
632	Documents	Decision letters     Any amondments submitted for review and approval			
633		<ul> <li>Any amendments submitted for review and approval</li> <li>Regulatory approvals</li> </ul>			
634		• SAE, AE reports			
635		Protocol Deviations/ violation			
636		<ul> <li>All correspondence between the EC and investigators.</li> </ul>			
637		Record of notification issued for premature termination of a study			
638		<ul> <li>Final report of the study</li> </ul>			
639		Publications, if any.			
640	3.13.2 <b>Archiv</b> i	ing			
641	3.13.1	All records must be archived for a period of at least 3 years after the			
642	_ · -	completion/ termination of the study.			
643	3.13.2	Documents related to regulatory clinical trials must be archived for 5			
644		vears as per CDSCO regulation after the completion/ termination of the			
645		study.			
J .J					

- 6463.13.3 Records may be archived for a longer period, if required by the sponsors/647regulatory bodies.
- 648 3.13.4 EC should have archival and retrieval mechanism described in SOPs.
- 6493.13.5Strict confidentiality should be maintained during access and retrieval650procedures.
- 6513.13.6 EC records should be accessible for inspection by authorized652representatives of regulatory agencies
- 653
- 654

655			4. Informed Consent Process		
656	4.0	For I	biomedical and health research involving human participants, the investigator must		
657		obta	in written informed consent of the prospective participant. It is based on the principle		
658		that	competent individuals are entitled to choose freely whether to participate in research		
659		or not. Informed consent is a process that culminates with the individual accepting or			
660		refus	sing to participate in the study. It protects the individual's freedom of choice and		
661		respe	ects the individual's autonomy.		
662	4.1	Requ	iisites		
663		4.1.1	To consent, the participant must have the capacity to understand the proposed		
664			research, be able to make a decision whether or not to be enrolled and convey it to		
665			the researcher.		
666		4.1.2	The consent should be given voluntarily and not be obtained under duress or		
667			coercion of any sort, or by offering any undue inducements.		
668		4.1.3	In the case of an individual who is not capable of giving voluntary informed consent,		
669			the consent of a legally authorised/ acceptable representative (LAR) must be		
670			obtained (Refer to section 5 on vulnerability for further details).		
671		4.1.4	It is mandatory for a researcher to administer consent before initiating any study		
672			related procedures involving the participant.		
673		4.1.5	It is necessary to maintain privacy and confidentiality at all stages.		
674					
675	4.2	Esse	ntial information for prospective research participants		
676		4.2.1	Before requesting an individual's consent to participate in research, the investigator		
677			must provide the individual with detailed information about the research in the		
678			language she/ he is able to understand which should not only be scientifically		
679			accurate but should also be sensitive to social and cultural context of the participant.		
680		4.2.2	The informed consent document (ICD) has two parts- Participant Information Sheet		
681			(PIS) and the informed consent form (ICF). Information on known facts about the		
682			research, which has relevance to participation is included in PIS followed by ICF in		
683			which the participant acknowledges that she/ he has understood the information		
684			given in PIS and is now volunteering to be included in that research.		
685		4.2.3	Adequate time should be given to the participant to read and understand before		
686			deciding to enroll in the research.		

- 4.2.4 Wherever needed/ suggested by EC, a test of understanding can also be administered
  to ensure that the participant has really understood the procedures and extent of
  their involvement in the study.
- 690 4.2.5 Essential elements of an informed consent document (Table 4.1)
- 691

#### Table 4.1 Essential elements of an informed consent document

1.	Statement mentioning that it is research
2.	Purpose and methods of the research in simple language
3.	Expected duration of the participation and frequency of contact with estimated number of participants to be enrolled, types of data collection and methods
4.	Benefits that might reasonably be expected as an outcome of research to the participant or community or to others
5.	Any foreseeable risk, discomfort or inconvenience to the participant resulting from participation in the study
6.	Extent to which confidentiality of records could be maintained i.e., the limits to which the investigator would be able to safeguard confidentiality and the anticipated consequences of breach of confidentiality
7.	Freedom of individual to participate and to withdraw from research any time without penalty or loss of benefits which the participant would otherwise be entitled to
8.	Free treatment and/ or compensation of participants for research related injury
9.	The identity of the research teams and contact persons with address and phone numbers (PI/ Co-PI for queries related to the research and Chairperson/member secretary or helpline for appeal against violations of ethical principles and human rights
In add	dition, the following elements may also be required depending on the type of
study	
1.	Any alternative procedures or courses of treatment that might be as
	advantageous to the participant as the ones to which she/he is going to be subjected to.
2.	If the research could lead to any stigma, e.g. HIV and genetic disorders etc., there will be provision for pre test and post test counselling.
3.	Insurance coverage if any, for research related or other adverse events.

	4.	Foreseeable extent of information on possible current and future uses of the biological material and of the data to be generated from the research. Details in
		section 10 on Biological materials, Biobanking and Datasets . Other specifics are
		as follows -
		<ul> <li>Period of storage of the sample/data;</li> <li>If the material is likely to be used for secondary purposes or would be:</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>If material is to be shared with others, this should be clearly mentioned;</li> </ul>
		$\circ$ Risk of discovery of biologically sensitive information and provision to
		safeguard confidentiality;
		<ul> <li>Right to prevent use of her/ his biological sample (DNA, cell-line, etc.) and related data at any time during or after the conduct of the research; and</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Benefit sharing, if research on biological material and/ or data may lead</li> </ul>
		to commercialization.
	5.	Publication plan, if any, including photographs and pedigree charts.
692		
693	4.3 Res	ponsibility of investigators
694	4.3.1	Communicate to prospective participants all the information necessary for informed
695		consent in a language and manner easily understood by the prospective participants.
696	4.3.2	There should be no restriction on the participant's right to ask any questions related
697		to the study.
698	4.3.3	The possibility of unjustified deception, undue influence and intimidation should be
699		avoided at all costs. Although deception is not permissible, sometimes withholding
700		some information till the completion of the research would be required to validate
701		that research. However such research should be approved by the EC. For instance,
702		study on abortion practices, certain observational studies etc.; attempt should be
703		made to debrief the participants/ communities after completion of the research. Seek
704		consent only after the prospective participant is adequately informed.
705	4.3.4	The investigator should not give any unjustifiable assurances to prospective
706		participant, which may influence her/ his decision to participate;
707	4.3.5	Ensure that the participant is competent and has understood all aspects of the study
708		and that the consent is given voluntarily. Where the participant and/ or the LAR is
709		illiterate, an impartial literate person, not connected to the study should be present
710		throughout the consent process as witness.
711	4.3.6	Administer a Test of Understanding whenever possible for sensitive studies, if need
712		be the test may be repeated until the participant has really understood.
713	4.3.7	Verbal consent may be taken on approval by the EC when the participant refuses to
714		sign or give thumb impression or cannot do so, in presence of the impartial witness
715		who should sign and date the document. This can be documented through audio or

- video recording; however verbal consent should be an exception for specific reasonscarried out with the approval of EC and not to be followed routinely.
- 4.3.8 If circumstances allow only verbal or oral consent it is to be obtained in the presence
  of an impartial witness. Additionally this may be audio/ video recorded in the
  presence of impartial witness who also should be captured in the frame.
- 4.3.9 In the case of abandoned/ institutionalized individuals or wards under judicial
  custody take the consent of institutional head;
- 4.3.10 Renew or take fresh informed consent of each participant under circumstancesdescribed in section 4.7.
- 4.3.11 The investigator must assure prospective participants that their decision to
  participate or not will not affect their rights, the patient clinician relationship or any
  other benefits to which they are entitled.
- 4.3.12 Re-imbursement may be given for travel and incidental expenses/ participation in
  research after approval by EC.
- 4.3.13 Ensure free treatment for research related injury (death, disability, chronic lifethreatening disease and congenital anomaly or birth defect) and if required payment
  over and above medical management by the investigator and/ institution and
  sponsor(s).
- 4.3.14 Provide routine care as mentioned in the protocol during the period of study, even inthe event of withdrawal of the participant.
- 4.3.15 Inform EC if there is any deviation or violation of the protocol.
- 737

- 738 4.4 Documentation of obtaining consent Documentation of informed consent process is an
  739 essential part of this entire exercise.
- 4.4.1 Each prospective participant should sign the informed consent form after going
  through the informed consent process of receiving information, understanding it and
  voluntarily agreeing to participate in the research.
- 4.4.2 If the participant is unconscious or has lost insight (e.g. in psychosis), efforts must be
  made to get the consent of the participant when she/ he regains consciousness/
  insight. There should be an institutional policy in place to deal with such situations in
  the absence of LAR.
- 7484.4.3The process of consent for an illiterate participant and/ or LAR should be witnessed749by an impartial literate witness who is not a relative of the participant and in no way
| 750 |     |       | connected to the conduct of research (e.g., other patients in the ward not in the              |
|-----|-----|-------|--|
| 751 |     |       | study, staff from the social service department, counsellors etc). The witness should          |
| 752 |     |       | be a literate person who can read the participant information sheet and consent form           |
| 753 |     |       | and understand the language of the participant.  |
| 754 |     | 4.4.4 | If the participant cannot sign then a thumb impression must be obtained.                       |
| 755 |     | 4.4.5 | The Investigator who administered the consent must also sign and date the consent.             |
| 756 |     | 4.4.6 | In the case of abandoned institutionalized individuals (widows, elderly, orphans) who          |
| 757 |     |       | are incompetent to give consent of their free will, this may be obtained from the              |
| 758 |     |       | institutional head or appropriate LAR.   |
| 759 |     | 4.4.7 | In the case of wards under judicial custody only the institutional head gives consent.         |
| 760 |     | 4.4.8 | If a child participant becomes an adult during the course of the research, consent             |
| 761 |     |       | should be taken even though assent was obtained earlier.                                       |
| 762 |     |       |  |
| 763 | 4.5 | Regu  | alatory Clinical trials - Clinical trials that are conducted for regulatory purposes, e.g. for |
| 764 |     | drug  | approval, need to follow all the requirements of the appropriate regulatory                    |
| 765 |     | autho | prities. Refer to section 6 on clinical trials of drugs and other interventions for further    |
| 766 |     | detai | ls.  |
| 767 |     |       |  |
| 768 | 4.6 | Waiv  | er to obtain consent   |
| 769 |     | The i | nvestigator can apply to the EC for waiver of consent if the research involves less than       |
| 770 |     | minir | nal risk to the participant and the waiver will not adversely affect the rights and            |
| 771 |     | welfa | are of the participants. The EC may grant waiver of consent in the situations described        |
| 772 |     | in Ta | ble 4.2 below –  |
|     |     |       |  |
| 773 |     |       |  |
|     |     |       |  |

# Table 4.2 Conditions where consent waiver may be granted by ECs

1.	Research could not practically be carried out without the waiver
2.	Retrospective studies, where the participants are de-identified or cannot be contacted.
3.	Research on anonymised biological samples/ data.
4.	Surveillance programmes/programme evaluation studies (Refer to section 7 on Epidemiological and Public health research for further details)

	5.	Research on data available in public domain.
	6.	Prior approval of EC should be taken for research on humanitarian emergencies and disaster, as the participant may not be in a position to give consent. Attempt should be made to obtain participants consent at the earliest (Refer to section 13 on Research during Humanitarian Emergencies and Disasters for further details).
4.7	Re-c	onsent or fresh consent
	In the f	following situations a reconsent is required:
	4.7.1	Availability of new information pertaining to the study, which changes the benefit- risk ratio.
	4.7.2	When a research participant regains consciousness from unconscious state or
		becomes mentally competent after having suffered a loss of insight and is now
		regained insight and able to understand the study.
	4.7.3	When an unmarried girl/ woman acquires marital status during the period of the
		research. In some type of research, the partner/ husband may also be required to
		give additional consent.
	4.7.4	When research requires a long-term follow-up or requires extension.
	4.7.5	When there is change in treatment modality, procedures, site visits, data collection
		method or change in tenure of participation.
	4.7.6	Before publication if there is possibility of disclosure of identity through data
		presentation or photographs (this should be camouflaged adequately).
4.8	Proc	edures after the consent process
Afte	er the o	consent is obtained, the participant should be given a copy of the PIS and signed ICF
unle	ess the	participant is not willing to take these documents (which should be recorded). The
inve	estigato	r has an obligation to convey how the confidentiality will be maintained. The original
PIS	and ICF	should be archived as per the requirements of guidelines and regulations.

- 797 4.9 Special situations
- 4.9.1 Gatekeepers Permission of the "gatekeepers" i.e. the head/ leader of the group or
  culturally appropriate authorities may be obtained in writing or audio or video
  graphed on behalf of the group. This process should be witnessed.

802	Table 4.3
803	When permission is obtained from an organisation that represents the
804	community, the quorum required for such a committee must be met, e.g. in a village panchayat the number of members required ordinarily to
805	conduct a meeting must be present while giving consent.
806	Individual consent is necessary even if the community gives permission.

807 4.9.2 **Community consent** 

808 In certain populations the community plays an important role in the consent process, 809 especially when the participants may not take part in the research unless the 810 community's consent is available. There may be situations when individual consent 811 cannot be obtained as it will change the behaviour of the individual. Refer to section 812 7. on Epidemiological and public health research for further details). In such 813 situations community consent is required -

## 814 4.9.3 Consent from Vulnerable groups

815 Vulnerable persons are those individuals who are relatively or absolutely incapable of 816 protecting their own interests and provide valid informed consent (Table 4.4). The list 817 of vulnerable populations/ communities is given in Table 5.2 in section 5 on 818 vulnerability.

819

1.	Their consent to participate in the study may be unduly influenced either by					
	the expectations of benefits or fear of retaliation in case they refuse to					
	participate;					
2.	Many of them are socially, economically or politically or situationally					
	disadvantaged and therefore susceptible to being exploited and coerced to					
	give consent.					
3.	They are incapable of making a voluntary informed decision for their own self					
	as their autonomy is compromised. An LAR is required to provide informed					
	consent on their behalf. Where LARs are not available, the institutions should					
	have policies in position to obtain alternate consent from appropriate					
	authorities.					

Table 4.4

820

822		5. Vulnerability
823		
824	5.0	The word vulnerability is derived from the Latin word "vulnarere" which means "to
825		wound". Vulnerable persons are those individuals who are relatively or absolutely
826		incapable of protecting their own interests because of personal disability, environmental
827		burdens or social injustice, lack of power, understanding or ability to communicate or are in
828		a situation that prevents them from doing so. For example, those who –
829		Table 5.1

1	consent to participate in the study on account of being unduly influenced either				
1.	by the expectations of benefits or fear of retaliation in case they refuse to				
	participate;				
2.	are socially, economically or politically disadvantaged and therefore susceptible				
	to being exploited;				
3.	are incapable of making a voluntary informed decision for their own self or those				
	whose autonomy is compromised;				
4.	are temporarily or permanently unable to consent, e.g. unconscious, mentally				
	differently abled; and				
5.	are able to give consent, but whose voluntariness or understanding is				
	compromised due to their situational conditions.				

The key principle to be followed when research is planned in vulnerable persons is that, others will be responsible for protecting their interests because they cannot or are in a compromised position to protect their interests on their own.

834 Vulnerable populations or groups - The following (but not restricted to) populations or
 835 communities may be vulnerable at some or all times (Table 5.2)

836

## Table 5.2

1.	Economically and socially disadvantaged,
2.	Children
3.	Women in special situations (e.g., Pregnancy, Lactation, poor decision making power/ poor access to health care)

4.	Tribal populations and marginalized communities;
5.	Sexual minorities (LGBT),
6.	Refugees, migrants, homeless, persons or populations in conflict zones, riot areas, disaster situations,
7.	Institutionalised individuals, Under trials and prisoners, orphans, abandoned widows, elderly.
8.	Mentally ill and cognitively impaired, mentally differently abled.
9.	Patients who are terminally ill or are in search of new interventions having exhausted all therapies
10.	Persons suffering from stigmatizing or rare diseases
11.	Lack of power due to dependency or being under a hierarchical system, e.g. students, patients, employees, subordinates, services personnel, healthcare workers etc.

## 838 5.1 Principles of Research in Vulnerable populations

- 839 If vulnerable populations are to be included in research, all stakeholders must ensure that 840 additional protections are in place to safeguard the rights and welfare of these individuals.
- 5.1.1 Research must be planned in vulnerable populations only if that population willbenefit from the research.
- 5.1.2 Vulnerable populations have an equal right to be included in research so thatbenefits accruing from the research apply to them too.
- 8455.1.3The participants must be empowered to the extent possible, to be able to take their846own decisions.
- 847 5.1.4 In vulnerable populations, when the potential participants lack the ability to consent,
  848 a Legally Acceptable Representative (LAR) should be involved in decision making.
- 5.1.5 Special care must be taken to ensure the privacy and confidentiality of allparticipants in research.

## 851 5.2 Additional safeguards/ protection mechanisms

When potential participants are dependent on others, they may either feel intimidated and incapable of disagreeing with their caregivers, or feel a desire to please them. In the first case, they may be subjected to (at least perceived) undue pressure, while in the second, they may be easily manipulated. If they perceive that their caregivers want them to participate in research, or if the caregiver stands to benefit from the dependent's participation, the feeling of being pressed to participate may be irresistible and undermine the potential voluntariness of consent to participate.

5.2.1 There should be no coercion, force, duress, undue influence, threat ormisrepresentation during the entire research period.

- 5.2.2 There should not be any repercussions on participant's refusal to enter research or
  to withdraw from research, and this should be clearly stated in the informed consent
  form.
- 8645.2.3It is imperative that complete information about the research is given to the865participant. Vulnerable persons may require significant and repeated education/866information about the research, benefits and risks, and alternatives, if any.
- 5.2.4 Steps should be taken to ensure privacy and confidentiality of vulnerable participants
  especially if the research participation may result in enhancement of their
  vulnerability.

870 5.2.5 Research on sensitive issues like mental health, sexual practices/ preferences,
871 HIV/AIDS, substance abuse etc. may present special risks to research participants
872 therefore protection of their privacy, confidentiality and rights at all times is
873 required, during and even after completion of research.

- 5.2.6 Care should be taken that the participants are not exploited.
- 5.2.7 Special care must be taken to ensure that LAR/ caregivers are not induced to agree
  to participate.
- 5.2.8 LAR/ Caregivers should not be rewarded for encouraging the enrollment of theirdependents.
- 879 5.2.9 Researchers should be cognizant of the possibility of conflicting interests between
  880 the prospective participant and LAR. Informed consent from such LARs who are
  881 apparently not acting in the best interests of the prospective participant should not
  882 be accepted. In such cases, an alternative LAR(s) may be invited to provide consent,
  883 as per local law or institutional policies.

5.2.10. Participation may make a person vulnerable to stigmatization and discrimination,
which may affect even the person who is participating as a normal control or is
recruited from the general population. Because of the magnitude and probability of
harm, special protections should be meticulously undertaken to ensure privacy and
confidentiality about their identity and data.

## 889 5.3 Obligations/ Duties of Stakeholders (Table 5.3)

890
-----

## Table 5.3

Researchers	Ethics Committees	Sponsors	Regulatory
			authorities
Responsibility of the	Determine during	The sponsor, whether a	Regulations
researcher/ research	review whether the	pharmaceutical	should have
team towards	prospective	company, a government,	safeguards to
participants is total,	participants for a	or an institution, should	protect the
irrespective of having	particular research are	justify the inclusion of	vulnerability and
obtained consent.	vulnerable.	vulnerable groups while	rights of the
		developing the protocol	participants.
		and include provisions	e.g. Audio- visual
		for protecting their	recording of the
		safety.	Informed consent
Justify inclusion of	Examine whether	The sponsor should	process in
vulnerable population in	inclusion of the	ensure protection of the	regulatory clinical
the study.	vulnerable population	researcher in the case of	trials issued by
	is justified.	research on sensitive	the CDSCO.
		topics.	
Conflicts of Interests	Ensure that COI do not		Research should
(COI) issues must be	increase harm or		be conducted
addressed.	lessen benefits to the		within the
	participants.		purview of
The researchers must	Determine carefully		existing relevant
have well defined	the benefits and risks		guidelines/
procedures to have a	to the participants and		regulations.
balanced benefit risk	advice risk		
ratio.	minimization		
	strategies wherever		
	possible.		
Researchers must	Suggest additional	Enable monitoring and	
ensure that prospective	safeguards, like more	procedures in place for	
participants are	frequent review and	Quality Assurance (QA)	
competent to give	monitoring including	and Quality Control (QC).	
informed consent.	site visits.		

Researchers must take consent of the LAR when a prospective participant lacks the capacity to consent.	Only full committee should do initial and continuing review of such proposals. It is desirable to have representatives from specific populations	
Researchers must respect the dissent of the participant.	during deliberations.	
Researchers must seek the informed consent of appropriate authorities for dependent mentally ill or cognitively impaired individuals in the absence of their caregivers	ECs have special responsibilities when research is on participants who are mentally ill and/ or cognitively impaired and should exercise caution when researchers will have to justify exceptions to the usual requirements of participation or where departure from the guidelines governing research are truly necessary. EC should ensure that these exceptions are as minimal as possible and clearly spelt out in the Informed Consent Documents.	

## 892 **5.4 Women in special situations**

Women have equal rights to take part in research and should not be deprived arbitrarily of the opportunity to benefit through research unless it precludes them for special reasons such as pregnancy and lactation. Informed consent process is important in Indian women because of a largely paternalistic culture in India. Hence, they should be allowed to consult husband/ family members, if necessary. Although autonomy of the woman is important, the researcher has to follow the requirements of local cultural practices in order not to disturb the harmony in the household/family.

- 899 nousenoid/ fam
- 900
- 5.4.1 Participation of women in Clinical Trials/ intervention study that may expose her to
- 901 a risk (Table 5.4) –
- 902

## Table 5.4

1.	Proper justification to include pregnant and nursing women in clinical trials
	designed to address the health needs of such women or their foetuses or
	nursing infants should be provided by the researchers for review by EC, e.g.
	a trial designed to test the safety and efficacy of a drug for reducing
	perinatal transmission of HIV infection from mother to child, a trial of a
	device for detecting foetal abnormalities or trials of therapies for conditions
	associated with or aggravated by pregnancy, such as nausea and vomiting,
	hypertension or diabetes.
2.	If women in reproductive age are to be recruited, they should be informed
	of the risk to the foetus if they become pregnant and should be asked to use
	an effective contraceptive method and be told about the options available in
	case of failure of contraception.
3.	If the woman becomes pregnant during the period of research she should be
	withdrawn from the study and followed up to see if the child in-utero has
	been affected, especially if the test product is known to be carcinogenic,
	mutagenic or teratogenic or there is failure of contraception in a
	contraceptive trial.
4.	Woman who becomes pregnant must not automatically be removed from
	the study when there is no evidence showing a potential harm to the foetus,
	but she must be offered the option to withdraw or continue. In case the
	woman opts for continued participation, researchers and sponsors must
	adequately monitor and offer support to the woman till necessary.

903

904

Refer to 6.18 on pregnancy and clinical trials for more details.

- 9055.4.2Prenatal Diagnostic studies Research related to pre-natal diagnostic techniques in906pregnant women should be limited to detect the foetal abnormalities or genetic907disorders as per the Pre-conception and Pre-natal Diagnostic Techniques (Regulation908and Prevention of Misuse) Act, 1994, amended in 2003 and not for sex909determination of the foetus.
- 910 5.4.3 Research on sensitive topics

911When research is planned on sensitive topics like domestic violence, genetic912disorders, rape, etc. confidentiality should be strictly maintained and the privacy913protected. In risk mitigation strategies, appropriate support systems such as

914 counselling centres, police protection, etc. should be put in place. At no time 915 should information acquired from a woman participant be unnecessary, 916 hurtful or appear voyeuristic. The EC should be especially vigilant regarding 917 these sensitive issues.

## 918 5.5 Children

Children are individuals who have not attained the legal age for consent (18 years). They are considered vulnerable participants because their autonomy is compromised, as they do not have the cognitive ability to fully understand the minute details of the study and make decisions. Decision about participation and withdrawal of a child in research is expected to be taken by the parents/ LAR in the best interests of their children/ wards. However, there could be some extraneous factors that may force them to act otherwise, which should be carefully assessed by the researcher and the EC.

926 Research in children can be carried out in a situation, condition, disorder or disease (Table 5.5) –

## 927

## Table 5.5

4	Fundamentary in the state of th
1.	Exclusively seen in childhood.
2.	Involving adults as well as children; but the issues involved are likely to be
	significantly different in these two populations.
3.	Involving adults as well as children and is of similar nature in terms of
	morbidity, severity and/ or mortality, wherever relevant, and studies involving
	adults have demonstrated required degree of safety and efficacy.
4.	In which interventions that are intended to provide therapeutic benefit are
	likely to be at least as advantageous to the individual child participant as any
	available alternative interventions.
5.	In which the risk presented by interventions not intended to benefit the
	individual child participant is low when compared to the importance of the
	knowledge that is to be gained.

928

## 5.5.1 Additional safeguards/ Protections (Table 5.6)

930

929

## Table 5.6

1.	Research is generally permitted in children only if the safety has been
	established in adult population or if the information likely to be generated cannot be obtained by other means.
2.	Research should be conducted in child friendly settings, in the presence of
	parent(s) where they can obtain adequate medical and psychological support;

3.	EC should do the risk benefit assessment to determine whether additional
	safeguards are required.
4.	EC should also take into consideration the circumstances of the children to be
	enrolled in the study including their age, health status, and other factors and
	potential benefits to other children with the same disease or condition, or
	society as a whole.

## 932 5.5.2 Consent of parent/ LAR (Table 5.7)

## Table 5.7

1.	EC should determine if consent of one or both parents would be required
	before a child could be enrolled.
	Construction of from any second to the second sufficient for
۷.	Generally, consent from one parent/ LAR may be considered sufficient for
	research involving no more than minimal risk.
3.	Permission from both parents should be obtained when the research involves
	potential direct benefit to the child or for research, which presents an
	opportunity to understand, prevent, or alleviate a serious problem affecting the
	health or welfare of the child even if it involves more than minimal risk.
4.	Only one parent's consent is acceptable, if the other parent is deceased,
	unknown, incompetent, or not reasonably available, or when only one parent
	has legal responsibility for the care and custody of the child irrespective of the
	risk involved.
5.	Whenever relevant the protocol should include a parent/ LAR information
	sheet that contains information about specific aspects relevant to children such
	as effects on growth and development, psychological well-being and school
	attendance, in addition to all components described under the participant
	information Sheet.
6	When the research involves sensitive issues related to neglect and abuse of
6.	When the research involves sensitive issues related to neglect and abuse of child the EC may waive the requirement of obtaining parental/LAB consent and
6.	When the research involves sensitive issues related to neglect and abuse of child the EC may waive the requirement of obtaining parental/LAR consent and
6.	When the research involves sensitive issues related to neglect and abuse of child the EC may waive the requirement of obtaining parental/ LAR consent and prescribe an appropriate mechanism to safeguard the interest of the child.
6. 7.	When the research involves sensitive issues related to neglect and abuse of child the EC may waive the requirement of obtaining parental/LAR consent and prescribe an appropriate mechanism to safeguard the interest of the child.
6.	When the research involves sensitive issues related to neglect and abuse of child the EC may waive the requirement of obtaining parental/ LAR consent and prescribe an appropriate mechanism to safeguard the interest of the child. Cognitively impaired children or children with developmental disorders form one of the most vulnerable populations. In fact their parents are also
6.	When the research involves sensitive issues related to neglect and abuse of child the EC may waive the requirement of obtaining parental/LAR consent and prescribe an appropriate mechanism to safeguard the interest of the child. Cognitively impaired children or children with developmental disorders form one of the most vulnerable populations. In fact their parents are also vulnerable, and there is a high likelihood of therapeutic misconception. Parents
6.	When the research involves sensitive issues related to neglect and abuse of child the EC may waive the requirement of obtaining parental/ LAR consent and prescribe an appropriate mechanism to safeguard the interest of the child. Cognitively impaired children or children with developmental disorders form one of the most vulnerable populations. In fact their parents are also vulnerable, and there is a high likelihood of therapeutic misconception. Parents must be explained carefully about the potential risks and benefits to make
6.	When the research involves sensitive issues related to neglect and abuse of child the EC may waive the requirement of obtaining parental/ LAR consent and prescribe an appropriate mechanism to safeguard the interest of the child. Cognitively impaired children or children with developmental disorders form one of the most vulnerable populations. In fact their parents are also vulnerable, and there is a high likelihood of therapeutic misconception. Parents must be explained carefully about the potential risks and benefits to make them understand the proposed research.

## **5.5.3 Assent**

936	In addition to consent from parents/ LAR, an oral or written assent, as approved by the
937	EC, should be obtained from children of 7-18 years of age. As children grow, their
938	mental faculties develop and they will be able to understand and respond. Respecting
939	the child's reaction, the child is made a party to the consent process by the researcher,
940	who explains the proposed research in a very simple manner in a language the child
941	understands the request to participate in research. A child's affirmative agreement to
942	participate in research is called 'assent'. If the child objects, then that wish has to be
943	respected. At the same time mere failure to object should not be construed as assent.

## Table 5.8

1.	There is no need to document assent for children below 7 years of age
2.	For children between 7 – 12 years an oral assent must be obtained in the
	presence of parents/ LAR and should be recorded.
3.	For children over the age of 12 years a written assent must be obtained.
	This assent form has to be also signed by the parent/ LAR.
4.	Adolescents may have the capacity to give consent like adults. However,
	as they have not attained the legal age to provide consent, it is termed as
	Assent and the consent of the parent/LAR to be obtained. If the latter will
	affect the validity of the study, waiver of consent from the relevant adult
	should be taken and recorded with the approval of the EC.
	as they have not attained the legal age to provide consent, it is termed as Assent and the consent of the parent/LAR to be obtained. If the latter wil affect the validity of the study, waiver of consent from the relevant adult should be taken and recorded with the approval of the EC.

## 

5.5.4 Waiver of Assent (Table 5.9)

## Table 5.9

1.	All the conditions that are applicable to the adults for waiver of informed
	consent also apply for children.
2.	If the intervention available is likely to benefit the child definitely and it is
	only available if the child participates in the study. This should be
	adopted only in exceptional cases where all forms of consent/assent have
	failed.
3.	The investigators will provide the care for the participant during the
	period of the study. They will follow the protocol as mentioned in the
	participant information sheet. If the participant withdraws from the
	study, her/ his care will not be compromised.

## 949 **5.5.5 Assent form**

950	Content of the assent form has to be in accordance with the developmental level and
951	maturity of the child. The language of the assent form must be consistent with the
952	cognitive, social and emotional status of the child. It must be simple and appropriate
953	to the age of the child.

954 Points to be included in the assent form are as given below (but not limited to) Table955 5.10.

956

## Table 5.10

1.	An explanation about the study and how it will help the child.
2.	An explanation of what will be done in the study. It is essential to describe
	the discomfort that the child is likely to undergo.
3.	The assent form must contain the contact information of the person whom
	the child can approach if she/ he needs an explanation.
4.	A paragraph must emphasize that the child can refuse to participate in the
	study and if so, the treatment at the centre will not be compromised.

957

## 958 **5.6** Research involving sexual minorities (LGBT) and sex workers

959 There are unique challenges associated with research on sexual minorities and sex workers
960 like privacy, confidentiality, and possibility of stigma, discrimination, and exploitation
961 resulting in increased vulnerability.

- 962 5.6.1 Protection of their dignity and quality health care under these circumstances
  963 should be well addressed in the research proposal, preferably in consultation with
  964 the community before the proposal is finalised.
- 965 5.6.2 It would be advisable to have a representative of the LGBT community as a special
  966 invitee/ member to participate in the meeting of the EC if there is a research
  967 proposal involving these participants.
- 9685.6.3 Community advisory board should be set up to act as interphase between the969researcher(s) and the community.
- 970 5.6.4 Elder members of this community could serve as LAR if required.

- 971 5.6.5 For HIV positive persons, any research may be misconstrued as research on anti972 HIV treatment and make them willing to participate, therefore, the full
  973 implications in simple terms should be explained to them about any other
  974 research being done on them, e. g., research on hepatitis B.
- 975 5.6.6 Among the LGBT there are inhibitions between the different groups, so each976 group should be explained details of research separately.
- 977 5.6.7 Peer educators or champions among the LGBT community could be educated and
  978 sensitized first who would in turn explain about the details to the potential
  979 participants from the community who would then understand them better.
- 9805.6.8 Support systems to deal with the associated mental conditions and addictions of981this community should be in place.
- 982 5.6.9 Whenever possible, a school for unattended children of the participants, a983 hospital and counselling centre should preferably be set up as ancillary care.
- 984 5.7 Research on Tribal Population
- 985 Research on tribal populations should be conducted only if it is of a specific therapeutic,986 diagnostic and preventive nature with appropriate benefits to the tribal population.
- 987 5.7.1 Due approval from competent administrative authorities like Tribal Welfare
  988 Commissioner or District Collector should be taken before entering the tribal areas.
- 989 5.7.2 Whenever possible it is desirable to take the help of the government functionaries/
  990 local bodies or registered NGOs working closely with the tribal groups, in whom the
  991 local population has confidence.
- 9925.7.3Where panchayat system does not exist tribal leader of that community or993culturally appropriate authority or the person socially acceptable to the community994may serve as gatekeepers, from whom permission to enter the premises should be995sought.
- 9965.7.4Informed consent should be taken in consultation with the community elders and997persons who know the local language/ dialect of the tribal population with998appropriate witnesses.

- 9995.7.5Despite permission of the gatekeeper the individual consent process cannot be1000waived.
- 10015.7.6Additional precautions should be taken to avoid inclusion of children, pregnant1002women and elderly etc. belonging to particularly vulnerable tribal groups (PVTG).
- 10035.7.7For any research done using tribal knowledge, which may have commercial1004potential, benefit sharing with the tribal group should be ensured.

## 1005 **5.8 Research Involving Mentally III or Cognitively Impaired/ Affected Individuals**

- 1006 5.8.1 Mentally ill - According to the World Health Organization, mental disorders comprise a broad range of problems, with different symptoms. They are generally 1007 1008 characterized by some combination of abnormal thoughts, emotions, behaviour 1009 and relationships with others. Under Section 2 (i) of the Person with Disabilities 1010 (Equal Opportunities, Protection of Rights and Full Participation) Act, 1995 mental 1011 illness has been defined as any mental disorder other than mental retardation. Colloquially these disorders are called 'mental illness' which will be used 1012 1013 throughout this document. Presence of a mental disorder is not synonymous with 1014 incapacity of understanding or providing informed consent.
- 1015 5.8.2 Cognitively affected or impaired - The conscious mental activities such as the activities of thinking, understanding, learning, and remembering are under the 1016 1017 definition of cognition. Those in whom these activities are not fully functional are 1018 regarded as cognitively impaired. Such groups would include those without full 1019 intellectual potential (intellectually disabled, previously called mentally retarded), 1020 unconscious, those suffering from a number of neuropsychological disorders such 1021 as dementia or delirium and those who cannot fully comprehend or participate in 1022 the informed consent process, either temporarily or permanently. Other sources 1023 or reasons for cognitive impairment affecting the ability to give informed consent 1024 include, but are not limited to: being too young (children do not yet develop the 1025 necessary cognitive abilities to give informed consent); being in extreme pain; being under the influence of medication, illicit drugs, or alcohol; mental 1026 1027 retardation; and traumatic brain injury (that causes unconsciousness or cognitive impairment while conscious). 1028
- 1029 **5.8.3 Risk of harm to self -** Some psychiatric conditions lead people to risk harm to

1.	Mechanisms have to be activated when a participant is detained and hospitalized because of the expression of homicidal ideas as she/ he may not want to participate in research if hospitalized.
2.	Such interventions should be of short duration and possibly least restrictive and invoked only when necessary, in accordance with relevant laws.

1036 5.8.5 Research involving concealment or deception (Table 5.13)

1037

## Table 5.13

1.	Some study designs may reduce or violate human participant
	protections/rights or specific requirements of informed consent. An
	example is studies involving deception either in recruiting participants, or
	in the study intervention, or both. In some studies a degree of deception -
	usually omitting to inform fully - is necessary if the study is to be
	accomplished at all. All such studies should have prior EC approval.

1032

## 1033 5.8.4 Risk of harm to others (Table 5.12)

1.

2.

3.

## 1034

## Table 5 12

# themselves may not perceive it as such and may want to refuse to participate in a study if hospitalization and treatment may sometimes be

A careful assessment of the individual's choices must be made by the 4. investigators before recruiting such individuals.

Table 5.11

Prospective participants must be informed during the informed consent process how the investigator will address suicidal ideation or other risks of

It should be disclosed to the participant that her/ his confidentiality may be breached for reporting to family members, police, or other authorities or they may have to be admitted in the hospital upon expression of such

While some interventions - like hospitalization and treatment for

suicidality – may be primarily for the participants' own benefit, they

# required.

harm to self or others.

thoughts of self-harm.

2.	Research involving any degree of deception should be justified only if it is		
	clear that		
	Deception is truly necessary to accomplish the goals of the research		
	• Partial disclosure/ authorized deception is a way of informing the		
	participant that they would be deceived but the nature of the		
	deception is not disclosed. This may be considered in the protocol.		
	• There are no undisclosed risks to participants that are more than		
	minimal, and		
	<ul> <li>There is an adequate plan for debriefing participants, when</li> </ul>		
	appropriate, and for dissemination of research results to them.		

## **5.8.6 Institutionalized participants**

1040While reviewing protocols that include mentally ill prisoners or those who are incarcerated1041or involuntarily committed to psychiatric facilities, the EC must ensure the following (Table

1042 5. 14)

## Table 5.14

1.	Enrolling these participants is specifically pertinent to the research			
	questions and is not merely a matter of convenience;			
2.	It is possible for the participant to deny consent and later withdraw from			
	the study without any negative repercussions on his care.			
3.	Mechanisms to avoid coercion are described in the protocol.			
4.	Those being invited to enroll are competent to give informed consent or			
	refusal.			
5.	LAR will give consent on behalf of participants who are not competent to			
	give consent only if the research has substantial potential of therapeutic			
	benefit over the risk and the research participation presents the only			
	possible health care prospects.			

5.8.7 Avoidance of Stigma (Table 5.15)

Table 5.15			
1.	For some persons already under treatment for a psychiatric condition,		
	research participation might not present a substantially greater burden of		
	stigma. On the other hand, if the person is not symptomatic, diagnosed,		
	or under treatment, research participation may be a primary source of		
	stigmatising her/ him as mentally ill.		
2.	The potentially greater risks of stigmatization should not prohibit		
	recruitment of participants from the general, nonclinical population;		
	instead, awareness of the risks imposed by research should prompt		
	researchers to plan to minimize them.		

## 1048 **5.9** Persons suffering from stigmatizing or rare diseases

1049 In the case of stigmatizing **or rare diseases** where research cannot be delayed, and any surrogate/ 1050 next of kin or LAR may or may not be available to consult for consent, the incompetent 1051 participant may be enrolled in the study. Specific reasons for involving subjects with a condition 1052 that renders them unable to give informed consent should be stated in the research protocol and 1053 the study should be approved by EC.

1054 The institutions should have in place policies for taking consent from appropriate authorized 1055 individuals who can give consent on behalf of such individual(s) in the absence of LARs.

## 1056 **5.10** Patients who are terminally ill

1057 Terminally ill patients or patients who are in search of new interventions having exhausted all 1058 available therapies are vulnerable as they are ready to give consent for any intervention that can 1059 be a ray of hope for them. There should be appropriate consent procedures and the EC should 1060 carefully review such protocols and recruitment procedures. Additional monitoring should be 1061 done to detect any adverse event at the earliest. These studies are approved so that the scientific 1062 community or professional groups do not deny such patients the possible benefit of any new 1063 intervention that is not yet validated.

## 1064 **5.11 Other vulnerable groups**

Other vulnerable groups include the economically and socially disadvantaged, homeless, refugees, migrants, persons or populations in conflict zones, riot areas, disaster situations, under trials and prisoners-institutionalised, those having lack of power due to dependency or being under a hierarchical system, e.g. students, patients, employees, subordinates, services personnel, healthcare workers etc.

- 1070
- 10715.11.1Ideally, the individuals listed above should not be recruited as research1072participants.
- 10735.11.2Autonomy of such individuals is already compromised and the researchers have1074to justify their inclusion if there is no other option.
- 10755.11.3ECs have to satisfy themselves with the justification provided and record the1076same in the proceedings of the EC meeting.

- 10775.11.4Additional safety measures suggested as above in the guidelines to be strictly1078followed by the ECs.
- 10795.11.5The Informed Consent process should be well documented. There should not be1080any undue coercion or incentive for participation. The participant's refusal to1081participate should be respected and there should be no penalisation.
- 10825.11.6EC should also determine carefully the risks and benefits of the study and1083examine the risk minimization strategies.

## 6. Clinical Trials of drugs and other interventions

A clinical trial is any research/ study that prospectively assigns human participants or
 groups of humans to one or more health-related intervention/s to evaluate the effects
 on health outcomes. The intervention could be drugs, vaccines, biosimilars, biologics,
 phytopharmaceuticals, radiopharmaceuticals, diagnostic agents, public health
 interventions, socio-behavioral interventions, technologies, devices, surgical techniques
 or interventions involving traditional systems of medicine, etc.

1092

1085

1093 Clinical trials are usually well-controlled studies, which use a design that allows a comparison 1094 of participants treated with an investigational product (IP)/ any intervention to a control 1095 population (receiving placebo or an active comparator), so that the effect of the IP/ 1096 intervention can be determined and differentiated from effects of other influences e.g. 1097 spontaneous change, placebo effects, concomitant treatment/ intervention, or observer 1098 expectations.

- 1099 6.1 General guidelines
- 6.1.1 All clinical trials must be planned, conducted and reported in a manner thatensures that the rights, safety and well being of participants are protected.
- 6.1.2 Before a trial is initiated, foreseeable risks and inconveniences should be weighed
  against the anticipated benefit for the individual trial participant and society. A
  trial should be initiated and continued only if the anticipated benefits justify the
  risks.
- 11066.1.3All clinical trials must be conducted in accordance with The Indian Good Clinical1107Practices (GCP) Guidelines, the Declaration of Helsinki (2013, or later versions as1108applicable), National Ethical (ICMR) guidelines (2016) and other applicable1109guidelines. The Drugs and Cosmetics Act (1940), Rules (1945) and applicable1110amendments (including Schedule Y), and other relevant regulations should be1111followed wherever applicable
- 11126.1.4A participants' right to agree or decline consent to take part in a clinical trial must1113be respected.
- 6.1.5 At all times, the privacy of a participant must be maintained and any informationgathered from the participant be kept strictly confidential.
- 1116 6.1.6 Therapeutic misconception in potential participants must be avoided.
- 1117 6.1.7 At least one member of the research team must have qualification in the subject1118 on which the trial is planned.

1119	6.1.8	Applicable regulatory approvals must be taken.
1120	6.1.9	All clinical trials must be approved by an EC that is constituted and functions in
1121		accordance with these guidelines and applicable regulations.
1122	6.1.10	All clinical trials must be registered with Clinical Trial Registry of India (CTRI;
1123		www.ctri.nic.in).
1124	6.1.11	Ethical standards should be common for all clinical trials irrespective of whether
1125		they fall under the purview of regulators or not.
1126	6.1.12	A written informed consent must be obtained from each participant before any
1127		study related procedure is performed.
1128	6.1.13	Clinical trials should not be conducted involving vulnerable participants unless that
1129		is necessary for their welfare.
1130	6.1.14	If the trial is planned in a vulnerable population it should be only undertaken with
1131		due justification, and all possible participant protections should be in place.
1132	6.1.15	Procedures to assure the quality of every aspect of the trial should be
1133		implemented.
1134	6.1.16	SAEs must be reported within 24 hours to the sponsor, EC and regulator if
1135		applicable, followed by a due analysis report in seven working days.
1136	6.1.17	Medical management of AEs and SAEs, irrespective of relatedness to the clinical
1137		trial must be given free of cost.
1138	6.1.18	In addition, compensation must be given if the SAE is proven to be related to the
1139		trial.
1140	6.1.19	Medical care (ancillary care) should be provided to clinical trial participants
1141		for non-study/ trial related illnesses arising during the period of the trial.
1142	6.1.20	Institutional mechanisms must be in place to allow for insurance coverage for trial
1143		related or unrelated illnesses (ancillary care) and compensation wherever deemed
1144		necessary by the EC.
1145		
1146	6.2 Types	s of interventions/ trials:
1147	6.2.1	Clinical Drug/ Vaccine Development
1148		The broad aim of the process of clinical development of a new drug or vaccine,
1149		(referred to as investigational product, IP) is to find out whether there is a dose
1150		range and schedule at which the drug can be shown to be simultaneously safe and
1151		effective, to the extent that the benefit-risk relationship is acceptable.
1152		

## Table 6.1

Phase 0	Phase I	
A Phase 0 study is an exploratory study,	Phase I starts with the initial administration of an	
conducted to find out whether an	investigational new drugs/ vaccines into humans. These	
investigational new drug (IND) can modulate	studies usually have non-therapeutic objectives. Phase	
its intended target in human beings, and to	I studies are conducted in healthy participants or in	
identify its distribution in the body, or	patients, in the case of drugs with significant potential	
describe its metabolism. This study involves	toxicity, e.g. cytotoxic drugs.	
very limited human exposure, and has no	Studies conducted in Phase I typically involve	
therapeutic or diagnostic intent. It is	a) Estimation of Initial Safety and Tolerability	
conducted early in the process of drug	b) Pharmacokinetics	
development and allows for human use of an	c) Assessment of Pharmacodynamics (biological	
IND with less pre-clinical data and in lower	effects for vaccines)	
doses than is required for a conventional	d) Early Measurement of Drug Activity (including	
Phase I. This is invariably part of a regulatory	immunogenicity in case of vaccines)	
study.		
Phase II	Phase III	
Phase II starts with the initiation of studies in	Phase III begins with the initiation of studies in which	
which the primary aim is to explore	the primary objective is to demonstrate, or confirm	
therapeutic efficacy (immunogenicity in case	therapeutic benefit or protection rate (in case of	
of vaccines) in patients/ participants. Phase II	vaccines).	
studies are conducted in a group of	a) Designed to confirm the evidence from Phase II	
patients/participants who are selected by	studies that about the safety and efficacy of a	
relatively narrow criteria, and are closely	drug/ vaccine for use in the intended indication	
monitored. Early studies in Phase II are	and recipient population.	
designed to estimate the dose response. Later	b) Planned to provide an adequate basis for impact	
studies are planned to confirm the dose	on clinical practice or for obtaining marketing	
response	approval, where applicable.	
	c) New use – clinical trials of an already marketed	
	drug for a new indication, dosage form, dosage	
	regimens, or routes of administration would	
	technically be Phase III studies. If these studies	
	are intended for ultimate commercial use of the	
	drug, these require regulatory approval. Research	
	on 'Off label use' comes under this category. (See	
	6.16)	
	d) Bridging trials and pivotal trials come under	
	Phase III category.	
Phase IV		

Phase IV begins after product approval and is related to the use of the intervention for the approved indications. These studies are important for optimising the use of the product. These include a variety of studies e.g.

- a) Post-Marketing Surveillance practice of monitoring the safety of a product after it has been released on the market.
- b) Phase IV clinical trials a study conducted to assess safety, tolerability and effectiveness of a marketed product is prescribed in the usual manner in accordance with the terms of the marketing authorization e.g. efficacy and safety conducted in special population.

- c) Outcomes research aim to study the effectiveness and efficiency of the intervention after its introduction for human use.
- d) Registries Registries set up prospectively to maintain data about patients with certain shared characteristics and who have received a particular intervention (e.g., stent) that collect ongoing and supporting data over time on well defined outcomes of interest.

1174

1175

1176

## 1155 6.3 Ethical consideration

All clinical trials should be scientifically sound. The sponsor of the study, the investigator, the institution, the EC, and the regulatory authority (if applicable) are responsible for ethical conduct of a study. Before any clinical trial is initiated, adequate data from pre-clinical investigations or previous clinical studies should be generated and be sufficient to indicate that the intervention is acceptably safe for the proposed investigation in humans.

## 1161 6.3.1 Ethical considerations for Phase I (for drugs and vaccines) studies

- 1162 6.3.1.1 All Phase I trials require EC approval and applicable regulatory approvals.
- 11636.3.1.2 Phase I study is a non-therapeutic trial, in which there is no anticipated1164direct clinical benefit to the participant. Hence, it should be conducted in1165participants who can give voluntary informed consent themselves and who1166can sign and date the written informed consent form.
- 11676.3.1.3 As Phase I studies are conducted most often in healthy volunteers, all1168safeguards to protect the participants must be in place, especially1169recruitment methods, payment for participation, evidence of non-coercion1170and consent procedures.
- 11716.3.1.4 When a Phase I study is conducted in participants with a disease e.g. cancer,1172due consideration should be given to the seriousness of the medical1173condition and the study procedures planned.
  - 6.3.1.5 The study protocol should describe measures to minimise the risks of Phase I clinical trial in healthy volunteers and patients. These include, but are not limited to (Table 6.2)-

1177	Table 6.2
1178	1. Exclusion of participants who may be at increased risk from the study.
1179	<ol> <li>Careful review of investigational procedures posing high risk of physical harm or serious discomfort.</li> </ol>
1180	
1181	3. Evaluation of available data to decide if the investigational product or procedures proposed in the protocol have been associated with
1182	serious adverse events and steps to prevent or minimise such risks.
1183	4. Careful monitoring of the condition of participants and to intervene to
1184	Indiage adverse events.

1185	6.3.1.6 Phase I study Unit must have robust and tested procedures for immediate
1186	resuscitation and maintenance of life support and onward transfer of
1187	subjects to hospital, if necessary.
1188	6.3.1.7 The Phase I unit should have a formal arrangement/ agreement with a
1189	hospital for managing emergencies arising from their clinical trials.
1190	6.3.1.8 A Phase I study with a high risk investigational product e.g. first-in-human,
1191	biologic should be carried out in a hospital where experienced personnel
1192	and facilities are immediately available to manage medical emergencies.
1193	6.3.1.9 Medical Pharmacologist/ Physicians trained in clinical pharmacology should
1194	be involved in Phase I studies.
1195	6.3.2 Ethical Considerations for Phase II, III and IV studies
1196	6.3.2.1 All Phase II and III studies require EC approval and applicable regulatory
1197	approvals.
1198	6.3.2.2 In the case of Phase IV studies the following require EC approval:
1199	i. Phase IV clinical trials
1200	ii. Outcomes research
1201	iii. Registries
1202	iv. If the data is used to answer any research question
1203	v. New Use for non commercial purpose (academic research)
1204	6.3.3 Ethical considerations for Vaccine Studies
1205	Vaccines can be prophylactic and therapeutic in nature. The guidelines to conduct
1206	the clinical trial on investigational vaccines are similar to those governing a drug
1207	trial. The phases of these trials differ from drug trials as given:
1208	6.3.3.1 Phase I for determination of its safety and biological effects including
1209	immunogenicity, includes study of dose and route of administration and
1210	should involve low risk.
1211	6.3.3.2 Bridging studies in vaccine trials are conducted to support clinical
1212	comparability of efficacy, safety and immunogenicity of new formulation
1213	when there is change in vaccine composition with regard to adjuvant,
1214	preservative, or a change in manufacturing process, site or scale. These are
1215	performed either before or after product licensure.
1216	6.3.3.3 Combination Vaccines - The main goal in efficacy trial design of such
1217	vaccines is to evaluate the efficacy of each antigenic component. Non-
1218	inferiority trials should be conducted to demonstrate that the combination

1219	vaccine is not inferior in terms of immunogenicity or efficacy, to vaccines
1220	with individual components.
1221	6.3.3.4 Vaccines Administered Simultaneously with the Combination Vaccines -
1222	Immunogenicity and safety data should be obtained in Phase III (Pre-
1223	licensure) studies to support the simultaneous administration of a new
1224	vaccine with already licensed vaccines that would be given to the same
1225	target population using the same (or overlapping) schedule.
1226	6.3.3.5 Types of Vaccines (Table 6.3)
1227	Table 6.3
	1. Live and attenuated vaccines (measles, mumps, rubella and chickenpox)
	2. Inactivated vaccine (e.g. flu vaccine)
	3. Toxoid vaccines (e.g. diphtheria and tetanus vaccines)
	4. DNA vaccines
	5. Recombinant vector vaccines
1228	
1229	6.3.3.6 Some vaccines that contain active or live - attenuated micro-organisms can
1230	possibly possess a small risk of producing that particular infection. The
1231	participant to be vaccinated should be informed of the same.
1232	6.3.3.7 The participants in control groups or when subjected to ineffective vaccines
1233	run a risk of contracting the disease. In such an event, free treatment for
1234	the disease should be given.
1235	6.3.3.8 For recombinant DNA vaccines and products applicable Governmental
1236	guidelines and regulations should be followed.
1237	6.3.3.9 Post trial, the control group should receive the complete dose of an
1238	effective vaccine (either one that is already available or the
1239	investigational vaccine).
1240	
1241	6.4 Bioavailability (BA)/ Bioequivalence (BE) Study
1242	Bioavailability is the measurement of the proportion of the total administered dose of a
1243	therapeutically active drug that reaches the systemic circulation and is therefore available
1244	at the site of action.
1245	<b>Bioequivalence</b> – it is a term used in pharmacokinetics when there are two (or more)
1246	medicinal products (proprietary preparations of a drug), containing the same active
1247	substance which need to be compared <i>in vivo</i> for biological equivalence. These comparative
1248	studies are used to assess that the new version (generic) produces the same concentration

- in the systemic circulation when given to human participants. If two products are said to
  be bioequivalent it means that they would be expected to be, for all intents and purposes,
  the same.
- 1252 Bioequivalence studies are used as surrogates for clinical effectiveness data for generic drugs 1253 where no clinical difference is anticipated between the two compounds.
- 1254 6.4.1 Ethical Issues
- 1255 6.4.1.1 All BA/ BE studies should be scientifically sound and conducted in 1256 compliance with principles of ethical conduct described above for a Phase I 1257 study.
- 12586.4.1.2 Ethical conduct of BA/ BE study requires evaluation of the risk-benefit1259profile of
- a) The reference and generic product
- b) The study procedures indoor stay, fasting, screening, blood sampling.
- 12626.4.1.3 Bioavailability and bioequivalence studies are usually conducted in healthy1263volunteers. Hence, they have no benefit to the participant but may pose1264risks due to the adverse effects of the drug. Hence, all safeguards to protect1265participants must be in place.
- 1266 6.4.1.4 EC must review carefully the Recruitment methods, payment for 1267 participation, and consent procedures in detail. It is in such studies that 1268 volunteers often participate regularly at the cost of their health and care 1269 should be taken that taking part in multiple trials is avoided by maintaining 1270 volunteer registries, biometry, follow up, etc.

 1271
 6.4.2
 Study Designs and Ethical Implications 

 1272
 Clinical trials have wide range of methodological approaches, EC need to look into

 1273
 the details of the ethical concerns involved:

- 12746.4.2.1 In blinded studies, if a serious adverse event occurs, and it is imperative in1275the interest of managing the event, to know what the patient was1276receiving, unblinding should be done.
- 12776.4.2.2 When an available therapy is effective in preventing serious harm e.g. death1278or irreversible morbidity in the clinical trial population, it is inappropriate to1279use a placebo control.

1280	5.4.2.3 Placebo may be used as a comparator under the following conditions (Table
1200	.4.2.5 Tracebo may be used as a comparator under the following conditions (rable

....

1281

6.4)

1282

1.	When there is no established effective therapy available.	

2. When withholding an established effective therapy would not expose participants to serious harm, but may cause temporary discomfort or delay in relief of symptoms.

Table 6.4

3. When the use of an established effective therapy as a comparator would not yield scientifically reliable results and the use of placebo would not add any risk of serious or irreversible harm to the participants.

1283

- 1284
- 1285

6.4.2.4 If a placebo must be used for scientific reasons, then (Table 6.5)

Table 6.5

- The protocol must have added safeguards to protect participants from harm, for example, but not restricted to, having clear-cut withdrawal criteria, intensive monitoring, rescue medications.
- 2. Use an "add-on" trial design where the IP or placebos are added to standard pre-decided therapy.
- Expose fewer patients to placebo e.g. by having 2:1 randomization with 2 participants receiving IP against 1 getting placebo (unbalanced randomization).
- 4. An active comparator as an additional arm may also be included in such trials where randomization can be e.g. 2:2:1 (IP: Active comparator: placebo).

## 1286 6.5 Multicentric Trials

1287 Multicentric trials are carried out with a primary aim to provide a sound basis for the 1288 subsequent generalisation of its results. All sites should obtain approval from the respective 1289 EC.

- 1290 6.5.1 The ECs of all sites should follow all applicable regulatory guidelines, including 1291 being registered with the regulator.
- 1292 6.5.2 It is advisable to establish communication between ECs reviewing multi-centric 1293 studies in India to discuss ethical concerns of the trial. This is particularly 1294 important if any EC does not grant approval for a study at a site for ethical 1295 reasons.
- 1296 6.5.3 The EC can suggest site-specific protocol and informed consent modifications.

- 1297 6.5.4 The Sponsor should ensure that documented EC approvals from all sites are 1298 obtained before launching the study at the site.
- 1299 6.5.5 All investigators (centres) should conduct the trial in strict compliance with the 1300 protocol, regulatory requirements and EC recommendations.
- 1301 6.5.6 The implementation of the protocol procedures is similar at all centres.
- 1302 6.5.7 Plans for manuscript publication and a common final report are decided before1303 initiation of the study.
- 13046.5.8Meetings should be organised at the initial and intermediary stages of the trial to1305ensure uniform procedures at all centres.
- 13066.5.9There should be monitoring of adherence to protocol including measures to1307terminate the participation of some centres, if necessary.
- 6.5.10 All researchers should give a written acceptance of the protocol provided by the
  sponsor, which may be modified to suit local requirements and should be followed
  for the trial duly approved by the EC of the host institutes.
- 13116.5.11 Site-specific data can be published only after appropriate authorities accept the1312combined report and appropriate permissions are obtained.
- 1313

## 1314 6.6 Phytopharmaceuticals drugs

- 1315The Drugs and Cosmetics Rules, 8th Amendment 2015 defines a new class of drugs called1316phytopharmaceutical drug as "purified and standardised fraction with defined minimum1317four bio-active or phyto-chemical compounds (qualitatively and quantitatively assessed)1318of an extract of a medicinal plant or its part, for internal or external use of human beings1319or animals for diagnosis, treatment, mitigation or prevention of any disease or disorder1320but does not include administration by parenteral route."
- 1321All ethical guidelines described in drug development section apply to this group of1322drugs.
- 1323

## 1324 6.7 Device trials

1325 Devices could be used internally or externally. Depending upon risks involved devices are 1326 classified as follows:

1327

## Table 6.6

Critical devices	Non-critical devices
These present a potential serious risk to the	These do not present significant risk to
health, safety or welfare of the participant -	the patients e.g. Thermometer, BP

1328
1329
1329
1330
1330
1321
1324
1325
1326
1326
1327
1328
1329
1320
1321
1321
1321
1322
1322
1323
1324
1324
1325
1325
1326
1326
1327
1328
1328
1329
1329
1320
1320
1320
1321
1321
1321
1322
1322
1323
1324
1324
1324
1325
1324
1325
1326
1326
1327
1327
1328
1328
1328
1329
1329
1321
1320
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321
1321</l

- 13316.7.1Clinical trials of medical and dental devices (whether notified by CDSCO or not)1332should be conducted in accordance with all the ethical principles described in1333these guidelines, Indian GCP as well as applicable regulations of the country for1334medical devices.
- 13356.7.2 Before approving clinical trials on medical devices (notified/ not notified by1336CDSCO) the EC should evaluate all available and relevant data on the device so as1337to be able to make a thorough risk benefit assessment.
- 13386.7.3 Medicated devices should be evaluated as though the trial is on the drug(s)1339contained within them.
- 6.7.4 Safety data of the medical device in animals should be obtained and likely risksposed by the device should be considered.
- 13426.7.5Apart from safety considerations of the device, the procedures to introduce the1343medical device in the patient should also be evaluated for safety.
- 13446.7.6If the participant wants to withdraw from a trial, it may not be possible to remove1345the internal device. This must be explained to the participant before enrolling1346her/him. The participant however should be allowed to opt out of continuing on1347the trial without prejudice to his/her ongoing treatment.
- 13486.7.7The duration of follow up should be long enough to detect late onset adverse1349reactions especially when the device is implanted within the body.
- 1350

## 1351 **6.8 Biologicals, biosimilars**

Biologics (biopharmaceutical drug) can be composed of sugars, proteins, or nucleic acids or complex combinations of these substances, or may be living cells or tissues. This section applies to products that are produced by means of biological processes with or without recombinant DNA technology. All aspects that are described in Section 6.1 are also applicable.

- 13566.8.1As these are biologic substances, special care must be taken to review all data so far1357generated. Special expertise may be sought for such reviews so that foreseeable1358risks are well identified.
- 1359 6.8.2 A thorough risk benefit assessment must be carried out with available data.

6.8.3 If the study involves biosimilars, the product quality (manufacturing &
characterization), preclinical data and bioassay must demonstrate similarity with a
reference biologic.

All applicable and current regulations must be followed.

1363

1364

6.8.4

1365

## 6.9 Stem cells and cell derived therapies

1366 In recent years, the area of stem cell research has undergone rapid developments 1367 promising new leads in the treatment of several incurable diseases. According to the 1368 source and the degree of expected risk to human participants, stem cell research is 1369 categorised into permissible areas of research (adult and cord blood), restricted areas of research (embryonic) and prohibited areas of research (reproductive cloning). 1370 То 1371 address the issues related to stem cell research, Indian Council of Medical Research 1372 (Department of Health Research) and Department of Biotechnology, Government of 1373 India have published National Guidelines for Stem Cell Research in the year 2007, modified in 2013 (http://icmr.nic.in/guidelines/NGSCR%202013.pdf). 1374

13756.9.1The source of cells is limited to human subjects for these guidelines. In case of1376allogenic donation there is no direct benefit to the donor *per se*. Source of the cell1377procurement process such as ovum donation or bone marrow donation are invasive1378and may carry risk to the donor. Extra care has to be taken in providing appropriate1379information while taking consent for donation. The donor may need to be1380investigated for potentially transmittable infections and also some genetic diseases,1381results of which, the donor may or may not like to know.

13826.9.2The donor also needs to be informed that cell lines may be derived from the donated1383tissue, which may be banked and shared with others. They may also undergo genetic1384manipulation, and have potential for development of commercial products. In the1385later case, the intellectual property rights will not be of the donor. Also while1386confidentiality and privacy are sacrosanct, a provision needs to be kept for1387traceability in a contingency situation. The donor might need to be contacted in1388future as well.

13896.9.3The two basic characteristics of stem cells viz. potential for unlimited proliferation1390and ability to differentiate into a variety of cells of all three germ layers, which has1391made them the darling of regenerative medicine, incidentally are also their biggest1392distracters. For example, one of the signatures of the stem cells is their ability to

1393produce teratoma, which is totally unacceptable in terms of safety of any therapeutic1394product. Also, once introduced into body, they may survive indefinitely and what1395type of cells they may produce could be unpredictable. Special care should be taken1396when cells are obtained from embryos and fetuses. It is necessary to ensure that1397donors are not exploited and commodifed.

- Except haemopoietic cell transplantation, all the other uses of stem cells fall under 1398 6.9.4 1399 the category of research and must be conducted as a clinical trial, and needs the 1400 approval of EC, Institutional Committee for Stem Cell Research (ICSCR), National 1401 Apex Committee for Stem Cell Research and Therapy (NAC-SCRT) and the Cell 1402 Biology Based Therapeutic Drug Evaluation Committee (CBBTDEC) of Central Drugs 1403 Standard Control Organisation (CDSCO) as the case may be. Use of stem cells 1404 outside the domain of a clinical trial for any purpose will be considered unethical 1405 and hence not permissible.
- 14066.9.5Each institution should maintain a registry of its investigators who are conducting1407stem cell research and ensure that all are kept updated in accordance with changes1408in guidelines and regulations regarding use of these cells. It shall also be the1409responsibility of the institution to ensure that all current standards are applied.
- 14106.9.6 All clinical trials with any stem cells shall have prior approval of IC-SCR and1411Institutional Ethics Committee (IEC). Prior approval of Drug Controller General of1412India (DCGI) will also be required for stem cell based IND products & new drug1413applications (cells for therapy are deemed as drugs). Clinical trials with clinical1414grade SSCs processed as per National GLP/GMP/GTP guidelines as applicable to be1415carried out.
- 6.9.7 All clinical trials shall be registered with the NAC-SCR through IC-SCR. All such studies
  should also be registered with the Clinical Trials Registry of India (CTRI). It has to
  be ensured that no unproven stem cell therapy is offered outside of the wellcontrolled clinical trials.
- 6.9.8. International Collaborations shall have prior approval of respective funding agency
  as per its procedure or Health Ministry's screening committee (HMSC).
- 14226.9.9Clinical trials using stem cells need to be planned carefully with follow-up periods1423suitable for the subject being evaluated and should also include appropriate end1424points.

- 14256.9.10 Specific principles related to clinical trials with stem cells are to be followed as per1426the National guidelines, 2013. An extra layer of oversight by those who are1427knowledgeable about the special issues to be put in place. The1428institutions/Sponsors conducting clinical trial should be responsible for insurance1429and compensation of the subjects recruited under the trial.
- 14306.9.11 Establishing and licensing Umbilical cord stem cells falls under the purview of the1431DCGI. The guidelines notified by CDSCO available at1432http://cdsco.nic.in/html/GSR%20899.pdf should be followed.
- 6.9.12 The physician/scientist engaged in stem cell research should avoid any activity that
  leads to unnecessary hype or unrealistic expectation in the minds of study subjects
  or their family members. They should be given adequate unbiased information
  about the limitations and potential adverse effects. There should be suitable
  mechanisms for creating awareness and communicating scientific evidence to the
  public.

## 1439 6.10 Surgical interventions

Surgical interventions that are being studied systematically must be considered as researchand follow all general principles described in these guidelines.

- 6.10.1 In any protocol where an established surgical intervention is to be studied, the
  investigator must provide references for the procedure and describe the most
  likely complications (with frequency of each complication) in the protocol for the
  EC to review and perform risk benefit assessment.
- 1446 6.10.2 In trials where a modification of the established surgical intervention is to be 1447 tested the protocol and ICD must specify the need for this modification and the 1448 expected complications if any. It is preferable that a comparative study be 1449 conducted where the conventional method is compared to the test surgical 1450 intervention.
- 14516.10.3 Trials where an entirely new surgical intervention is being tested, the EC may insist1452on some animal data, which establishes the efficacy and safety of the technique.
- 14536.10.4 During the conduct of a surgical interventional trial all adverse events must be1454reported to the EC (and sponsor as applicable) within the specified timelines as1455described for drug trials.

# 14566.10.5 Provision for free treatment and compensation for study related injury must be1457made available to the trial participant and the EC must determine the amount1458after the investigator has described the relatedness.

14596.10.6 Sham surgery should not be included in design of clinical trials due to inherent1460ethical issues. However, in exceptional cases, and for strong scientific reasons1461these methods can be used under following conditions (Table 6.7) -

## 1462

# There has to be a clear description of these justifications in the protocol, which must be assessed by the EC. There should be no irreversible harm caused by the sham surgery. The participant must get access to appropriate intervention at the end of his participation in the trial.

Table 6.7

## 1463

## 1464 **6.11** Community trials (Public Health Interventions)

Community trials are the studies involving whole communities and are conducted to evaluate preventive strategies like Mass Drug Administration (MDA) trials, fortification of food etc. Such studies typically involve the whole community (study unit could be a group, area, institution, village, block, district etc.) and the whole population is expected to participate in the study. In such studies, different communities are randomized and allocated to different arms (refer to section 7 on Epidemiological & Public Health Research).

1471

## 1472 6.12 Clinical trials of Interventions in HIV/AIDS

1473 Clinical trials in HIV positive patients could be for the evaluation of new drugs, vaccines, other 1474 preventive measures and diagnostic tests. Apart from the general ethical principles that apply 1475 to all clinical trials, some special issues need to be addressed when clinical trials are planned in 1476 patients with HIV/AIDS e.g. the social stigma and culturally embedded myths about HIV, 1477 marginalization and lack of legal status or criminalization of some communities that are 1478 susceptible to HIV or the disparity in standard of care in different parts of the world.

- 6.12.1 Global studies in HIV/ AIDS in specific communities should receive approval from
  the relevant national authority [NACO] and any other relevant authority (for
  example the Health Ministry Screening Committee HMSC where applicable) apart
  from approval from the EC.
- 6.12.2 When testing for HIV is done, consent and pre test and post test counseling shouldbe done as per NACO guidelines.
- 14856.12.3 Issues that may arise because of discordant couples should be addressed before1486initiating any study in HIV/AIDS.

- 1487 6.12.4 As HIV is a sexually transmitted disease and is potentially life-threatening, the right
  1488 to life of the sexual partner must be respected over the right to the privacy of the
  1489 HIV positive individual..
- 1490 6.12.5 Phase I studies are permissible in patients with HIV/AIDS if the drug under study 1491 cannot be tested in normal, healthy participants due to expected toxicity of the IP.
- 1492 6.12.6 A combined Phase I/II or Phase II study can be conducted in this population when1493 other therapeutic options in them have been exhausted.
- 6.12.7 When a trial with a preventive HIV vaccine is conducted, it can result in a positive
  serology. This does not indicate HIV infection but can create problems for travel
  and employment. Under such circumstances, the project investigator should issue
  a certificate stating that the person in question was a participant in a vaccine trial
  and provide clarification on the results.
- 14996.12.8 Research that involves sexual minorities (MSM, LGBT and intravenous drug users)1500should have community engagement [community leaders] throughout the life of1501the project till completion and dissemination of results.
- 15026.12.9 The EC may also consider co-opting a member from this community, if relevant for1503initial and continuing review of proposals.
- 1504 6.12.10 Where possible, the EC should ensure post trial access of the IP for the 1505 participants.
- 1506

## 1507 6.13 Clinical Trials on Traditional Systems of medicine

Although Traditional Systems of medicine (termed Complementary and Alternate Systems in the West) are known for their long history of safe and effective use, validation of safety and efficacy using scientific and evidence-based methodologies is needed for the purpose of universal acceptability, gaining confidence of practitioners and satisfaction of end users in the products.

1513

Government of India (GOI) has recognised Ayurveda, Siddha, Unani, Yoga and Naturopathy, as traditional Indian systems of medicine besides adding Homeopathy to it. In 2012, Sowa Rigpa (Amchi or Tibetan medicine) also has been added to the list. Department of AYUSH used to govern and regulate these systems, which has been taken over by the newly created Ministry of AYUSH. Drugs under Ayurveda, Unani and Siddha systems come under Drugs and Cosmetics Act, 1940 as ASU drugs. The products under these systems of medicine are classified into two groups (Table 6.8) –

1. Classical products are those that are	2. Patent or Proprietary products are
to be clinically evaluated for same	formulations containing only such
indication for which it is being used or	ingredients mentioned in the formulae
as has been described in the classical	described in the authoritative books of
authoritative texts. These classical	Ayurveda (or Siddha or Unani Tibb systems
drugs are manufactured and named in	as the case may be) of medicine specified
accordance with the formulations	in the First Schedule, but differ to create a
described in the authoritative texts.	new combination, or use innovation or
	invention to manufacture products
	different from the classical medicine.
	However, this group does not include a
	medicine, which is administered by
	parenteral route.

- 15236.13.1 Research on AYUSH and ASU interventions of Traditional Medicines (TM), Folk1524Medicines, and Patent and Proprietary Medicines of TM involving human1525participants should be conducted in accordance with all the ethical principles1526described in these guidelines including SAE reporting and compensation, AYUSH1527GCP Guidelines as well as other applicable regulations of the country.
- 6.13.2 If investigational products/ comparator of more than one Traditional Systems of
   medicine are to be investigated, then investigator(s) from all the respective
   systems should be included in the study as Co-investigator(s).
- 15316.13.3 The EC must co-opt a person with relevant expertise (an expert of that traditional1532system of medicine) to review the proposal, especially the risks and benefits of the1533intervention, the eligibility criteria, the doses of the interventions, the outcomes1534planned and the traditional method of evaluation if necessary.
- 15356.13.4 When a Folklore medicine/ ethnomedicine is ready for commercialization after it1536has been scientifically found effective, benefit sharing should be ensured, and1537the legitimate rights/ share of the Tribe or Community from which the knowledge1538was gathered should be taken care of appropriately while applying for the1539Intellectual Property Rights and Patents for the product.
- 6.13.5 While conducting trials using intervention(s) of TM, the investigator must ensurethe quality of the interventional product.
- 1542 6.14 Trials of Diagnostic agents
- 1543A diagnostic agent refers to any pharmaceutical product used as part of a diagnostic test1544(i.e. together with the equipment and procedures that are needed to assess the test

result) and that is either administered into or onto the human body. Diagnostic agents must be considered as new drugs and therefore clinical trials involving diagnostic agents should be conducted in accordance with all the ethical principles described in these guidelines, Indian GCP Guidelines as well as applicable regulations of the country.

- 6.14.1 Risk benefit assessment involving diagnostic agents additionally includes the
  assessment of benefits (technical performance, diagnostic performance, impact on
  diagnostic thinking and impact on patient management/ outcome) and the risks
  related to the agent itself (e.g. immunogenicity, allergic reactions) but also risks
  related to incorrect handling of test procedures or incorrect diagnosis induced by
  its use.
- 6.14.2 The EC must review the pharmacology, toxicology, pharmacokinetics and safety
  data (preclinical and clinical data as applicable) especially for diagnostic agents
  which come in contact with skin or mucosal surfaces in human body (*in vivo* use).
  Special expertise may be co-opted in the EC for review of such products.
- 6.14.3 These trials are usually comparative, the comparator being the reference/ gold
  standard test to diagnose the disease. Hence, the protocol must state clearly the
  choice of the reference with justification. Likewise, omission of a reference
  standard as comparator must also be justified.
- 15636.14.4 A placebo may be used as comparator when the response to a diagnostic test is1564being assessed using subjective evaluation criteria (e.g. skin changes in a skin prick1565test) or for the assessment of tolerability. There have to be clear justifications in1566the protocol for the use of a placebo, and no irreversible harm should occur to the1567participant. Post-trial access to the standard of care diagnostic test must be1568assured.
- 6.14.5 Safety follow-up of patients in these trials should not be limited to the duration of
  the diagnostic procedure but may be extended for a longer period according to
  the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties of the diagnostic agent.
- 1572 6.14.6 Long-term safety (when appropriate) should be assessed especially for agents 1573 accumulating in the body (e.g. deposits of gadolinium in bones and skin).
- 1574

## 1575 6.15 Radio - active materials and X-rays

1576 Radioactive substances contain a radioactive isotope, and may be used for therapeutic or 1577 diagnostic purposes. If the radioactive substance is to be tested as a drug then all the 1578 ethical considerations described in Section 6.3 (for drug trials) will apply and if it is to be
evaluated as a diagnostic agent then Section 6.15 applies. Additionally, the following considerations must be applied. The permissible radiation limits when radioactive materials and X-rays are being evaluated must comply with regulatory authority guidelines. In India the agency that regulates radioactive materials is the Bhabha Atomic Research Centre (BARC), Mumbai.

- 1584 6.15.1 The investigator site should have license from the competent authority to store,1585 handle and dispense the radioactive substance.
- 1586 6.15.2 The investigator and clinical trial team must be competent and should have 1587 received appropriate training to handle radioactive substances and X-rays.
- 1588 6.15.3 The protocol and ICD should clearly state the potential radiation exposure in 1589 quantitative terms to the whole body or per organ that participants are likely to be 1590 exposed to. This exposure must be within acceptable limits.
- 1591 6.15.4 The EC may co-opt relevant expertise to review such protocols
- 6.15.5 When a trial involving radioactive substances is planned in healthy participants,
  they must be preferably over 50 years old and receive radiation in a dose as low as
  permitted
- 6.15.6 Women of childbearing age, children, radiation workers or any individual who has
   received more than the permissible amount of radiation in the past 12 months
   should be excluded from trials involving radioactive materials or X-rays.
- 6.15.7 In the event of death of a participant with a radiological implant, due precautions
  must be taken as per the prescribed radiation guidelines so as to not expose
  relatives or close co-habitants to radiation.
- 1601 6.15.8 The protocol should make adequate provisions for detecting pregnancies to 1602 avoid risks of exposure to the embryo and information must be given to the 1603 participant in the ICD about possible genetic damage to offspring.
- 1604

#### 1605 6.16 Investigator Initiated Clinical Trials

- 1606 Academic institutions routinely carry out investigator initiated clinical trials.
- 1607 6.16.1 All the ethical principles applicable to clinical trials described in this section will1608 also apply to investigator initiated trials.
- 1609 6.16.2 The Investigator has the dual responsibility of being an investigator as well as the1610 sponsor.

- 1611 6.16.3 Financial arrangements must be made by the institution/investigator to pay for
  1612 free management of research related injury and compensation if the injury is
  1613 related to the intervention.
- 1614 6.16.4 Funds should be made available or appropriate mechanisms put in place for1615 Ancillary care to trial participants during the trial.
- 1616 6.16.5 Policies must be made by the institution to put in place mechanisms to ensure
  1617 quality of the data generated and safety of the intervention, e.g., monitoring,
  1618 auditing, Data Safety Monitoring Committee
- 1619 6.16.6 It is desirable to have a medical pharmacologist as a member in the EC reviewing1620 such clinical trials.
- 6.16.7 When research is planned on an "off-label" use of a drug (when a drug that is
  marketed is being used for a new indication/new dose/formulation/ route) for
  purely academic purposes and not for commercial use, then these clinical trials
  designed by investigators/ academicians, do not currently require regulator
  approval. However, an EC has to approve such studies after due considerations of
  benefits and risks and all other ethical aspects.
- 1627

#### 1628 6.17 Clinical Trials on contraceptives

Several methods are available today for contraception including, barrier methods, hormonal methods, emergency contraception, Intra-uterine and surgical methods. Since these studies are conducted in healthy participants, all efforts to minimise risks must be in place and the proposed benefits must justify the foreseeable risks. The following issues must be addressed while undertaking research on contraceptives be they drugs, devices or surgeries.

- 1634 6.17.1 All procedures for clinical trials will be applicable.
- 1635 6.17.2 For a new contraceptive method, non-comparative studies can be accepted.
  1636 However, a sufficient number of cycles should be studied to obtain the desired
  1637 precision of the estimate of contraceptive efficacy.
- 1638 6.17.3 The comparator should, whenever possible, be chosen among marketed products1639 with a similar mechanism of action and schedule of use.
- 1640 6.17.4 In women where a non-biodegradable implant has been used, a proper follow up
  1641 for removal of the implant should be done, after the trial is over or the participant
  1642 has withdrawn from the trial.

- 1643 6.17.5 The educational and socioeconomic level of women participants may be 1644 considered as to whether they will be able to comprehend the use and risks 1645 associated with the particular contraceptive. 1646 6.17.6 Participants should be clearly informed about the alternatives available for 1647 contraception. 1648 6.17.7 Any pregnancies occurring during a contraceptive trial should be followed up for 1649 final outcome to mother and child. 1650 6.17.8 Children born due to failure of contraceptives under study should be followed up 1651 for any abnormalities if the woman does not opt for medical termination of 1652 pregnancy. 6.17.9 A compensation policy must be in place at the beginning of the trial in case this 1653 1654 occurs. 1655 1656 6.18 **Pregnancy and clinical trials** 1657 Any clinical trial conducted in women of childbearing age raise ethical issues that need to be 1658 addressed. Similarly, studies conducted in women who are pregnant need to be evaluated with 1659 care and ethical issues addressed. 1660 6.18.1 When clinical trials are conducted in women of childbearing age, they must be 1661 counselled to use effective contraceptive methods. These must be stated in the 1662 protocol and the ICD and the PI must ensure that these methods are understood and 1663 followed by the woman participant. 6.18.2 In clinical trials, which include women of reproductive age, there may be occasional 1664 1665 inadvertent pregnancy exposure to the medicinal product. In such instance woman 1666 should be withdrawn from the study and efforts should be made to collect data on 1667 the drug effects as well as the outcome for both mother and foetus. This follow up 1668 plan of pregnancy and care of fetus must be stated in protocol and ICD. A plan for compensation of a participant under such circumstances must be prepared and 1669 1670 approved by the EC. 1671 6.18.3 If during research participation, the female sexual partner of a male participant gets
- 1671 6.18.3 If during research participation, the remain sexual partner of a male participant gets 1672 pregnant, the protocol and ICD must have a plan to document this and both 1673 pregnant partner and fetus must be followed for outcome and reported.

1674 6.18.4 Pregnant women have the right to participate in clinical research relevant to their
1675 health care needs e.g. gestational diabetes, pregnancy induced hypertension, HIV
1676 etc.

- 1677 6.18.5 Risk benefit assessment must be done at all stages for both the mother and the 1678 fetus.
- 1679 6.18.6 Pregnant or nursing women should in no circumstances be participants of any clinical
  1680 trial unless the research carries no more than minimal risk to the mother, fetus or
  1681 nursing infant and the object of the research is to obtain new knowledge relevant
  1682 directly to the foetus, the pregnancy or lactation.
- 1683 6.18.7 Research involving pregnant women and fetuses must only take place when (Table
  1684 6.9) -
- 1685

Table 6.9

- Appropriate studies on animals and non-pregnant individuals have been completed
   The risk to the fotus is the least possible risk for achieving the chiestings of
- 2. The risk to the fetus is the least possible risk for achieving the objectives of the trials, including when the purpose of the trial is to meet the health needs of the mother or the fetus, or the risk to the fetus is minimal
- 3. Researchers should not take part in decisions making regarding any termination of a pregnancy.
- 4. No procedural changes, which will cause greater than minimal risk to the woman or fetus, will be introduced into the procedure for terminating the pregnancy solely in the interest of the trial.
- 1686

1687	6.18.8	Women should not be encouraged to discontinue nursing for the sake of
1688		participation in research and in case she decides to do so, harm of cessation of
1689		breast-feeding to the nursing child should be properly assessed except in those
1690		studies where breast-feeding is harmful to the infant. Compensation in terms of
1691		supplying supplementary food such as milk formula should be considered in such
1692		instances.

- 16936.18.9 Research related to termination of pregnancy: pregnant women who desire to1694undergo Medical Termination of Pregnancy (MTP) could be made participants for1695such research only as per The Medical Termination of Pregnancy Act, GOI, 1971.
- 1696
- 1697

#### 1698 6.19 Clinical trials in Oncology

1699 Clinical trials in oncology have associated with them several ethical issues that need to be 1700 addressed during their planning, conduct, oversight and publication. Three primary factors 1701 motivate participation in oncology clinical trials: hope for a cure; altruism that even if the patient 1702 did not benefit, it may ultimately help others; and trust that the physician would not recommend 1703 a treatment (the investigational drug) unless she/ he thought it might be helpful.

All criteria described in Section 6.1 apply to oncology clinical trials stated in drug trials, biologics
and radioactive substances. In addition, while reviewing oncology studies, the following should be
addressed -

- 1707 6.19.1 Phase I studies with oncology drugs are conducted in patients. However, there may
  1708 or may not be any benefit and there may be a high degree of therapeutic
  1709 misconception. Further, there will be foreseeable and unforeseeable risks that need
  1710 to be considered before a protocol is approved.
- 1711 6.19.2 This patient population is vulnerable as they are often terminally ill. Economically
  1712 disadvantaged populations may take part in the research to allow free access to an
  1713 intervention. It is important to ensure that the participant has understood that this is
  1714 research and the benefits expected may be small or they may not occur at all.
- 6.19.3 Participants must be made to understand that they may be randomized to a placebogroup and therefore receive an inert drug, in case of a placebo-controlled study.
- 1717 6.19.4 If the trial is a placebo- or active-controlled trial, all the groups must be given the
  1718 current standard of care to which the Investigational Product (IP), placebo or active
  1719 control is added.
- 6.19.5 Perceptions of benefits and risks of patients, healthcare workers, as well as EC
  members may be different. All these perspectives must be taken into consideration
  while reviewing the protocol.
- 1723 6.19.6 Undue inducement must be avoided.
- 1724 6.19.7 Patients should not be charged for any intervention including standard of care if they1725 are participating in trial.
- 17266.19.8Post trial access plan must be in place, for patients who show benefit with an IP. In1727case it is a placebo controlled trial, those participants who have been in the placebo1728group may be offered post-trial access to the IP if found effective in other patients.
- 1729

# 7. Epidemiological & Public Health Research

1731 7.0 Epidemiology and Public Health are distinct entities requiring generation of evidence, 1732 although they do overlap and the terms are often used interchangeably. Public health ethics 1733 can be applied to practice and research and utilizes epidemiological tools to recognize and simplify principles and values to ensure better societal conditions for healthier lives through 1734 1735 collective actions aimed at the community. It involves protection of both, the welfare of the 1736 individual as in clinical medicine, and the protection of the population at large since the benefits and risks are not limited to an individual but influence communities, populations 1737 1738 and environment and such studies form the basis of health related policies and programs. It is important to realize that public health interventions have the potential to expose the 1739 1740 vulnerabilities of the communities and segments of the population, therefore, public health 1741 investigations and interventions should be conducted ethically with appropriate protections 1742 and oversight procedures put in place.

1743

1730

Defining the boundary between public health practice and research remains a critical 1744 1745 challenge within the evolving field of public health ethics. Intent of investigators is critical to 1746 determine whether the activity is part of the public health program or research. Public health practice relates to collection of data through surveillance, vital statistics, disease reporting 1747 1748 and registries; investigation of outbreaks including contact tracing, use preventive 1749 interventions and provide health education; and enforce mandatory requirements like 1750 screening, treatment, immunization, notifying diseases and sometimes quarantine 1751 depending upon the situation. By using the same epidemiological design, sampling techniques and analysis; some of these activities could create the 'generalizable knowledge' 1752 1753 same as the primary intent of research. Since it would be difficult to distinguish the boundary 1754 between practice and research, ethical oversight is required for both. This section highlights 1755 the specific ethical issues pertaining to research in epidemiology or public health for 1756 researchers, EC reviewers and decision-makers.

1757

Principle of autonomy – It is a 'relational' autonomy since interests of an individual as part of a community are relational in nature. Therefore, sometimes individual autonomy may not be appropriate for application at community level for their welfare. Community engagement is important in research on epidemiological and public health aspects. The conventional method of informed consent from individual may get replaced with alternative methods as described below at point 7.2.

76

Principle of beneficence – Since this for a societal benefit it may be considered as 'social beneficence', which requires that potential benefits to individuals and to society be maximized and that potential harms and risks at individual level be minimized. The expected benefits may be to the individual and/ or community, which may be direct/
 indirect sometimes with the interests being shared or competing as the case may be. The process of recruitment of subjects and participation in such studies should avoid excessive incentives and should strive to maintain voluntary nature of enrollment.

# Principle of proportionality where the probable public benefits may outweigh the breach of autonomy and privacy of individuals.

• Principle of non-maleficence – There should not be harm done to others while collecting 1773 1774 data and during its disclosure, e.g. stigma, poverty, and discrimination that affect both the 1775 transmission and the outcome of 'social' diseases like HIV, STD, TB, mental disorders etc. 1776 There could be indirect harm to individual/ community, harm to relationships and loss of 1777 benefit. Wherever possible, these harms should be mitigated or minimised. But sometimes it is inevitable that some degree of harm to few may occur while increasing more benefit to 1778 1779 larger groups of people by reducing their exposure to greater harm, e.g. restricting smoking to confined spaces may be more harmful to the smokers but more beneficial to the non-1780 1781 smokers.

- 1782 • Principle of justice – It would be 'social justice' as the burden and benefits of research 1783 should be equitably distributed in all study groups, the context being 'health equity' especially when vulnerable or disadvantaged population is involved. Research that retains 1784 1785 or enhances existing inequities should be avoided. The principle of reciprocity requires that 1786 the individuals or communities, which bore disproportionate share of burden or risks for 1787 the benefit of others be given back some form of benefit or compensation in kind. There is 1788 need for sensitivity to ethnic and cultural habits and norms while considering the health 1789 concerns/ burdens and self-defined information needs of the target population rather than overriding these in favor of professional pre-occupations and concerns. 1790
- Principle of Solidarity The intra- and interdependence among members of communities
   leads to solidarity for collective welfare or common good.
- 1793

#### Table 7.1 Points for designing or review of proposal

 Are the objectives of the initiative scientifically sound and linked to potential improvement in public health?
 Are the objectives achievable using the design of the research?
 Are alternatives to informed consent required?
 Is there a requirement for community engagement? If so, the methodology to be used.

5.	Who are the beneficiaries and the expected benefits?		
6.	What are the potential harms? Who would be harmed? Any measures to mitigate/		
	minimize?		
7.	Can harm over-ride the benefit? If so, can it be compensated in kind?		
8.	Is selection of participants justified?		
9.	Are burdens and benefit-harm ratio justified?		
10.	Is there social justice implied?		

1794

## 1795 7.1 Ethical Issues of Epidemiological and Public Health Research Study Designs

- These researches involve use of different study methods and tools on a large number of research subjects in single or multiple settings. Ethical issues emerge from the quality of scientific merit of the research proposal and its implementation. Thus, the research proposal must be scientifically sound and of high quality.
- 1800

#### 7.1.1 Observational studies

1801These include cross sectional studies, case control studies, cohort studies, case1802reports, case series, and other descriptive studies.

#### 1803 **7.1.2.** Experimental studies

1804These include field trials and cluster randomized controlled trials, stepped-wedge1805designs (a type of cluster randomized trial) and quasi-experimental methods. Public1806health interventions are delivered to groups, geographic areas, institutions or system1807collectively rather than individually.

#### 1808 **7.1.3.** Administrative data for research

1809 Administrative data refer to systematically collected or compiled information 1810 designed to assist in organizational operations. There is shift in use of these data 1811 from primarily managing and monitoring programs and performing audits to 1812 conducting research and informing policy. Large volume of data may be accessible 1813 from state health departments, national surveys, commercial sources and other data 1814 repositories and big data sources. In recent years, administrative data have been 1815 more widely used for research and the increase is attributed to: technology 1816 improvements that permit easier data compilation and access; its use is time- and 1817 cost-effective; data files are often population based, providing large numbers of 1818 subjects; and they permit longitudinal analysis over multiple years. While such data 1819 can provide quick and easy access to information for secondary analysis, possibilities 1820 of misinterpretation of the data, violations of terms of conditions for which data was 1821 allowed access, compromising data security, confidentiality of information;

disclosure permissions, unauthorized and misappropriate use of the data, and publication pose ethical concerns. Partnership between the investigator(s) and the representation from the department or the organization from where data is sourced is considered an important strategy to take care of some of these concerns. For ECs, it is important to clearly understand the data and the context in which it was collected and compiled before permitting research on the administrative data.

#### 1828 **7.1.4. Surveillance, Program Monitoring Data and Program Evaluations**

1829 A fundamental public health activity is to measure and monitor changes in health 1830 status, risk factors, and health service access and utilization. Surveillance is an 1831 ongoing, systematic collection, analysis, and interpretation of outcome-specific data, with the timely dissemination of these data to those responsible for preventing and 1832 1833 controlling disease or injury. These data may be used by investigators for generating 1834 new evidence to improve program performances, and for more generalizable 1835 application at other sites and contexts. Program evaluation, refers to the systematic application of scientific and statistical procedures for measuring program 1836 conceptualization, design, implementation, and utility; the comparison of these 1837 1838 measurements; and the use of the resulting information to optimize program 1839 outcomes. Evaluation research may or may not involve human subjects (health 1840 personnel, patients, community members, other stakeholders) besides screening the documents and observations of various activities at different levels. These studies may 1841 be placed under 'Exempt' category under specific situations where the sole purpose of 1842 1843 the exercise is refinement and improvement of the program or where an unspecified 1844 but large number of stakeholders are to be interviewed spread across large geographic 1845 area. Proper ethical review must be done for program evaluation research activities. 1846 The review process should ensure the scientific soundness, public health value and 1847 potential harm inherent in the protocol and the need to have permission from 1848 relevant public health authorities.

1849The ethical concerns for managing data are similar to that mentioned under the1850section of administrative data.

1851

# 1852 **7.1.5 Demographic Surveillance Sites and Registries**

1853Demographic surveillance site is a geographically defined population under continuous1854demographic monitoring, with timely production of data on all births, deaths, and1855migrations. This monitoring system should provide a platform for assessing a wide

1856range of health-system, social and economic interventions. In addition, these sites can1857also be used to monitor developmental and environmental parameters and determine1858their interaction with and impact on human health. The sites are used as platforms for1859the testing of new health and non-health interventions; and can provide feedback on1860programs' effectiveness. The aim of a surveillance site is to improve the lives of people1861living in developing countries by informing and influencing existing as well as future1862policy. They can also help define a relevant research and development agenda.

1864 Prior approval is required to set up the demographic surveillance sites (with or without 1865 the use of GIS facilities) from competent state/national authorities and from the community leadership. Setting up such sites need not be subject to prior review and 1866 1867 approval by an ethical review committee but research studies undertaken at these sites will have to undergo regular ethical review process. To safeguard the 1868 1869 confidentiality of personally identifiable records, the collected data at demographic 1870 sites must be stored in encrypted format and primary identifiers accessible only to restricted designated individuals who are bound by confidentiality agreement. 1871

1872 Registries that are setup as part of research projects require prior approval of EC. On 1873 the other hand, registries may be set as part of the public health programs, which may 1874 be exempt from ethical review process. Certificate from EC secretariat should be 1875 obtained if the data is de-identified. But when the data emerging from these registries 1876 is proposed to be used for research, approval of EC will be required. The ethical 1877 concerns are similar to that mentioned under administrative data.

1878 **7.1.6. Implementation Research** 

1863

1879At local, national, and global levels, a persistent challenge is to effectively implement1880and scale up policies, programs, and interventions that can save lives and improve1881health. A new approach to achieve these goals is through implementation research1882(IR), which raises unique challenges for research ethics committees particularly when1883the research is co-designed and co-implemented with implementers and end users i.e.1884community.

1885 IR is a type of health policy and systems research that draws on many traditions and 1886 disciplines of research and practice. It builds on operations research, participatory 1887 action research, management science, quality improvement, implementation science, 1888 and impact evaluation. Implementation research requires flexible designs to account 1889 for the changing contexts and interventions. IR may involve simple methods that 1890 implementers can use to identify and apply to solve problems. It may also involve 1891 more sophisticated research designs and specialized analyses to explain how and why 1892 a policy works, how best to scale a program, or how to introduce and expand an 1893 innovation. Implementation science involves the partnership of researchers and 1894 stakeholders, for attempting to understand and encourage uptake of piloted or 1895 completed research or program. A co-creation approach involves collaboration 1896 between researchers and end users from the onset, in question framing, research 1897 design and delivery, and influencing strategy, with implementation and broader 1898 dissemination strategies as part of its design from gestation. A defining feature of cocreation is its emergent and adaptive nature, making detailed pre-specification of 1899 1900 interventions and outcome measures impossible. This methodology sits oddly with EC 1901 protocols that require precise pre-definition of interventions, mode of delivery, 1902 outcome measurements, and the role of study participants. Implementation research 1903 uses theory of change, examining natural diversity and the interaction of the 1904 intervention in the context to produce actionable knowledge. It often uses mixed 1905 (quantitative and qualitative) methodologies, and analyses in terms of 'intention to 1906 reach', rather than 'intention to treat', for equitable population health impact. This requires the ECs to better understand the approach of co-creation and co-1907 1908 participatory nature of the research design, wherein consultations and refinement of 1909 programs and policies during the course of their implementation become research.

1910 It is important for ECs to acknowledge the need for flexibility in these studies, but they 1911 need to ensure not to allow loopholes that will permit partisan interests to 'move the 1912 goalposts' in more conventional research designs. With co-creation design, there is a 1913 move from protection of individual participants to the development of a relationship 1914 between researchers, implementers and community partners, which is mutually 1915 advantageous. The participant on whom research is done is actively engaged in 1916 designing and implementing the research process. Here there is distribution of power 1917 between 'researchers' and other stakeholders including those 'researched' at least to certain extent. ECs should acknowledge these aspects of implementation research and 1918 1919 delivery sciences - both formally (by undergoing training) and informally (by 1920 encouraging discussion and debate). Researchers should establish partnership 1921 governance and outline the core components of a planned intervention before the 1922 ethics application is submitted. The theoretical 'core' of a complex intervention, must 1923be kept constant, and its local application and implementation can and should be1924flexible across sites and settings, within a broad conceptual framework. This will allow1925implementation elements open to modification based on evolving local situations and1926contexts. The ethics for the co-creation and co-participation aspects of1927implementation research are an emerging area and shall keep growing as more1928experience accumulates.

#### 1929 7.2 Informed Consent

- 1930 7.2.1 Waiver of Consent Most epidemiological and public health research would follow
   1931 standard informed consent guidelines. The EC can consider the risks and benefits
   1932 involved in using clinical details and biological samples and take a decision whether
   1933 consent waiver can be granted in following conditions (Table 7.2) –
- 1934

- Table 7.2
- 1. On routinely collected data under program conditions: This includes research involving linkage to large anonymous databases of information that has been routinely collected (including administrative data, surveillance activities).
- 2. In circumstances when obtaining consent is impractical (e.g. stored anonymous data/biological samples, surveillance and administrative data) or use of personal non-identifiable data/material available from public health programs is proposed, the risks are minimal and societal needs override individual rights, risks and benefits of research.
- 3. Studies performed within the scope of regulatory and public health authorities for e.g., process and impact evaluations of national policies and programs, neonatal screening programs, diabetes screening as part of national program activities etc.
- 4. Studies that are not being done with the intent of research and the primary purpose is refinement and improvement of the public health programs.
- 5. Studies using health related registries that are authorized under national regulations.
- 6. Not practical to obtain consent in large geographical clusters in cluster randomisation trials and several implementation research.

1935

# 1936 **7.2.2 Alternatives to consent (Table 7.3)**

1937

# Table 7.3

1.	These may be broad consent, opt-out option, consultation with only a small
	representative group of the population of interest
2.	For research on sensitive topics verbal consent or pseudonyms may be

	suitable.
3.	Cluster randomized trials (CRT) and implementation researches are examples
	where ECs will have to decide on the complex issues of feasibility and type of
	consent to be obtained from the participants.

1938

1939 7.2.3 Re-consenting in longitudinal studies (Table 7.4) –

1940

#### Table 7.4

1.	If there is no change in the study protocol there is no need for re consenting
2.	There is need for re-consenting when there is change in protocol, new
	information is sought/ or intervention is introduced/ or new information is
	available which has likely influence on the study participants.
3.	Other guidelines for re-consent as described in Section 4 Informed Consent
	Process should be followed.

1941

#### 1942 **7.3 EC's role**

- 19437.3.1ECs should ensure data security, confidentiality of information, disclosure1944permissions and appropriate use of the accessed data.
- 1945 7.3.2 EC members need to give sufficient weight to the importance of social benefit and 1946 the public health impact these studies may be addressing. In both cluster randomisation trials and implementation studies, obtaining participant informed 1947 1948 consent raises logistic and methodological concerns. Sometimes participants in 1949 randomized clusters or area with implementation activity cannot avoid certain 1950 interventions, which imply that participant informed consent refers only to data 1951 collection, not administration of an intervention. Occasionally, complete participant 1952 information may be a source of selection bias, which then raises methodological 1953 concerns. Participant informed consent should therefore be reviewed by EC 1954 differently in both these types of research than in individually randomized trials 1955 because of methodological consequences. The hierarchical structure of such trials 1956 implies the consideration of two levels of consent. The first level is the 'gatekeeper(s)' who could be the 'guardian,' or the local authorities who are 1957 1958 normally responsible for their well-being, who give permission for the participation 1959 and randomization of individual participation. The other level is individual 1960 participants, consent from whom can cover different aspects: (i) consent that 1961 routinely held data on individuals be collected, (ii) consent regarding the collection of 1962 supplementary data and (iii) consent for active participation. The ECs will have to 1963 take decisions regarding the consent on case-to-case basis.

1964 There may be selective withholding of the information/ hypothesis of the study in 7.3.3 1965 the consent form for achieving public good without influencing the outcome of the 1966 study (e.g. psychology, neuro-behavioural, behaviour intervention trial). This may be 1967 permitted by the ECs with the provision that complete transparency will be 1968 maintained for sharing of the withheld information with the participants after 1969 completion of the study (debriefing of participants post-research) whenever 1970 possible. Authorized deception (AD) unlike active deception is another method of 1971 informing participants prior to the study that it will not be described accurately or 1972 that some procedures will be deceptive. Such revelation provides the participants an 1973 opportunity to decide whether or not to participate on these terms. AD must receive the explicit approval of the ethical review committee after it has reviewed the 1974 1975 necessity of the withholding of information, minimization aspects of attendant risks 1976 to participants, and the adequacy of the procedures for "debriefing" the 1977 participation after completion of the study. If research involves incomplete 1978 disclosure but no deception then it falls within one or more of the categories of 'exempt from consent' research. Research employing deception may not be 1979 1980 reviewed as exempt from consent and if that involves mild deception where the 1981 topic is not sensitive and the participants are not vulnerable it can be categorized 1982 under 'Expedited review'.

1983

#### 7.4 Protecting participants and communities

Special provisions in the design and execution of the epidemiological/ public health studies that are likely to have the potential of exploitation of research participants: socioeconomically deprived people; people who have limited access to health care may misunderstand the research as an opportunity to receive medical care and other benefits; financial incentives for participants. ECs have to consider these proactively. Specific measures should also be in place to protect the welfare of related community members who have not participated.

#### 1990 **7.5 Declaration of conflict of interest**

1991 Conflicts of interest can affect public trust and support for public health research, and scientific 1992 judgment and thus harm scientific objectivity. Researchers are therefore, to be encouraged to 1993 explicitly disclose conflict of interest both financial and non-financial.

1994

# 8. Research in Social and Behavioral Sciences

1996

1995

1997 8.0 The context of research on Social and Behavioral Sciences is often different from the 1998 clinical/ biomedical research as these research initiatives may not have immediate tangible 1999 'social relevance and benefits' yet would be relevant in the mid/ long term to science and 2000 society. Many research efforts will also have scholarship value besides relevance for policy 2001 and program development. More recently, such studies are done as a precursor to the 2002 execution of major implementation research projects. Similarly community behavioral 2003 studies are conducted before introduction of new interventions and refinement of existing 2004 ones. Thus, depending upon the context, social science studies can also have immediate 2005 and immense relevance to program and policy. With greater confidence developing among 2006 community of academics and program managers, social science and behavioral science 2007 methods are becoming integral part of evaluation of several public health programs to 2008 determine the processes and client as well as provider behavior. To be judicious and ethical 2009 in judging human behavior, the details of symbolic communication of culture, which 2010 includes a group's skills, knowledge, attitudes, values, and motives has to understood as it 2011 influences a participant's response to research. 'Ethical relativism' implies to moral 2012 diversity among culture and people. In view of the above, the ECs should be aware of the 2013 challenges that may be encountered in the process of conducting such studies.

2014

#### 2015 8.1 Some of the key features of research proposals in Social and Behavior Sciences are

- 20168.1.1There is an ever-increasing need of interdisciplinary approach to biomedical2017research. The conventional social science research in health underscores the2018importance of bringing contemporary context to biomedical research.
- 20198.1.2It has now emerged as a cross cutting area of enquiry relevant to almost every2020medical/ biomedical research clinical trials, epidemiological research, program2021evaluations, implementation research, genetics, research in disaster and conflict2022contexts.
- 2023 8.1.3 There are specific ethical challenges involved in social and behavior sciences studies
  2024 (Table 8.1) -
- 2025

1.	Non-tangible risks which might be misconceived as no/ minimum risks research;
2.	Perceptions of risks and benefits would be different which may transcend
	physical and mental safety to social risks and safety;
3.	Data sharing related research ethics obligations; and

			4. What would constitute ancillary care during such research;
2026			
2027		8.1.4	Ethical challenges are more pronounced in international collaborative research due
2028			to possible inequity of expertise and knowledge access between partnering
2029			institutions and investigators. Refer to the section 11. International Collaboration for
2030			further details.
2031		8.1.5	Appropriate experts/ expertise of EC members in social and behavior sciences
2032			domain is an essential aspect to address the above challenges.
2033			
2034	8.2	Ethic	al Challenges and Strategies to Address -
2035		8.2.1	Scientific design and conduct of the study (Qualitative Studies) -
2036			Table 8.2
		1. L	ike any other research the investigators must ensure that the proposed studies are cientifically sound, built on an adequate prior knowledge base, and are likely to enerate valuable information.
		2. V	When research involves patriarchal or restrictive communities, the attitude and
		a	ttire of research team should respect that community's cultural norms/ practices,
		e	.g. male member of research team as lead discussant; welcome offerings practiced
		b	y that community to gain entrance in its territory.
		3. F	ield work challenges for research team – women may not be allowed to come out of
		ti f	he nouse in the open for responses or access may be denied to men external to the
		si	ituations. Training would be required for the research team to meet such challenges
		W	vithout getting affected by them or if affected appropriate counseling be provided.
2027			
2037		0 2 2 1	
2038		8.2.2 E	
2039		Tł	nere are some unique features of qualitative research, which need to be
2040		a	opreciated by the EC on a case-to-case basis.
2041			Table 8.3
		1.	Social sciences are not positivist and therefore articulation of a hypothesis may not
			be possible at the beginning of the study. Instruments/ documents are developed
			during the course of the study, are reflective and may keep changing as the study
			progresses. The EC must be kept informed about the changes in the study protocol
		2	The investigator must take a prior permission from EC with justifiable reasons for
		2.	audio/ video recording of the interview of the participants.
		1	,

# 2042 8.2.3 Risks Assessment

- 2043
- Participants of research in behavioral and social science face the potential of being

2044 exposed to some risks greater than that during quantitative research protocols. 2045 The investigators and research team must understand the dignity of the 2046 community and the cultural context to avoid hurting and transgressing concepts of 2047 dignitary, social, and informational harms.

2048

2049Dignitary harm is likely to occur when individuals are not treated as persons with2050their own values, preferences, and commitments, but rather as mere means, not2051deserving respect. This is also sometimes classified as another form of negligence.2052This may result in individuals feeling hurt at the core of their being, humiliated,2053excluded, dismissed or treated unfairly.

2054

2060

2055Social harm is non-medical adverse consequences of study participation, including2056difficulties in personal relationships and stigma or discrimination from family or2057community. Social harms can be related to personal relationships, travel,2058employment, education, health, housing, with government establishment and2059others.

2061 Informational risk is the potential for harm from disclosure of information about 2062 an identified research participant. For much of social and behavioral research, 2063 informational risk is one of the primary risks, so social and behavioral research is 2064 particularly concerned with its management. Data sharing, which is common in 2065 social and behavioral research and is becoming increasingly common in biomedical 2066 research, requires specific plans for managing informational risk. Changing 2067 circumstances and technology can create new challenges for managing 2068 informational risk. The aggregate risks of the proposed studies must be considered 2069 appropriate in light of the potential benefits to participants and the social value of 2070 the research.

2071

- 1. Risk mitigation against the potential risks mentioned above and minimizing their negative impacts (like short and long term adverse impacts on the participant e.g. abortion, sexual abuse studies and other sensitive areas) should be incorporated in to research methods.
- 2. Community engagement for pitching on to methods and interpretation of observations Investigators should engage potential participants and communities in a meaningful participatory process that involves them in an early and sustained manner in the design, development, implementation, and monitoring of research,

and in the distribution of its results.

2072

### 2073 8.2.4 Informed Consent

Human participants in proposed research study must be informed about the nature of research project, and investigators/ research team must obtain their consent prior to their participation in study.

2077

- 1. Community consent/ Gatekeeper consent/ Individual consent on key behavioral studies - In some circumstances individual informed consent has to be taken after obtaining the permission of 'gatekeepers' community heads or leaders/ culturally appropriate local authorities/ healthcare givers/Institutions or organizations responsible for child welfare or appointed advocates. Such procedures must respect local cultural customs. This may be a community tradition but does not substitute individual consent unless a waiver has been granted.
- 2. Participant consent Investigators must develop culturally appropriate ways to communicate information necessary for adherence to the standard required in the informed consent process. The ECs may permit selective withholding of the information/ hypothesis of the study in the consent form for achieving over all social and public good without influencing the outcome of the study. On completion of the research the participants should be de-briefed if applicable. Authorized deception (AD) as described in 7.3.3 is applicable here also.
- 3. **Relational autonomy** As in research on epidemiology or Public health the participant is part of the family or community and therefore culturally is not autonomous in decision-making. EC may take into account the context with due diligence regarding their vulnerable status during review e.g. a woman asking her husband or family before giving consent;
- 4. Waiving Informed consent If the research has important social and public health value and poses no more than minimal risks to participants the EC may waive off individual informed consent if it is convinced that the research would not be feasible or practicable to carry out without a waiver e.g. research on illegal and harmful practices. Refer to the section 4 on informed consent Process for specific examples of waiver.

#### 2078 8.2.5 Privacy & Confidentiality (Table 8.6)

#### 2079

#### Table 8.6

- 1. Appointments for interviews with specification of place and setting may be obtained to maintain privacy and confidentiality of the research participants.
- 2. Sensitive research areas specific contexts and settings: In some circumstances women become more vulnerable in research because of heightened psychological, social, physical or legal risks. Examples include surveys and interviews regarding intimate partner violence and rape; social and behavioral research involving sex workers or gender identity; substance users; and the studies that solicit information about sexual behavior. Breach of confidentiality in these types of research may cause serious harms to women and other vulnerable participants. It is important to protect study participants to future risks and harms with culturally sensitive and context specific safeguards in place.
- 3. If findings have to be reported to authorities the participants should be informed of it prior to taking informed assent/ consent and also told what part of the information will be communicated.

2080

### 2081 8.2.6 Duty to disclosure (Table 8.7)

2082

- 1. In some specific circumstances researchers may come across situations where research participants carry a potential to harm to self or others, e.g. suicidal tendency, drug resistant health condition. In such a situation researchers should disclose this information to relevant authorities to avert untowardly incidents.
- 2. 'Incidental findings' during the study may be disclosed to the individual, family, community as required during post interview/study debriefing, e.g., HIV positivity. This debriefing reporting to the relevant stakeholder ensures that such strategies will not contribute to generating trust deficit between study communities and researchers.
- 3. Investigators and EC should have the basic understanding of the legal provisions in the related area.

#### 2084 8.2.7 Sharing qualitative research data

2085 Sharing raw data and notes with repositories, investigators, peer community, 2086 institutions, and funders is increasingly becoming a requirement across the globe. 2087 Special care should be taken to maintain confidentiality of individual, location and 2088 research setting.

2089 Community Authorization - Investigators should share research findings in aggregated
 2090 form and relevant information in a client friendly format with community leaders,
 2091 gatekeepers and communities without disclosing individual identity.

2092 8.2.8 Etic and Emic issues

There are two perspectives – emic and etic – pertaining to society's cultural system, which have a bearing on the research on social and behavioral science. The emic perspective focuses on the intrinsic cultural distinctions that are meaningful to the members of a given society. The native members of a culture are the sole judges of the validity of an emic description which is observed by a researcher from outside as a nonparticipant.

2099

2100 The etic perspective relies upon the extrinsic concepts and categories that have meaning 2101 for scientific observers (e.g., per capita energy consumption). Here the scientists are the 2102 sole judges of the validity of etic account i.e. scientific determinations of a fact.

- 2103
  - 00
- 2104

Table 8.8

These perspectives should be appreciated in the following context (Table 8.8) -

1.	Data collection, interpretation, language nuances and interpretation require
	deep understanding of the context and cultural dimensions.

2. Investigators must explicitly declare their etic/ emic status and should consider these while interpreting the data and presenting the results;

- In case the main investigators have etic background, local investigators with emic perspective should also be involved
- As quality assurance measures, strategies for data triangulations including engagement of multiple investigators with diverse perspectives may be desirable
- 3. Investigators should declare upfront the limitations and validity of the research findings.

2105

2106 8.2.9 Safety of participants (Table 8.9) –

2107

Table 8.9

1. Support systems like counseling centres, rehabilitation centres, police

2	Dublic religion and engine records aculd provide engillery are to porticipants on
	woman abuse, child abuse;
	protection etc. should be in place when research is on sensitive issue, e.g.

2. Public policies and social programs could provide ancillary care to participants as the case may be.

2108

# 2109 8.2.10 Safety of research teams in the field (Table 8.10)

2110

# Table 8.10

- 1. The safety of the research team is the responsibility of institutions and investigators particularly in projects dealing with sensitive topics or sensitive research settings
- 2. Institutions should take measures to provide safety to the team members including insurance coverage and community engagement (Having SOPs for handling deteriorating situations, having a line of communication, communication plan).

2111

# 2112 8.2.11 Communication

The investigator(s) and research teams will have to spend time in understanding and establishing communication with the community where the research is to be conducted. Institutions should develop or have the SOPs for handling deteriorating situations, including a pre-tested communication plan.

- 2117
- \_\_\_/
- 2118

# 9. Human Genetics Testing and Research

2119 2120

2121 9.0 In no other area of biomedical research has there been a greater concern for ethical 2122 issues than in the field of human genetics. In recent years this concern has grown even 2123 further because of direct to consumer testing and the possibilities of embryo 2124 manipulations. While the recent DNA technology has provided one of the most powerful 2125 tools in the hands of mankind to unravel the mysteries of the human genome and 2126 manipulate the genome, it has also led to a great deal of concern about our ability to 2127 handle such information. This is another area where the gap between routine genetic 2128 testing and research is very narrow. There are several Ethical, Legal and Social Issues (ELSI) which are raised by genetic testing and research which warrant continuous 2129 2130 monitoring and responding to emerging ethical issues promptly and judiciously.

2131

# 2132 General Issues

- The harm may not be physical but can be psychosocial and may produce anxiety, depression of affect family relationships
  - Appropriate communication skills are required for genetic counselling which is akin to therapy
- There is a likelihood of social stigmatization and discrimination in schooling, employment, health and general insurance, which requires much greater care in recruiting participants in research study
- Obtaining informed consent and maintaining confidentiality is more important as genetic disorders are generally a societal taboo
- There is a very thin line of distinction and often an overlap between genetic research and services for the physician as well as the patient and therefore adequate safeguards are needed.
- Genetic manipulations may have known or unknown consequences for the future and therefore greater care towards potential dangers is necessary
- Emerging genetic/ genomic technologies bring to the fore newer ethical concerns and issues. There is a need for professionals to keep abreast with knowledge and understand implications of these technologies
- The EC reviewing genetic research should have necessary expertise to understand the ethical implications and provide safeguards for research participants

#### 2134 9.1 Privacy and confidentiality

The investigator should explain to the patient/ participant the specific nature of the confidentiality of the data generated through genetic testing/ research. Disclosure of genetic diagnosis has the potential to cause psychosocial harm in the form of anxiety and depression or familial disharmony, discrimination and stigmatisation of individuals, families or communities, population groups and therefore, needs careful handling.

- 9.1.1 The investigator must understand that the results generated for health care and forresearch from the same patient should be kept separately.
- 21429.1.2Participants should be told of the limits of the investigator's ability to safeguard2143confidentiality and the anticipated consequences of breach of confidentiality.
- 9.1.3 The investigator must delink data (in various ways described below) for maintaining
  the confidentiality to securely safeguard the information. If the result of the research
  is of benefit to the health of the participant, then with the approval of EC, data could
  be re-linked for communication of the result.
- 21489.1.4Pre- and post-test counselling is a must to minimize psychosocial harm and2149stigmatisation.
- 9.1.5 Genetic research requires collection of family history and details about other
  members of the family leading to involvement of secondary participants, which will
  require informed consent from the latter as information identifies them.
- 9.1.6 An individual has the right to keep her/ his information generated by
  screening/testing confidential and not share it with family members to avoid
  possibility of domestic disputes if the genetic information is damaging (e.g., results
  revealing non-paternity, disease carrier status or others).
- 9.1.7 The investigator can not reveal the genetic information to family members without
  her/ his permission.
- 21599.1.8If family members are recruited/ tested then their information should be kept2160confidential from each other by the physician/ investigator.
- 9.1.9 If disclosure is absolutely warranted to provide treatment or counselling, thephysician has to first obtain informed consent from the family member concerned.
- 9.1.10 If the family member does not consent then the physician should weigh the risks ofnon-disclosure vs breach of confidentiality and take appropriate decision.
- 9.1.11 Care must be taken to respect the privacy of all the individuals, especially if large
  data is generated (Clinical diagnosis, genetic test results).
- 2167 9.1.12 Methods to mitigate these harms should be described in the proposal.

- 9.1.13 When predictive and presymptomatic genetic testing is involved or individualised
  genetic medicine is practiced, there is a need to have a team of Clinicians,
  Geneticist, Genetic counsellor and Laboratory personnel who should work
  together.
- 9.1.14 Storage of samples with potential for future genetic research should be done withappropriate consent and EC review.
- 9.1.15 Transfer to or sharing of biological material and/ or data with other laboratorieswithin or outside the country should be done as per relevant guidelines.
- 9.1.16 Handling Intellectual Property Rights (IPR) related to gene patenting and
  development of newer technologies for commercial gains should follow the
  applicable National policy/ regulations
- 9.1.17 Newer genomic techniques for research like Whole Exome Sequencing (WES) and
  Whole Genome Sequencing (WGS) may create uncertain evidence at the present
  level of knowledge, therefore, the confidentiality of data, and pre-test and post-test
  counselling need to be revisited with an entirely new perspective.
- 2183 9.2 Informed consent
- 2184 More stringent norms and highest standards of caution should be followed in the consent 2185 process when done for research purposes.
- 9.2.1 For routine genetic diagnostic testing, written consent may or may not be needed as
  per institutional policies; however it is required for any research. Informed written
  consent is a must for presymptomatic testing and Next Generation Sequencing
  (NGS).
- 9.2.2 It needs to be emphasized that consent for screening or a subsequent confirmatory
  test does not imply consent to any specific treatment or termination of the
  pregnancy.
- 9.2.3 Specific consent is required from the affected proband to share her/ his geneticinformation with family members who may be benefited from it.
- 9.2.4 If the research or testing involves a child, appropriate age specific assent (oral/
  written) should be obtained (refer section 5 on Vulnerability for further details).
- 9.2.5 Specific Consent: In addition to the general contents specified under section 4 on
  Informed Consent Process, the consent form for genetic testing for research should
  have the following additional elements:-
  - The nature of information that would be generated, and the complexity in the generated information

2200	• The nature and consequences of return of results should be clearly explained and specified in the informed consent document (ICD) and the participant
2201	offered a choice whether to receive or not that information and incidental
2202	findings, if any.
2203	• Direct/ indirect benefits to the participants and their implications. If there are
2204	no direct benefits to the participants it should be mentioned in the ICD.
2205	How the data/ samples will be stored and shared and for how long,
2206	procedures involved anonymisation Refer to details in section 10 on Biological materials. Biobanking and Datasets)
2207	<ul> <li>The participants should be given the choice to opt out of testing/ withdraw</li> </ul>
2208	from research anytime they would want to.
2209	• Sharing of samples with other researchers/ laboratories, ownership rights, IPR
2210	concerns, commercialization aspects, benefits sharing, consent types and
2211	procedures (refer to Section 10. Biological materials, Biobanking and Datasets for further details)
2212	
2213	9.3 Group Consent/ Community Consent
2214	9.3.1 Genetic research on community or population groups generate information
2215	applicable to the community/ populations from which the participants were drawn,
2216	and therefore, 'group consent' must be taken from the community head and/ or
2217	the culturally appropriate authority.
2218	9.3.2 Even if group consent is taken, it will not be a replacement for individual consent.
2219	Refer to Section 4 on Informed Consent for further details.
2220	
2221	9.4 Storage of samples for future genetic research
2222	Rapid advances in Science and Technology have necessitated the storage of biological
2223	materials for future research. The samples from patients with rare genetic conditions,
2224	ethnic groups/ tribes/ populations on the verge of extinction, endogamous groups and
2225	others have great value and need to be preserved for future research. Refer to details on
2226	issues related to biobanking and data sets in Section 10 on Biological materials, Biobanking
2227	and Datasets.
2228	
2229	9.5 Return of Results
2230	9.5.1 Results cannot be returned for the advantage of participants when the research is
2231	done using irreversibly anonymised samples or data as identifying the individuals is
2232	not possible.

- 9.5.2 If there is possibility of returning the results, the report should clearly mention thatthe test has been done only for research purposes.
- 9.5.3 Return of the results depends on the research findings. If results are anticipated to
  be 'actionable', leading to potential benefits of improving health outcome through
  correction of diet as therapy or prevention (e.g. phenyl ketonuria) by delaying
  onset or reduction of disease burden, they need to be communicated to the
  participants. This should also be reported to the participants if they wish to know
  the results and this must be specified in the ICD. For this, their contact details
  should be available to do so.
- 9.5.4 The investigator should work with the local EC to decide on the validity of the
  research finding and the magnitude of the severity of the potential disease in order
  to return the results which should be avoided if the logical outcome of the research
  is expected to be inconclusive and the participants informed about it in the ICD.
- 2246

#### 2247 9.6 Consanguinity

- 9.6.1 Consanguineous marriages are in practice in some communities. If there are
  inherited diseases detected in the family, it is the responsibility of the health
  professionals/ researchers to inform them regarding the possible implications that
  may arise due to consanguinity.
- 9.6.2 Appropriate pedigrees need to be prepared and stored as these can reveal a lotregarding the disease inheritance in affected families.
- 2254

#### 2255 9.7 Publication Aspects

9.7.1 Publication of pictures, pedigrees or other identifying information about individual
or family members or secondary participant(s) should be done with fresh or reconsent.

# 9.7.2 Features on the face should be masked to prevent identification. If these features have to be revealed for scientific reasons, this fact should be stated clearly in consent form and fresh or re-consent must be obtained.

2262

# 2263 9.8 Culturally Sensitive Issues

# 22649.8.1Transmission of the genetic abnormality from parents especially the mother to the2265fetus could be culturally a very sensitive issue. Such possibility arises when the wife is2266found to be a carrier of X-linked or recessive disease during routine testing or pre-

natal diagnosis reveals an affected fetus or as a carrier of fatal or late onset disease
conditions (e.g. haemophilia, nonsyndromic deafness, mitochondrial conditions
where female fetus could transmit the abnormality to next progeny etc. or
Huntington's disease etc).

- 9.8.2 In view of the cultural background of our society, woman is still a vulnerable and
  exploited participant. Revealing information to the husband or other members of the
  family that his wife is the carrier of chromosomal abnormality (e.g. balanced
  chromosomal translocation) leading to recurrent abortions or a genetic syndrome in
  her child or that she is a carrier of a single gene abnormality causing 'X' linked or
  recessive disease, may lead to grounds for a divorce despite the fact that the
  husband himself is a carrier of the autosomal recessive disorder.
- 2278

#### 2279 9.9 Conflict of Interest

- 9.9.1 Direct to Consumer Testing (DTC) in laboratories offering a battery of genetic tests is
  rapidly growing. While this ensures patient's autonomy to undergo testing, it is
  important that the sensitivity and specificity of these investigations and the ability of
  the laboratory personnel to interpret the result is ensured before arriving at a
  diagnosis. A researcher's alliance with such a laboratory would constitute conflict of
  interest.
- 9.9.2 When research is conducted by commercial companies, steps should be taken to
  protect researchers and participants from possible coercion or inducement.
  Academic or research institutions involved in such an alliance require a strong
  review to probe possible conflicts of interest between scientific responsibilities of
  researchers and business interests (e.g. ownership or part-ownership of the
  investigator in the company developing a new product).
- 9.9.3 An EC should determine if the conflict of interest could damage the scientific
  integrity of a project or cause harm to research participants, it should advise
  accordingly. Institutions need self-regulatory processes to monitor, prevent and
  resolve such conflicts of interest.
- 9.9.4 Prospective participants in research should also be informed of the sources of
  funding of research, so that they become aware of the potential conflicts of interest
  and commercial aspects of the research.

2299

2300 9.10 Defining risks and benefits

- 2301 9.10.1 Potential risks and benefits should be discussed thoroughly with prospective2302 participants.
- 2303 9.10.2 In genetic research, the primary risks are psychosocial rather than physical.
- 2304 9.10.3 Adequate counselling should be given to participants on the implication(s) of genetic2305 information they receive.
- 9.10.4 Pre- and Post-test non-directive counselling should be given by those persons who
  are qualified and experienced in communicating the meaning of genetic information
  as some conditions may require termination of pregnancy or selection of embryos
  to avert birth of a genetically abnormal child/ fetus. Appropriate options should be
  provided to the family to come to a decision while disclosing the result.
- 9.10.5 While general principles of counselling require presence of both the spouses,
  necessary care and caution must be taken not to end up breaking the families.
  Truthful counselling with extreme caution and patience is essential to explain the
  situation in a proper perspective in order to minimize the psychosocial harm.
- 9.10.6 Genetic testing and research should be preceded and followed with non directive
  genetic counselling as some conditions may require termination of pregnancy or
  selection of embryos to avert birth of a genetically abnormal child/ fetus.
  Appropriate options should be provided to the family to come to a decision while
  disclosing the result.
- 2320

#### 2321 9.11 Vulnerability

- 9.11.1 Genetic testing and research often require dealing with persons who are unable to
   protect their rights and safety and may be vulnerable like children, mentally and
   cognitively impaired individuals, people with rare diseases and others.
- 2325 9.11.2 General and specific guidelines have to be followed as per section 5 on Vulnerability.
- 2326

#### 2327 9.12 Fetal Autopsy

- 2328 9.12.1 Fetal autopsy should be done after informed consent, preferably from both parents.
- 9.12.2 Relevant samples may be stored for possible future use following the guidelines ofBiological materials, Biobanking and Datasets Section 10.
- 9.12.3 Adequate genetic counselling should be done to explain the requirements andbenefits of autopsy to the family.
- 2333
- 2334 9.13 Issues related to Adoption

- 9.13.1 There will be occasions when the prospective adoptive parents desire to screen a
  child for genetic diseases before they reach a decision to adopt that child. In such
  situations, indications for pre-adoptive screening will be similar to screening of
  children of biological parents.
- 9.13.2 Applying the "Principle of Justice" for equitable distribution, the adoptive parents
  need not know more information at the time of adoption than a biological parent
  would know at the time of birth. This stems from the concern that the harm of
  screening should not be more than the benefit it might cause.
- 2343

#### 2344 9.14 Role of Medical Team in Genetic testing and research

- 9.14.1 Adequate awareness should be created by professional societies and universities
  regarding genetic diseases, their prevention, screening and prenatal diagnosis
  amongst the Obstetrician, Geneticists, Paediatricians, Neonatologists, radiologists,
  laboratory professionals and others.
- 9.14.2 The laboratory personnel, attending physician and the counsellors should possess a
  formal qualification/ sufficient experience in genetics or should have undergone
  training in genetics and also inter-professional relationship if possible.
- 9.14.3 The concerned specialists dealing with genetic disorders should ideally undergo
  training in genetic counselling and devote time to enable them to handle sensitive
  issues appropriately.
- 2355

#### 2356 9.15 Quality standards of the laboratory

- 9.15.1 Any misinterpretation of genetic results or misdiagnosis may lead to psychological
  harm, and unnecessary or inappropriate intervention. Hence it is important to set
  standards for laboratories to ensure that the test results are reliable, the manpower
  is competent and the care provider is updated in developments in genetics.
- 9.15.2 All laboratories offering genetic testing should consider undergoing quality
   accreditation standards which are specific to genetic testing laboratories.
- 2363

# 2364 9.16 Genetic Diagnosis/ Testing and Screening

History and Pedigree studies: These involve obtaining history of other members of the family of the proband under investigation. It may reveal information about the likelihood of individual members of the family being either carriers of genetic defects or being affected by the disease. Privacy and confidentiality issues involved in this process are given in detail at 9.2.

#### 2369 9.17 Predictive Genetic testing

- The results of genetic test in diseases which are multifactorial in origin, have a polygenic basis, involve multiple genes or gene – environment interaction, must be communicated carefully so that unnecessary worry or fear is not created in the mind of individuals.
- 2373 9.18 Genetic Screening
- 2374 Genetic screening implies search in population of those individuals who have, or are 2375 susceptible to a serious genetic disease; or who, though not at risk themselves, are carriers 2376 and thus risk having children with a particular genetic disease.
- 9.18.1 It is essential that screening must be purposive. Besides validation of screening
  tests, it shall also be ensured that a suitable intervention and counselling is made
  possible.
- 9.18.2 Those being screened are entitled to receive sufficient information about what is
  proposed to be done, reliability of the screening test, and what will be done with the
  collected samples.
- 9.18.3 Although screening may be permissible to allay anxiety, the response of different
  individuals might vary, which should be borne in mind by the health care provider.
- 9.18.4 Depending on the nature and pattern of inheritance of the genetic defect the
  implication for other relatives, children and future offsprings should be
  understood.
- 9.18.5 Confidentiality should be maintained in handling of results with emphasis on
  responsibility of individuals with an abnormal result to inform partners and family
  members. In case of refusal, duty of confidentiality shall weigh higher than the duty
  for beneficence to family members unless sharing of information is vital to prevent
  serious harm to the beneficiary in the family. In such case appropriate precautions
  may be taken to ensure that only the genetic information needed for diagnosis/
  treatment is shared.
- 9.18.6 Screening tests should be sensitive enough to identify a significant proportion of
  affected persons (the detection rate) with minimal misidentification of unaffected
  persons (the false positive rate). Screening tests do not aim to make a diagnosis,
  but rather rationalise the use of more accurate confirmatory tests.
- 2399 9.19 Prenatal Screening

It is aimed to screen mothers and fetuses who are at high risk of having functional or
structural defects including chromosomal and single gene disorders. There are many
screening tests which are recommended in routine practice.

- 9.19.1 Biochemical and ultrasound screening-Using various combinations of serum
  screening and ultrasound, screening tests are done either during first (dual marker)
  or second trimester (triple or quadruple screening) for aneuploidy screening. It is
  important to discuss about detection rates, false positive and negative results.
- 2407 9.19.2 Ideally all antenatal mothers (not only high risk) should be offered screening2408 routinely.
- 9.19.3 It is to be noted that a positive screening test does not mean that the fetus isaffected nor does a negative test confirm an unaffected fetus.
- 2411

9.20 Newborn screening (NBS) – NBS is a robust modality of secondary prevention leading to
 early diagnosis with timely intervention and should ideally be in a program mode and not
 offered as a 'test'.

- 9.20.1 Screening of newborns is ideal to detect those genetic diseases the serious effects of
  which could be prevented by a suitable intervention such as a special diet or drug
  e.g. hypothyroidism, phenylketonuria and many other inborn errors of metabolism.
- 9.20.2 It should not be generally done when there is no existing therapeutic modalities
  available (e.g., special diets) or treatment is very expensive or its cost is not
  provided routinely by the government and is not affordable by most families (e.g.,
  Lysosomal storage disorders) or there is no known intervention for management.

2422 9.20.3 Community education regarding NBS should precede the initiation of the program.

- 9.20.4 Availability of facilities for confirmatory diagnosis and experts for management of
  the disorders has to be in place before initiating the program.
- 9.20.5 Use of advanced technologies like chromosomal micro array (CMA) and Whole
  Exome sequencing (WES) for NBS will generate many new dimensions for debate in
  this area.

2428 9.21 Screening of children

- 9.21.1 Children should not be screened for carrier status or disease merely at the requestof their parents.
- 2431 9.21.2 The child's autonomy should dominate over parental autonomy.
- 9.21.3 Testing of children should be deferred until they are able to comprehend and are
  able to participate in the decision making process, unless early intervention based
  on result of the test is likely to be of direct therapeutic benefit to them.
- 2435 9.21.4 Screening for late onset diseases should not be done in children.

2436

#### 2437 9.22 Screening for carrier status 2438 9.22.1 Single gene – If there is a family history of a single gene disorder (Autosomal 2439 recessive, X linked), the individual should be tested after administering informed 2440 consent when she/ he is able to comprehend the risks and benefits of screening. 2441 Stigmatization for carrier status is common; therefore, the information should be 2442 kept confidential. 2443 9.22.2 Chromosomal- If there is a family history of balanced translocation in any 2444 individual, then immediate relatives may be at risk. The same principles as for 2445 carrier testing should be followed. 2446 9.23 Population screening – Genetic disorders can be population specific (e.g. recessive 2447 2448 disorders in Ashkenazi Jews, Cystic fibrosis in many European countries) or even within a 2449 country or region (e.g. thalassemia and Sickle cell disease in some population groups). 2450 9.23.1 Population screening should not be undertaken without prior education of the 2451 population to be screened and counselling should be integrated with the program. 2452 9.23.2 Screening test should be robust with acceptable sensitivity and specificity. 2453 9.23.3 Community permission/ group consent as well as individual informed consent should 2454 be taken. 2455 9.23.4 Researchers may conduct anonymous testing on general population in order to 2456 establish prevalence of genetic traits/ diseases. Blood spots collected for screening newborns for treatable disorders could also be used for this purpose. In case 2457 2458 information derived from stored specimens might be useful to an individual, the 2459 code of anonymity may be broken with the approval of the Institutional EC. 2460 2461 9.24 **Invasive Testing for Prenatal Diagnosis** 2462 9.24.1 Preliminary genetic counselling of the women for invasive prenatal diagnosis should 2463 include the following -Risk of fetus being affected • Natural course and prognosis of the specific disorder Risks and limitations of the invasive procedures to be used • Time required before a report can be issued • Possible need for a repeat procedure in the event of a failed attempt Limitation of a test due to laboratory error • 2464 2465 9.24.2 Utmost caution should be taken while reporting the fetal status after prenatal testing. 2466 In India carrier status of a female fetus for X- linked disorder should not be reported

- as even revealing that for a recessive disorder can make the couple anxious because
  of its future implications. Using the terms "fetus likely to be affected" or "unlikely to
  be affected" in the report are more acceptable.
- 2470

#### 2471 9.25 Pre-implantation genetic screening and diagnosis (PGS and PGD)

- In this technique, *in vitro* screening is done on early embryos for a panel of common genetic
  disorders (e.g., aneuploides), specific disorder (if there is a family history or proven carrier
  status in parent(s) and unaffected embryos are implanted.
- 9.25.1 This obviates the need for invasive testing and risks associated with it and alsotermination of affected fetus which is traumatic for the family.
- 9.25.2 More recently advanced techniques like CMA are being used for PGS and NGS for
  screening which might theoretically raise the ethical issues regarding eugenics and
  designer babies based on selection of embryos.
- 2480

# 2481 9.26 Non Invasive Prenatal screening/ Testing (NIPS/ NIPT)

- Recent advances in genomic technologies have resulted in the shift of antenatal aneuploidy screening towards the development of non-invasive pre-natal screening (NIPS) methods by using cell-free fetal (CFF) DNA sequences isolated from a maternal blood sample. As the test is done on maternal blood, the risk of invasive procedure is avoided and many high risk mothers opt for it. However there are several limitations which should be clearly explained.
- 2487

#### 2488 9.27 Gene Therapy

- 9.27.1 Somatic cell gene therapy is permissible for the purpose of preventing or treating a
  serious disease when it is the only therapeutic option. It should be restricted to
  alleviation of life threatening or seriously disabling genetic disease in individual
  patients and should not be permitted to change normal human traits.
- 9.27.2 Prior to obtaining approval for initiating a gene therapy trial, an approval from
  Department of Biotechnology (DBT) has to be obtained for the gene construct and
  the local EC.
- 9.27.3 If the trial is for a product for commercial use or for marketing purpose approvalneeds to be taken from CDSCO.
- 2498 9.27.4 All gene therapy trials should have the provision for long term surveillance.
- 2499 9.27.5 Informed consent must be taken especially regarding uncertainties about outcome.

2500 9.27.6 Children could be candidates for therapy, if the therapy is meant for a childhood2501 disorder.

2502 9.27.7 Germ Line Therapy is prohibited under the present state of knowledge.

- 9.27.8 Eugenic Genetic Engineering for changing/ selecting/ altering genetic
  characteristics (so called designer babies) is prohibited. These should not be
  attempted, as we possess insufficient information at present to understand the
  effects of attempts to alter/ enhance the genetic machinery of humans.
- 9.27.9 The influence of environmental interaction on the expression of genetic characters
  is poorly understood. It would be unethical to use genetic engineering for
  improvement of intelligence, memory, personality, character, formation of body
  organs, fertility, intelligence and physical, mental and emotional characteristics
  etc. even if specific gene/ genes are identified in future.
- 2512

#### 2513 9.28 Use of new technologies

New technologies like Chromosomal Micro array (CMA), Whole Exome Sequencing and 2514 2515 Whole Genome Sequencing (WES & WGS) and Clustered regularly interspaced short 2516 palindromic repeat (CRISPR) technology have unmasked new knowledge that could find 2517 solutions to diseases or inherited disorders but could also create ethical debates due to uncertain future. These techniques have made it possible to study genome. Each individual's 2518 2519 genome is a unique and definite identity, which in spite of anonymisation of such data will always be associated with individual's identity, and this would be in conflict with the 2520 2521 principle of privacy. With the advent of digitised medical records of such sophisticated 2522 data, additional efforts should be made to maintain confidentiality.

9.28.1 Chromosomal Micro array (CMA) – Interpretation of CMA results should be done
carefully since on many occasions the Copy number variation (CNV) identified may
be variation of unknown significance (VOUS) reported or unreported which may not
explain the phenotype.

#### 2527 9.28.2 Whole Exome Sequencing and Whole Genome Sequencing (WES & WGS)

- These high through put Next Generation Sequencing techniques are used for sequencing all the exons (WES) or the whole genome including introns (WGS). These techniques are increasingly being used in clinical practice, particularly WES and have opened up a new challenge for the counsellors as well as patients.
- 25329.28.2.1 These genomic techniques identify pathogenic mutations or variations of2533unknown significance in many other genes, hidden genetic disorders or

- 2534cancers which may manifest later. The individual should be informed and2535asked whether she/ he will like to know about unrelated genetic2536mutations.The results should always be interpreted keeping in mind the2537coverage of genes of interest.
- 25389.28.2.2 Families/ individuals opting for the test should be counseled before2539conducting the test regarding grey areas in these upcoming technologies.2540They should be aware that WES/ WGS may not give conclusive results.
- 2541 9.28.3 Clustered, regularly interspaced, short palindromic repeat (CRISPR) technology
- 2542 This is a powerful technology which efficiently edits plant and animal DNA. 2543 Researchers are hoping to use this genome editing technique to alter human genes to cure and eliminate certain genetic based diseases. Experiments done so far have 2544 2545 shown that technique can be used to rapidly, easily and efficiently modify genes in a 2546 wide variety of cell types and in organisms. CRISPR works as a pair of DNA scissors, 2547 and Cas9 is the protein in the system that unzips DNA and finds the target by 2548 matching the DNA sequence against a snippet of its guide RNA. When Cas9 finds its 2549 target and snips it, there are concerns about its risks, which blur the excitement 2550 about its usefulness.
- 25519.28.3.1 Despite the promise of the technique there could be a possibility of2552encountering error in genetic engineering.
- 2553 9.28.3.2 It could be used for bioterrorism.
- 25549.28.3.3 It could be used to change harmless genes as for eye colour leading to2555designer possibilities.
- 25569.28.3.4 Cas9 will sometimes identify a wrong target even when up to five of the2557guide RNAs do not match the DNA—hence the off-target mutations may2558cause disease; alter germline or DNA of future generations of humans.
- 2560 9.29 Permanent genetic modification of human embryos
- The concerns are more social, including questions about the right of unborn babies and the roles of humans in making permanent genetic changes.
- 2563

2559

- 2564 9.30 Genome-wide association study (GWAS)
- 2565 Genetic epidemiology, also known as whole genome-wide association study, involves an 2566 examination of many common genetic variants in different individuals to see if any variant is

2567 2568 associated with a trait. GWASs typically focus on associations between single- nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and traits like major diseases particularly multifactorial disorders.

- 2569

2570 9.30.1 As in other techniques there is a possibility of getting variations of known or unknown significance and participants should be aware of these facts. 2571

2572

#### 2573 9.31 Misuse of genetic technology

2574 Prenatal Sex Selection - To prevent misuse of genetic tests, particularly pre-selection of sex, 2575 the Government of India has enacted "The Pre-Conception and Pre-Natal Diagnostic 2576 Techniques (Prohibition of Sex Selection) Act 1994, amended in 2003". All researchers in this 2577 area shall follow the provisions of this Act. Prenatal Sex determination is prohibited by law 2578 for sex selection of the foetus.

- 2579 9.31.1 Misuse of genetic information by insurers or employers: Knowledge of genetic 2580 information of an individual/ family/ community/ population might be misused by the insurers/ employers leading to discrimination and psychosocial harm. 2581 2582 Hence, the information about patient's disease and investigations must not be 2583 shared with anyone without the consent of the individual concerned.
- 2584 9.31.2 Genetic manipulations fall under the area of genetic research. All protections for 2585 the participants including ethical review and informed consent have to be in place. EC must carefully examine such proposals and issues related to conflicts of 2586 2587 interest between an individual, the family and society at large.
- 2588
- 2589
- 2590
### **10.** Biological Materials, Biobanking and Datasets

2592

2591

2593 **10.0** Biological materials or biospecimens include biological fluids such as blood, dried blood 2594 spots, body fluids, urine, tissues, organs, cord blood, ovary, semen or embryo. These 2595 may be stored or prospectively collected. A repository or biobank is an organized 2596 collection of resources that can be accessed to retrieve human biological material and 2597 data. The bioresources would therefore, be left over samples after clinical 2598 investigations or research project, biopsy material, surgical or autopsy specimens/ 2599 tissues, embryo or foetus, cell lines, waste materials like abandoned organs/ tissues. 2600 Repository activities involve three components: Collection of biospecimens and/ or data; 2601 Storage of biospecimens and data including its management; and Retrieval and 2602 disbursement to the investigators.

2603

A Dataset is an organized collection of data and information maintained in physical and/ or electronic/ digital form that can be used for biomedical and health research. Besides data related to biospecimens as in biobanks, there are other repositories like disease registries, health surveys, disease surveillance, census data and even personal health records in healthcare institutions which may have huge potential for subsequent research. The data may be based from small numbers to whole population or major parts of it, e.g. Iceland decode biobank, Euro BioBank, Estonian Biobank, UK Biobank, GenomEUtwin etc.

2611

### 2612 10.1 Biobanking

A biobank is an organized collection of human biological materials with usually associated dataset 2613 2614 stored for years in appropriate facilities for research and potential commercial purposes. The space occupied by organized collection of these materials and data is termed biorepository. 2615 2616 Research on such biospecimens and/ or related datasets may not directly involve the 2617 individuals. Biobanks involve governance of collection of biological material, processing, storage 2618 with associated data, and dissemination of samples and/or data through sharing with other 2619 researchers and overarching ethical oversight. The biological materials could be kept for 2620 research, assisted reproductive technology (ART) purposes or for forensic purposes. The 2621 stored samples in these biobanks can range from small numbers in researcher's refrigerator 2622 to Departments, research institutions including Universities and non-profit organisations, 2623 judiciary custody, pharmaceutical companies and may extend into large warehouse like 2624 facilities at single site or a chain of facilities with central co-ordination. These give medical,

2625 genetic and life-style related data.

Biobanks can also store non-human materials such as plant, animal, microbes, and parasites etc., but for the purpose of these guidelines this section will only pertain to human biomaterials and/ or related data.

2629

As biobanking concerns storage and research at a later time, the ethical issues pertaining to consent requirements for the collection and banking and further uses of tissue and DNA samples and/ or data are same but with greater responsibilities concerning their ownership, access and benefit sharing to the individual or community. Therefore, to prevent any exploitation and protect the rights of donors, the main requirements are individual informed consent, approval of the EC and the Repository Governance Committee and post research benefit sharing, wherever applicable.

2637

# 2638 10.1.1 Types of Samples (Table 10.1)

2639

### Table 10.1

Identifiable	Direct link of sample/ data to the participant's identity.
Coded	Indirect link of sample/ data to the participant's identity with restricted
	access. This link could be relinked if required; therefore, it may also be
	termed reversible anonymisation.
Anonymised	Systematic de-identification, reversible or irreversible: Link of samples/data
	to personal identity is reversibly or irreversibly cut.
Anonymous or	No identifiers are present from the start or if collected is not maintained.
unidentified	Such samples are received by Biobanks without any identifiers and supplied
	to researchers.

2640

# 2641 **10.1.2** Privacy of donor and confidentiality related to biological materials and/ or data

- 2642 This pertains to both personal identifiers and the related data of the participant (Table 10.2).
- 2643

### Table 10.2

1.	Procedure of anonymisation minimizes the connection between the identifiers and
	the stored sample or medical data by delinking the person from her/ his biological
	material.
2.	Maintaining confidentiality of data and respecting ethnic identity is of prime
	importance especially in population based genetic studies.
3.	More precaution should be sought when the research pertains to research on
	stigmatizing diseases.
4.	Maintaining confidentiality of data and respecting ethnic identity is of prime
	importance especially in population based studies or genetic studies.
5.	When data pertains to epidemiological and public health practice or research, it may
	be dealt in the manner described under section 7. Epidemiological & Public Health

	Research for details.
2644	The following spectrum shows how the possibility or degree of ease to obtain information on
2645	personal attributes of biospecimens and/ or data is dependent on the confidentiality aspect
2646	of identifiability, which increases as the shift to right occurs:





2648

# 2649 **10.2 Storage of Biospecimens and Data with their Personal Identifiers**

2650 Informed consent, confidentiality, privacy, and re-consent are largely influenced by degree of 2651 identifiability, whether the biospecimens and data are anonymised or not. As a general principle, 2652 research must be conducted as far as possible on least identifiable data. However, under certain 2653 circumstances, some degree of identifiability may have to be retained for reasons related to the 2654 research. For example, anonymised data or specimens will not allow later withdrawal of consent 2655 by an individual, while in the coded category, this will be possible. In the latter scenario, the 2656 custodians of the respective biorepository or biobank have greater responsibility to take 2657 adequate measures to safeguard the codes and the data so as to respect the privacy and 2658 confidentiality of individual research participants. Permissibility of a certain research design, 2659 acceptability of risks versus benefits, and adequacy of the informed consent, will thus have to be 2660 assessed by EC on a case to case basis, taking into account specific contextual and potential 2661 vulnerability factors of the participants and the sensitivity of the proposed research.

- 2662 **10.3 Ethical issues related to Donors**
- 10.3.1 Informed consent for biobanking poses specific ethical issues as the aims of scientific
  study based on which biospecimens are collected and stored in biorepository are not
  defined clearly at the time of collection when there are no specific end points and there
  is a time lag between the collection of the sample and its use in research.

- 10.3.2 The issues involve multiple stages when consent needs to be administered storage
  analysis of the biospecimens use of data linked to the sample incidental findings return
  of results to the participant sharing of the sample/ data with other investigators/
  national or international institutions multicenter and multinational collaborations and
  potential commercialization raising issues of access and benefit sharing.
- 2672
- Following are examples of different types of consent process and their implications (given in
  Table 10.3) -
- 2675

### Table 10.3

# 1. Blanket or Broad consent

It is an open consent given only once to collect the sample, store it and use it for any research at any time in future without the need to get back to the individual for a reconsent. A consent model that allows for current and future access and use of samples or data for research without necessarily specifying what the focus of such studies might be.

# 2. Tiered Consent

This model of consent offers several options to the participants to choose. It includes opt-in option for future use specifying general permission, or use only related to the original topic, or use for topics unrelated to the original one for which specific consent would have to be taken. This process is considered dynamic. They can opt out anytime if they do not wish to continue their participation without assigning reasons. It also takes into consideration return of results for which also options are provided for consent.

# 3. Specific Consent

Participants are re-contacted for every new use of their stored samples/ data if the scope of research is outside what they had originally consented for.

# 4. Delayed consent

It may be administered in the post-medical procedure period when biospecimen or data may be collected for appropriate research from critically ill patients who may not have given prior consent for research. Consent may be taken from the participant or LAR when it is practical. Such research can be done only after approval from the EC if convinced about benefit to the individual or society.

### 5. Presumed consent

At the time of collection of samples participants are told that these would be used for all future research unless they explicitly deny permission to do so.

# 6. Withdrawal of consent or destruction of sample

The donor has the right to ask for destroying her/ his collected sample(s) and discontinue/ withdraw from participation in the research. In longitudinal studies participant may withdraw from one component of the study like continued follow-up/ data collection when withdrawal may be referred to as partial.

# 7. Waiver of the Consent

While using anonymised (de-identified) samples/ data, researchers should seek the approval of the EC of the institution or the repository for waiver of consent from the donors.

### 8. Re-consent

- Secondary or extended uses of stored samples/ dataset: In such an instance one of the preliminary considerations for ECs must be to identify the circumstances under which the research requires re-use of collected identifiable biological material to generate the data or utilize the pre-existing identifiable dataset. This must also include review of the informed consent obtained originally to see if re-consent is warranted. There may be situations where consent would be impossible or impracticable to obtain for such research, in which case the research may be done only after independent evaluation by an EC." (Declaration of Helsinki, October 2013)
- **Pediatric donors:** In longitudinal studies once the child donor attains the legal age of consent a re-consent should be sought for the storage and use of her/ his tissue or sample. In pediatric biobanks or biobanks with pediatric samples it is important to address the issue of children reaching legal age of consent. Sometimes re-contact may lead to withdrawal resulting in limited data analysis which may lead to bias or it could evoke emotional distress about the past research. On the other hand re-consent may give the participant a power to agree. A biobank should decide the policy it would like to adopt for re-contact.

2676

# 2677 10.4 Ethical issues related to Research

2678 The biobanks can use the stored material/ data for doing research themselves or they can 2679 outsource or supply the samples/ data to other researchers or institutions.

- 2680 **10.4.1 Transfer of Biospecimens**
- 2681 Material transfer agreement (MTA) should be executed, if the biospecimens are 2682 likely to be shipped from host institution to collaborating institutions within country 2683 or abroad. EC should oversee the process of the in-country and international 2684 material transfer. Mandatory regulatory clearances with appropriate MOU are 2685 required if biospecimens are to be sent overseas.

# 2686 **10.4.2 Secondary or extended uses of stored samples/ Reconsent**

2687EC will examine circumstances under which originally the data or the biological2688material was collected and informed consent obtained. Then it will decide on a case-2689to-case basis about anonymisation/ informed consent waiver or re-consent. The EC2690must examine that (Table 10.4)

2691		Table 10.4
		1. the proposed use is in line with the original consent given for the earlier study
		and look at the validity of the objectives of the new study;
		2. provisions for ensuring anonymity of the samples for secondary use are stated;
		3. for postmortem uses of samples the permission of LAR should be obtained; and
		4. waiver of consent is given whenever the donor is not traceable, the sample/
		data is anonymised or it is impractical to conduct the research.
2692		
2693	10.4.3	Return of research results
2694		There are several possibilities which should be enlisted in the participant information
2695		sheet/ informed consent document for biobanking (Table 10.5).
2696		Table 10.5
		1. If the findings are in an aggregate form, the participants will receive no
		feedback on individual data.
		2. There is also the risk of "informational arm" which can occur if participants
		are provided feedback when they are not prepared to face it or it is not
		actionable or when such information is unrelated since this could lead to
		distress in the absence of appropriate mechanism to deal with the situation.
		3. Research findings in aggregate form must be discussed with the community
		before wider dissemination wherever applicable especially in research
		involving populations who may face particular vulnerabilities e.g. tribal
		populations' ethnic groups people living with certain diseases etc.
		4. It may be a good approach to inform donors at the time of sample collection
		that novel information beneficial or non-beneficial may emerge from the
		study on their completer which entions must be offered whether to receive

- study on their sample for which options must be offered whether to receive such information. Participants may also choose not to be contacted about their results. Another alternative is to give participants the option of receiving an aggregate report of all the results of the study through a newsletter email, phone call, which however does not reveal individual results. Such information may be released to the donor healthcare provider or the donor's family. This becomes a shared benefit for the community. The aforementioned options may be incorporated in a tiered consent.
- 2697
- 2698 10.4.4 Ownership of the biological samples and data: The donors maintain ownership and 2699 should be able to withdraw both their biological material donated to the biobank and the related data unless the data is required for outcome measurement. 2700 2701 Complete anonymisation would practically make biological materials ownerless as the original donor loses the right of ownership. Biobanks/ Institutes are the 2702 2703 custodians or trustees. Researchers have no claim for either ownership or 2704 custodianship.

# 10.4.5 Benefit sharing (Table 10.6) –

2707		Table 10.6
		<ol> <li>The informed consent document should address the use of biospecimens and/or data by private or for-profit entities and the possibility of research leading to future development of commercial products. The document should describe whether donors, their families, or communities would receive any financial or non-financial benefits by having access to the products, tests, or discoveries resulting from the research.</li> <li>The benefits accrued, if any, should be returned to the communities from where the donors were drawn in community based studies. This should be mentioned in the original consent form.</li> </ol>
		3. To the maximum extent possible, benefits should be indirect or in kind.
2708		
2709	10.4.6	Role of Ethics Committee
2710		Research proposals, which require biorepository services including material transfer,
2711		should be reviewed by EC, either an institutional one or that of the biorepository.
2712		
2713	10.5 Biolo	gical material/ data in forensic departments of laboratories
2714	Specim	ens collected for forensic purposes and related or unrelated data (DNA profiling) offer
2715	a good	source for academic research after the initial purpose has been served. Data sharing
2716	with re	esearchers across the globe is a common practice for refining techniques to develop
2717	biomar	kers, which could identify missing persons in most difficult circumstances (e.g. highly
2718	decom	posed bodies, disaster situations etc.). In academic institutions there is a demand for
2719	organs	and tissues for education, training and research purposes.
2720	10.5.1	Informed consent - If written consent by the deceased person permitting use of
2721		organ or tissue is not there, family can be approached for consent for use of left over
2722		organ or tissue.
2723	10.5.2	No consent would be required if sample or data is anonymised or if the deceased has
2724		no claimant.
2725	10.5.3	Forensic official will be authorized to give permission for use of material/ data from
2726		its sources and be responsible for use of unclaimed cadavers.
2727	10.5.4	The quantity of tissue taken should ideally be minimal if possible, particularly if it is
2728		seen externally on the body in order to preserve the dignity of the dead and be
2729		culturally acceptable by the next of kin or closest relative or friend.
2730	10.5.5	The information in the informed consent document should state what tissue/ organ
2731		will be retained, who will be the custodian, duration of storage of sample, what type

- of research would be conducted and how the remains will be disposed.
- 2733 10.5.6 Genetic research or revelation of any other stigmatizing factors like HIV etc. in the
  2734 deceased may have implication for family members. All ethical requirements as in
  2735 the case of live participants should be followed.
- 2736 10.5.7 Role of EC The type of consent broad with or without option to opt-out or specific
  2737 and from whom whether the family, closest relative or friend or anonymisation
  2738 should be approved by EC.
- 2739

### 2740 **10.6 Governance of Biobank/ Biorepository**

- 2741 Institutions where data are collected and archived must have a governance structure in place2742 with following requirements for regulation:
- 274310.6.1 Biorepository should have its own Technical authorization committee with2744representation of both science and ethics and external members. This committee2745should function in tandem with EC.
- 2746 10.6.2 A Technical authorization committee, indigenous to biorepository, should govern
  2747 disbursement of biospecimens and data to researchers. The same committee should
  2748 also oversee regulatory aspects like execution of MTA (Material Transfer Agreement)
  2749 or DTA (Data Transfer Agreement) for transfer of biospecimens to other institutions.
- 275010.6.3Stand-alone huge repositories should have separate Technical Authorization and ECs2751to undertake above mentioned tasks.
- 2752 10.6.4 Biobank should have well-structured SOPs and clear guidelines for collection, coding,
  2753 anonymisation, storing, access, retrieval and sharing of biospecimens and data.
- 2754

2756

# 2755 10.7 Special issues related to datasets

10.7.1 While the primary objective of data collection and storage in some of these databases 2757 2758 may not be research, these repositories or datasets offer a huge potential for 2759 subsequent research. With advances in Information Technology (IT) and decreasing 2760 costs, such repositories and datasets are increasingly being sought after for research 2761 purposes. Along with the increasing ease of establishing and maintaining such 2762 repositories for prospective research, there is also a proliferation of tools for data 2763 mining and other data science tools that can be employed on existing databases for 2764 research purposes. Irrespective of whether health research was initially an objective 2765 of collecting data and storing in databases, whenever such repositories are used for

- 2766other purposes of research, it must follow the expected requirements of any other2767health related research with due diligence, including review by an EC.
- 276810.7.2Databases maintained in electronic/digital formats, linked by internet or other2769networks, maintained using cloud computing technologies, and those associated2770with 'Big Data' initiatives, may pose additional risks to privacy and confidentiality2771than what is described under biobanks or traditional paper based data repositories.2772Hence, in such situations all reasonable measures must be adopted to respect and2773protect privacy and confidentiality of individuals. These include (Table 10.7) –
- 2774
- 2775

Table 10.7

2776

1.	ensuring physical safety and security of the involved devices and computer			
	servers; ,			
2.	data security measures such as password protection;			
3.	differential and role-based access to data elements for members of the			
	research team;			
4.	use of data encryption when data is transferred from one location/device to			

another;
5. Benefit sharing with owners and related legal Issues since unlike some other countries India does not have a Data Protection Act.as yet.

2777

# 2778 10.8 Contingency Plan

One of the important but often neglected ethical issues related to biorepository is legacy or
contingency plan. Institutions should develop the contingent plans for sustainability of the
biobanks.

# **11. International Collaboration**

2784

2785 11.0 The scope of international co-operation and collaboration in biomedical and health 2786 research has gained momentum in recent years to such proportions that it could 2787 potentially have exploitative connotations with commercial and human dimensions. On the 2788 one hand, collaboration in medical research is underpinned by a humane interest for the 2789 health of civil society by adapting uniformly applicable universal ethical principles; while on 2790 the other hand, it could be seen as exploitative, by giving the impression of unnecessary 2791 experimentation on the population of one country by another. Different levels of 2792 development in terms of infrastructure, expertise, social and cultural perceptions, laws 2793 relating to intellectual property rights, ethical review procedures etc., necessitate an ethical 2794 framework that is based on equality and equity to guide such collaborations. The same is 2795 applicable to research undertaken with assistance and/or collaboration from international 2796 organisations (public or private). The collaboration may involve either implementation of 2797 multiple components of the research or even a single component like laboratory testing. 2798 There are formal inter-country bilateral/ multilateral collaborative arrangements between 2799 Indian research bodies/institutions and similar bodies/institutions of several other 2800 countries. The review, conduct, monitoring of international collaborative research in India should be guided by ECs which should be aware of different requirements of various 2801 2802 funding and regulatory agencies.

2803

### 2804

2805

Types of International Collaboration (Table 11.1)

Table 11.1

1. Funding by International Agencies e.g. UN agencies, NIH, Welcome Trust, World Bank, Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation and others.

**2.** Academic Collaborations with Foreign Institutions, Universities, Organisations, Foundations with or without external funding.

2806

All biomedical research projects involving foreign assistance and/or collaboration should be submitted to the Health Ministry's Screening Committee (HMSC) for consideration and approval before initiation (details can be accessed at <u>http://www.icmr.nic.in/guide.htm</u>). The secretariat for HMSC is at the Indian Council of Medical Research (ICMR) Headquarters, New Delhi. According to the guideline, all research involving international collaboration; either technical, financial, laboratory or data management must be submitted to HMSC. Autonomous institutions including 2813 Institutes of national stature (like All India Institute of Medical Sciences, Post Graduate Institute 2814 of Medical Education and Research, Jawaharlal Institute of Postgraduate Medical Education and 2815 Research, Sanjay Gandhi Post Graduate Institute, Sri Chitra Tirunal Institute of Medical Sciences 2816 and Technology) and institutions under the administrative control of Directorate General of 2817 Health Services (DGHS), Ministry of Health & Family Welfare (MoHFW) and State health 2818 authorities, as well as Deptts like Indian Council of Medical Research (ICMR), Council of Scientific 2819 and Industrial Research (CSIR), Indian Council of Agricultural Research (ICAR), and Departments 2820 like Department of Biotechnology (DBT) and Department of Science and Technology (DST) for 2821 their respective institutions may take in-house decisions on their proposals for foreign 2822 collaboration involving transfer of human biological material by following the guidelines in this 2823 regard and then sending the proposals to the HMSC for final endorsement [Ref. F. No. L. 2824 19015/53/97 IH (Pt) dt 19/11/1997]. The exchange of material is envisaged as part of a 2825 collaborative research proposal as a whole must be routed through appropriate authorities. 2826 While the ethical review and approvals are subject to the national regulatory framework, 2827 international collaborations are subject to appropriate considerations of universal ethical 2828 principles. The finer specifics recommended in Indian context may vary from other countries and 2829 agencies.

2830

### 2831 11.1 Special Considerations

- 2832 11.1.1 Given the magnitude and severity of the health problems in different countries,
  2833 capacity building to address ethical issues that arise out of collaborative research,
  2834 must be promoted on a priority basis.
- 11.1.2 The Indian participating centres should function as equal partners with the
   collaborator(s) and sponsor(s) in terms of ownership, analysis, dissemination,
   publication and intellectual property rights as may be appropriate. There must be
   bilateral/multilateral free flow of knowledge and capacity.
- 2839 11.1.3 Careful consideration should be given to protect the dignity, safety and welfare of
  2840 the participants when the social contexts of the proposed research can create
  2841 foreseeable conditions for exploitation of the participants or increase their
  2842 vulnerability to harm. The steps to be taken to overcome these should be described
  2843 and approval taken from EC of Indian collaborator's institution and that of foreign
  2844 collaborator.

2845 11.1.4 Different kinds of research have their own particular scientific requirements and specific ethical challenges. The selection of study population should be justified in 2846 2847 scientific and ethical terms. Generally, early phases of clinical trials, particularly of 2848 drugs, vaccines and devices, and research on other interventions, should be 2849 conducted in communities that are less vulnerable to harm or exploitation. However, 2850 for valid scientific and public health reasons, if sufficient ethical safeguards are 2851 ensured, it may be conducted on them after obtaining relevant regulatory 2852 clearances.

- 11.1.5 The nature, magnitude, and probability of all foreseeable harms resulting from
  participation in a collaborative research programme should be specified in the
  research protocol and explained to the participants reasonably well.
- 11.1.6 The research protocol should outline the benefits that persons/ communities
   participating in such research should get. Care should be taken so that these are not
   presented in a way that unduly influences freedom of choice in participation.
- 2859 11.1.7 All participants in the research should have access to the standard of care available2860 in India.
- 11.1.8 The IEC should ensure and monitor the clinical care, compensation, insurance coverand other supports provided to the participants, as may be applicable.
- 11.1.9 The burden and the benefit should be equally distributed amongst participantsrecruited by all collaborating institutions.
- 11.1.10 Research that will be conducted in India should be relevant to the health needs of
  India and should not have any bearing on sensitive, religious, regional and other
  relevant issues.
- 11.1.11 Guidelines, rules, regulations and cultural sensitivities of all countries participating in
   collaborative research projects should be respected, especially by researchers in the
   host country and the sponsor country. An appropriate Memorandum of
   Understanding (MOU) should be in place to safeguard the interests and ensure
   compliance.
- 2873 11.1.12 Any research involving exchange of biological material/ specimens to the
   2874 collaborating institution(s) outside India must have a Material Transfer Agreement
   2875 (MTA) which should include justification for the purpose, quantity, issues related to

- 2876 confidentiality, IPR, post analysis handling of the leftover biological materials, safety2877 norms etc.
- 2878 11.1.13 Export of all biological materials will be covered under existing GOI guidelines for 2879 Transfer of Human Biological Materials. Research projects requiring transfer of 2880 biological material transfer, may be considered by the EC on case-to-case basis. Collaborators should obtain appropriate regulatory clearances that may be 2881 2882 applicable, e.g., Environmental Protection Act, 1986, The Biological Diversity Act 2883 2002 of Ministry of Environment and Forests, Drugs and Cosmetics Act 1940 and 2884 Rules 1945 and the relevant amendments. Such exchange of material from and to 2885 WHO collaborating/ Reference Centres for specific purposes and for individual cases 2886 for diagnosis or therapeutic purposes need no permission.
- 11.1.14 The Indian participating centre(s) must have appropriate regulatory approval and
   registration for receiving foreign funds for research (under Foreign Contribution
   Regulation Act- FCRA).
- 11.1.15 There should be a mechanism for communication between the ECs of different
   International participating centres. In case of any conflict, the decision of the EC in
   the Indian participating centre(s) and the law of the land shall prevail.

2895 2896 **12.0** New Technologies offer a significant improvement over the established medical therapies 2897 and technologies for a given process in a specific context. The field is complicated by 2898 highly uncertain scientific assumptions and most often inconclusive evidence. Therefore, 2899 ethical positions in this regard are still evolving and some more experience will be 2900 required to consolidate them on firmer terms. Health technologies may work on new 2901 technological principle(s); new application of an existing technology; extension of existing 2902 technology, not currently used on body parts/ organs/ patient population; or new 2903 interface with any other medical device/ medical IT system. The guidelines in this section 2904 have covered the following new technology segments viz. Synthetic Biology, Medical 2905 Devices including implants and IT and Nano-technology.

**12. New Technologies** 

### 2906 12.1 Synthetic Biology

Synthetic biology is the application of science, technology and engineering to 'facilitate and
accelerate the design, manufacture and/ or modification of genetic material of living organisms'.
The ethical, legal and social issues pertain to impact of this science on society, biosafety,
biosecurity, intellectual property rights, governance of such research and socio-economics.

2911 Creation of organisms, molecular compounds and biological systems by manipulating biology 2912 through standardized engineering techniques has led to the rise of biotechnology industry which 2913 includes genetically modified organisms, stem cells, cloning, artificial life forms like bio fuels, bio 2914 weapons, vaccines, diagnostics etc. Software and bioinformatics as design tools along with the 2915 constructional and diagnostic tools play a major role in the synthesis. EC review, pre-market 2916 approval and registration should be aimed at protection of human beings and environment.

2917

2894

### 2918 12.2 Medical Devices including implants & Medical IT

The ethical issues in medical devices and IT (in medical technology) research are broadly the same as for any other research. However, there are important differences in the regulatory context, research environment and methodology, and particularly in the area of investigation design, given the complexity there is a well-established system for evaluation of newly developed medical devices.

#### 2924 12.2.1 Medical Devices

2925Any instrument, apparatus, implement, machine, appliance, implant, reagent for *in*2926*vitro* use, software, material or other similar or related article, intended by the

2927 manufacturer to be used, alone or in combination, for human beings, for one or 2928 more of the specific medical purpose(s) of (Table 12.1)

2929

# Table 12.1

1.	diagnosis, prevention, monitoring, treatment or alleviation of disease;
2.	investigation, replacement, modification, or support of the anatomy or of a
	physiological process;
3.	supporting or sustaining life;
4.	control of conception;
5.	disinfection of medical devices; and
6.	providing information by means of in vitro examination of specimens
	derived from the human body.

2930

2931It does not achieve its primary intended action by pharmacological, immunological2932or metabolic means, in or on the human body, but which may be assisted in its2933intended function by such means. They may be critical or non-critical, intrinsic or2934extrinsic. Only some devices are notified. They are classified as given below from2935regulatory point of view (Table 12.2).

2936

Class	Level	Devices examples		
А	Low risk (Class A)	Bandages/ tongue depressors		
В	Low-moderate	Hypodermic Needles/ suction		
	risk (Class B)	equipment		
C	Moderate-high	Lung vontilator/ hone fivation plate		
L.	risk (Class C)	Lung ventilatory bone fixation plate		
D	High risk (Class D)	Cardiac stents/ implantable defibrillator		

Table 12.2

2937 2938

# 12.2.1.1 IT in medical technology

2939Computer hardware and software that deals with the storage of data,2940retrieval, sharing, and use of information on health care and research and2941knowledge for communication and decision making. Refer Section 10. on2942Biological materials, Biobanking and Datasets for further details.

294312.2.1.2 Adverse effects including causality - A separate program for this has been2944launched by the Indian Pharmacopeia commission along with technical

2945support from National Health Systems Resource Centre and Sri Chitra2946Thirunal institute of Medical Sciences & Technology called the2947Materovigilance Program of India (MvPI). This program intends to track all2948adverse events due to medical devices, so that appropriate corrective and2949preventive actions may be taken after a causality assessment has been2950duly made.

295112.2.1.3 All adverse events related to the conduct of the study product or2952unanticipated problems involving risks of harm to the participants or2953others should be promptly reported to MvPI and/or other relevant2954authorities. Any recommendations provided by MvPI in response to such2955reporting should be immediately implemented.

### 2956 12.3 Nano-technology

2957 Nanotechnology is defined as technology associated with fabrication of any material, 2958 particle and/ or device in nanodimension, which acquire unique novel properties. The 2959 applications include drugs, cosmetics, diagnostics, imaging, tissue engineering, wound 2960 dressing and many other areas related to health and medical practice. Multifunctional 2961 nanoparticles can be fabricated and used simultaneously for molecular imaging (diagnosis) 2962 and therapy with lesser toxicity leading to new area of theragnosis (therapy and diagnosis). 2963 It helps in early non-invasive detection of biomarkers of diseases in urine, saliva or other body fluids, which can help in low cost mass screening even in rural areas. Booster free 2964 2965 single dose vaccine is possible using nanoadjuvant which can solve the rural vaccination 2966 problem. The area of nano-biosensors are developing at rapid pace with feasibility of in-2967 vivo implant and monitoring of cardiac, renal, neural and other vital organ functions with 2968 interface of remote control devices.

2969 12.4 Special considerations

- 2970 12.4.1 GLP, GMP, Good clinical practice (GCP), and ethical principles should be observed2971 when conducting clinical trials.
- 2972 12.4.2 Before use of a new technology product in an individual, pre-clinical studies should2973 be carried out whenever applicable.
- 297412.4.3Adverse events/ severe adverse events will have to be reported and compensation2975paid as per the related regulations.
- 297612.4.4 The new technology/ related products should be contained and released in2977environment in stepwise manner after clearance from appropriate authority2978regarding its safety.

- 2979 12.4.4 Differing process based technology can result in similarly functioning biological2980 product which can be debated for assigning intellectual property rights.
- 2981 12.4.5 Training should address user's issues regarding safe research, handling of products,2982 clinical trials and community misconceptions.
- 2983 **12.5 Distribution and service delivery**

### 2984 **12.5.1 Biological material and distribution**

- 2985 12.5.1.1 The complexity of biomaterials varies widely depending on the duration of 2986 time and area of contact with the body. In order to comply with all the safety 2987 requirements and sets of universal standards, testing of biomaterials and 2988 biocompatibility should be as per relevant Indian regulatory standards or 2989 American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) International standards 2990 until Indian standards for biomaterials are in place. The testing of such 2991 standards shall be done in a NABL (National Accreditation Board for Testing 2992 and Calibration Laboratories) or COFRAC (Le Comité français d'accréditation) 2993 certified laboratory till then.
- 299412.5.1.1 Devices must be approved by relevant regulatory authorities for quality and2995safety.
- 299612.5.1.2Nanoparticles Materials can be converted into nanodimension from metals2997like gold, silver, iron, non-metal like carbon, ceramics, polymers, protein,2998lipid, carbohydrate and synthetic substances like dendrimer, aptamer and so2999on. The nanomaterials used for research purposes are mostly fabricated in3000the laboratories and are used in several industries and agriculture. The3001personnel involved in production, fabrication and handling of nanomaterials3002have a potential for occupational exposure.
- 3003 12.5.2 Pre-market approval and registration
- Approval should be based on the ethical acceptability of the research, including its social value and scientific validity, and ethical principles related to clinical trial. The review must take into account any prior scientific reviews and applicable laws/ regulations or legal judgment of court of Law on any new or existing technology.
- 3008

### 12.5.3 Safety of use and monitoring

3009Prior scientific review, good clinical practice and application of ethical guidelines in3010conduct of clinical trial should be adhered to when studying safety of synthetic

3012

12.3).

3013

### Table 12.3

biology products, medical devices and nanoparticles should determine safety (Table

1.	For medical devices, they should be tested for EMI/ EMC (Electro-
	magnetic Interference and Electro-magnetic compatibility) at an NABL
	accredited laboratory prior to use.
2.	Nanomaterial characterization and analysis should critically answer its

biocompatibility and degradability.

3014

3015 12.6 Risks

- 301612.6.1**Precautionary principle** The intention of this principle is to prevent harm to3017humans, environment and ecosystem because development of new technology3018emits hazardous elements in the environment, which may be unclear during the3019time of research but may manifest later. Environmental hazards may range from X-3020Ray radiation, electro-magnetic currents and non-ionizing magnetic waves. Safety3021measures should be followed as per the Environmental Protection Act (1986),3022Atomic Energy Act, Biomedical Waste Management Rules and other relevant laws.
- 3023 12.6.2 Risks to the participants should be minimized and should be reasonable in relation
  3024 to the potential benefits of the research as is expected in any human research.
  3025 Refer to details in the section 2 on General Ethical Issues.
- 302612.6.3 The research on new technologies should have well-established mechanism or3027system for assessing the risk, both on the scale of severity and temporality. The3028unpredictable metabolic behaviour of nanoparticles in human system during clinical3029trials cannot exclude long term sequestration leading to side effects which may3030manifest later depending on its time of degradation. This is important from the3031point of compensation of adverse reactions.
- 303212.6.4 Biosecurity: Sometimes, the product can have dual use i.e. one useful for a3033particular purpose and the other use could be unintentionally or intentionally3034harmful in another aspect, e.g. use as a biological weapon. Therefore, to maintain3035security, the ICMR Code of conduct for researchers involved in life sciences should3036be followed along with creation of a system for reporting and vigilance to be3037followed to avoid misuse. There should be effective partnership between3038researchers involved and policy makers to place a secure system.
- 3039 12.6.5 Distributive justice should be borne in mind when selecting participants.

- 3040 12.6.6 Healthcare worker safety and occupational risk –
- 304112.6.6.1 Collateral injury among healthcare workers and employees should be3042considered.
- 304312.6.6.2Precautions should be exercised as in the case of handling dangerous3044materials.
- 304512.6.6.3 The safety aspect for healthcare workers should cover Personal Protective3046Equipment (PPE), exposure response and hazardous waste disposal.
- 304712.6.6.4 Manufacturer's cleaning and maintenance instructions should be strictly3048followed and training given to everyone involved in the research about3049following these instructions.
- 305012.6.6.5Suspicion of equipment contamination with microorganisms that might3051pose a transmission risk in healthcare settings (e.g., those requiring3052contact precautions) may be treated seriously according to the3053manufacturer's warning.
- 3054 12.6.6.6 Periodic health check up of researchers and handlers is important.
- 3055 12.7 Benefits
- 305612.7.1Products should be cost-effective alternatives especially considering the resource3057poor situation in India leading to limited access and availability.
- 3058 12.7.2 Reducing morbidity and mortality through targeted application and delivery
- 3059 12.7.3 Reducing cost Application of nanotechnology may be more cost effective than
   3060 conventional medical management practices. Nanocarrier based targeted drug
   3061 delivery system may be more effective in rapid cure, thus reducing hospital stay,
   3062 e.g. application in cancer treatment.
- 306312.6.7Compensation There could be error in desired body function and biological3064program design, faulty execution, and external interference of infectious agents3065with biological program (design/ execution and traumatic injury. In the event of3066research related injury, adequate compensation as described for regulatory drug3067trials should be adopted as detailed under Section 6 (Clinical Trials of drugs and3068other interventions) of these guidelines. In the case of nanoparticles, long term3069management should also be borne in mind.
- 3070
- 3071
- 3072
- 3073

# 13. Research during Humanitarian Emergencies and Disasters

3075

3076 **13.0** For the purpose of these guidelines, humanitarian emergencies include both man-made 3077 and natural emergencies and disaster. During humanitarian emergencies such as an 3078 earthquake, floods, mass migration, conflicts, and outbreaks leading to substantial material 3079 damage affecting persons, communities, society and state(s). It may be of periodic 3080 frequency as in most natural disasters or caused by humans and creates an imbalance 3081 between capacity and resources to meet the needs of the survivors or the people whose 3082 lives are threatened during the emergency period. Research is necessary in such 3083 circumstances to enable provision of efficient and appropriate health and humanitarian 3084 response during the ongoing emergency; and to be able to plan for future emergency 3085 situations.

3086 Humanitarian emergencies raise complex issues. The health system, research infrastructure and 3087 research governance frameworks may be adversely affected during such situations, which create 3088 challenges regarding the feasibility and oversight of conduct of research. While there might be a 3089 need to undertake research quickly, this should not impact scientific validity and the need to 3090 uphold ethical requirements. Close attention should be paid to the effect of the emergency on 3091 perceptions of ethical questions, altered or increased vulnerabilities, provider - patient and 3092 researcher-participant relationships, issues related to integrity of studies and ethical review 3093 processes. The unique challenge here is responsive requirement to rapidly evolving health needs 3094 or priorities of those impacted by the humanitarian emergency and the research cannot be 3095 conducted outside the humanitarian emergency situation.

Ethical Challenges are to undertake relevant research, which should be designed/ innovated/ adopted so as to yield scientifically valid results under the uncertain and often rapidly evolving conditions of a humanitarian emergency. The role of ECs in such circumstances is very important in reviewing protocols prepared for such emergency situation(s).

### **13.1 Pre-emptive research preparation for future humanitarian emergency**

Natural disaster of cyclical frequency is an expected phenomenon the following will be acceptable
if a research is planned to study various implications on humans and ecological effects on humans
in these circumstances.

310413.1.1 Researchers and sponsors could make arrangements about research questions to be3105addressed in the design, collection of samples and data, and sharing mechanisms far

- 3106 in advance of the future humanitarian emergency,
- 3107 13.1.2 Researchers could screen available and/ or relevant draft research protocols to
  3108 expedite review process.
- 3109 13.1.3 EC could review the proposals prior to occurrence of the emergency and determine3110 who could be LAR in the absence of intended LARs in such situations.
- 3111 13.2 Informed consent requirements
- 3112 13.2.1 Feasibility of obtaining valid informed consent in the given circumstances as the
  3113 participants would not be in a sane state of mind to differentiate between reliefs
  3114 offered and research components.
- 3115 13.2.2 Safeguards are required for all the participants due to additional vulnerability of all
  3116 involved in the emergency, e.g. counselling, psychological help etc.
- 3117 13.2.3 The potential research participants might be under duress and traumatized so
   3118 researchers should be sensitive to this situation and are obligated to ensure that the
   3119 informed consent process is conducted in a respectful manner.
- 3120 13.2.4 Researchers should strive to identify and address barriers to voluntary informed3121 consent and not resort to inducements for research participation.
- 3122 13.2.5 Every effort must be made in the informed consent process to make research
  3123 participants aware of the difference between participating in a study and receiving
  3124 humanitarian aid. The different roles of the researchers, caregivers, and volunteer
  3125 workers must always be clarified, and the potential conflicts of interest declared.
- 3126 13.2.6 If research involves incompetent individuals (such as minors), then LAR should give
  3127 consent. Additional protections might be required in special cases, for example,
  3128 children with untraceable or deceased relatives. In these situations the consent
  3129 should be obtained from individual/ institution who is not part of the research team.
- 3130 13.2.7 Waiver of consent Investigators should give the rationale to justify the waiver. EC
   3131 should approve such a waiver after considerable discussion on the issue. For details
   3132 refer to section 4 on Informed consent Process.
- 313313.2.8 When assent/ consent of participant/ consent of LAR is not possible due to the3134situation and a test intervention is used with prior EC approval, attempts should be3135made to administer informed consent to participant when mentally able or LAR if3136available later.
- 3137 **13.3** Risk-minimization and equitable distribution of risks and benefits

# 

# 

# Table 13.1

13.3.1 Fair selection of Participants (Table 13.1)

		1. The overall effort is not to over-sample, particularly vulnerable segments of
		population.
		2. Explicit selection criteria or prioritization of participants with proper justificatio
		should be provided in the protocol.
		3. Efforts should be taken to ensure that the research participants are not exploited i
		any way during the research project. The research should not impose additionate the second state of the se
		burdens or if not possible minimal additional risk on people who are alread
		<ul> <li>A Research on interventions to be used in such a situation should first be a nilot stud</li> </ul>
		or preliminary work to examine the safety and efficacy of the intervention an
		same participants should not be included in the clinical trial that may be initiate
		later based on the findings of the pilot study.
		5. It is desirable to set up a Data safety Monitoring Board to review the data.
3141		
3142	1	3.3.2 It should be ensured that the potential benefits of research do not convince potentia
3143		research participants to take undue risks (undue inducement) of enrolling.
3144	1	3.3.3 Efforts should be made to see that the positive results of a specific research ar
3145		applicable to future similar disaster situations.
3146	1	3.3.4 Whenever possible, a priori agreement could be reached between researcher(s) an
3147		disaster affected communities for benefit sharing which could be extended to futur
3148		disaster affected communities wherever applicable.
3149		
3150	13.4	Post research benefit - Sponsors and researchers should strive to continue to provid
3151		beneficial interventions, which were part of the research initiative after the completion of
3152		research as well as till the local social support system develops the capacity to provid
3153		services.
3154		
3155	13.5	Privacy and confidentiality
3156		Disruption of governance, infrastructure, and communication network, and inflow of
3157		visitors during emergencies can lead to the possibility of stigmatization and discrimination.
3158		13.5.1 Special efforts (culturally appropriate and scientifically valid) are required t
3159		maintain dignity, privacy and confidentiality of individuals and the communities;

3160	13.5.2	Utmost attention must be paid to prevent stigmatization, ostracisation, and other
3161		harm to individuals and communities at all stages in the research process.

### 3163 **13.6 Ethics Review Procedures**

- 316413.6.1 Ethics review should be conducted in a timely manner. Expedited ethical review is3165recommended in such circumstances. The full ethical review should follow as soon as3166possible. Following steps could expedite the process (Table 13.2).
- 3167

# Table 13.2

- Measures such as virtual or tele-conferences should be attempted when face to face meetings are not possible.
- In exceptional situations, preliminary research procedures including but not restricted to data/ sample collection that are likely to rapidly deteriorate or perish.

3169	13.6.2 In situations where members of the local ECs are unavailable due to the emergency,
3170	the ethics review may be conducted by any other EC within India for initiating the
3171	study, till the local EC is able to convene its meeting ECs should develop procedures
3172	to ensure appropriate timely review and monitoring of the approved research. On
3173	case-to-case basis, some protocols may require re-review as the emergency situation
3174	may change.
3175	13.7 Special Considerations
3176	Humanitarian emergencies lead to fragile political environment, with disruption of health
3177	systems and social situations.
3178	13.7.1The investigators should undertake steps to maintain participant and community trust.
3179	13.7.2Efforts should be made to engage community in the conduct of research in a culturally
3180	sensitive manner to ensure public trust.
3181	13.7.2.1 The research team should preferably describe a preliminary community
3182	mapping/ scoping exercise.
3183	13.7.2.2 Where possible, community representatives or advocates should be involved
3184	in conceptualization, review, research and dissemination of research results in
3185	such settings.
3186	13.8 Continuation of ongoing research when a humanitarian emergency occurs:
3187	13.8.1 The investigators must go back to the EC for guidance.

- 318813.8.2Amendments might be incorporated in the project(s) to align to the research3189needs arising from the emergency including issues related to re-consent from3190participants.
- 3191 13.8.3 EC may decide if more frequent monitoring is required.

# 3192 **13.9** International participation in research

- 3193 13.9.1 Conduct of research in a humanitarian emergency, which involves a foreign
  3194 researcher/ institution, must involve local partner(s).
- 319513.9.2Existing guidelines on international collaboration for biological samples, data and3196intellectual property related issues will be applicable.
- 319713.9.3Permission should be obtained from relevant national and local authorities,3198wherever applicable. The research should help in developing the capacity of local3199researchers, and sites and provide key learning points to the policy makers, and3200the community.
- 3201 13.9.4 All publications must be jointly authored.
- 3202
- 3203

# 14. Responsible conduct of Research

3205 **14.0** The value and benefits of research are essentially dependent on the integrity of research in 3206 which scientists have a significant social responsibility in preventing misuse of research. 3207 'Responsible' researchers abide by the standards set by their professions, disciplines and 3208 institutions and also by relevant laws. All the members of the team doing research are 3209 expected to maintain high standards to uphold the fundamental values of research and the 3210 principles arising out of those values for 'Responsible conduct of research' (RCR). The major 3211 components of RCR are values, policies, planning and conducting, reviewing and reporting 3212 research, and responsible authorship and publication.

3213

3204

# 3214 14.1 Values of Research

Morally correct judgment, shared values like honesty, accuracy, efficiency, fairness, objectivity, reliability, accountability and transparency in research binding researchers together, personal integrity and knowledge of current best practices guide RCR. These factors should be respected and policies drawn for upholding them. Trust is built upon these values, which involves self, colleagues, mentors, peer reviewers and sponsors.

# 3220 14.1.1 The Scientist as a Responsible Member of Society

3221 Scientific research is a social activity to achieve common goals of improving the 3222 understanding of various health related problems and their solutions. All the facets 3223 of research depend on co-operation based on shared expectations as part of inter 3224 professional ethics. Unethical behavior in scientific research can destroy the trust 3225 that holds the research team together and would make future meaningful research 3226 impossible.

### 3227 **14.1.2** Getting updated on contemporary ethical issues in biomedical research

Emerging new areas of research give rise to new ethical issues. Mushrooming of contract research organizations, use of underprivileged and vulnerable groups as participants, post trial access to the benefits of the research interventions are some of the contemporary issues being debated and consensus is yet to evolve on these issues. Therefore, the researchers need to be constantly updated about application of ethical principles in such situations.

# 3234 14.1.3 Sensitivity to Societal and cultural Impact of Biomedical Research

To analyze social and cultural impacts one must analyze how the health sector and general public engage with the results of biomedical and health research. It is essential that the researchers be aware of the importance of societal and cultural impact of research while planning, conducting and evaluating that research. This
will improve public accountability and enhance public, private and political
advocacy.

#### 3241 **14.1.4 Mentoring**

Mentoring is one of the primary means for one generation of scientists to pass on their knowledge, values and principles to succeeding generations. Mentors through their experience can help a researcher much more than reading textbooks. The relationship between mentors and trainees should enable development of trainees into responsible researchers. A mentor should be knowledgeable, teach and lead by example, understand that trainees differ in their abilities, encourage decision making by the trainees and be available to discuss, debate and guide.

- 324914.1.4.1 Mentor's expectations from trainees would be to see that the trainee3250conducts research honestly, does not interfere with the work of other3251researchers and uses resources judiciously.
- 325214.1.4.2 The trainee should take an active role in communicating her/his needs3253and be able to express own opinion freely without any fear of getting3254reprimanded.

#### 3255 14.2 Policies

### 3256 14.2.1 The Protection of Human Participants

3257 There should be institutional policies for human research participant's protection, 3258 which ascribes responsibilities to institutions, EC and the researchers. Additionally, 3259 there should be mechanism and policies for monitoring of the research including 3260 data capture and management and safety of the participants. Policies pertaining to 3261 reporting of scientific misconduct, conflict of interest, etc. should be in place. 3262 Researchers should also follow their respective Professional Codes of Conduct and 3263 should have personal conviction about ethically conducting and reporting research. 3264 Policies should be in place for appropriate initial and continuing training of 3265 researchers and EC members.

- 3267 14.2.2 Animal experimentation
- Those involved in experimentation on animals must follow all the existing regulations and guidelines including 'The Prevention of Cruelty to Animal Act, 1960', amended in 1982, The Breeding and Experimentation Rules, 1998, amended in 2001 and 2006,

The *Guidelines for care and use of animals in scientific research,* (Indian National Science Academy, 1982, amended in 2000), ICMR guidelines on Humane care and use of laboratory animals (2006), CPCSEA guidelines for Rehabilitation of animals used in research (2010)and CPCSEA guidelines for laboratory animal facilities (2002/2012).

3276 14.2

### 14.2.3 Collaborative research

3277 Researchers are increasingly collaborating with colleagues who have the expertise 3278 and/or resources needed to carry out a particular research involving sharing 3279 techniques, data, and intellectual property rights. This could be inter-departmental/ 3280 inter-institutional and international and also multi centric involving public and/ or private research centres/ agencies. The main ethical issues in such collaborations 3281 3282 pertain to ownership of materials and data, IPR, joint publications, managing 3283 research findings, managing conflict of interest (COI) and commercializing research 3284 outcomes etc. The researchers should familiarise themselves with all the local, 3285 national and international requirements for such collaboration including necessary 3286 approvals, MoU, MTA (Material Transfer Agreement) etc.

3287

### 3288 14.3 Planning and conducting Research

When research involves human participants, their biological materials and /or data, it is the responsibility of the researchers to comply with the existing ethical guidelines and relevant regulations in order to ensure rights, safety and well-being of the participants while planning, conducting and reporting research. In this context, issues related to conflict of Interest (COI), data acquisition, its management, sharing and ownership should be addressed.

- **14.3.1 Ensuring safety, rights and well-being of the participants** all applicable ethical
   guidelines should be applied including the use of independent peer review and
   consent process.
- 3298

### 14.3.2 Conflict of Interest issues

The complex and demanding nature of research today inevitably gives rise to competing interests. This is not inherently wrong but conflicts of interest can influence the choice of research questions and methods, recruitment and retention of participants, interpretation and publication of data, and the ethical review of research. It is therefore, necessary to develop and implement policies and 3304procedures to identify, mitigate, and manage such conflicts of interest. Research3305institutions, researchers and research ECs must take the following steps (Table 14.1)

\_

# Table 14.1

1. Research institution	ns	
<ul> <li>They must</li> </ul>	develop and implement policies and procedures to	
address co	nflicts of interest, conflict of commitment and educate	
their staff a	bout such policies.	
2. Researchers		
Must ensur	e that the materials submitted to a research EC include	
	f commitment may arise from situations that place	
	demands on researchers' time and loyalties	
Intellectual	and Personal conflicts: Researchers should not serve as	
reviewers	for grants and publications submitted by close	
colleagues.	relatives and students.	
3. Ethics committees		
Must evalu	ate each study in light of any disclosed interests and	
ensure tha	appropriate means of mitigation are taken in case of a	
conflict of	interest.	
Must requi	re their members to disclose their own COI and take	
appropriate	e measures.	
14.3.3 Management of COI		
"Managing" a conflict means finding a way to assure that the COI do not adversely		
influence the research. Som	ne options are given below (Table 14.2) –	
	Table 14.2	
1. Full disclosure of all	interests so that others are aware of potential conflicts	
and can act accordin	ngly.	
2. Monitoring the res	earch or checking research results for accuracy and	
objectivity;		
3. Not involving the p	erson in the research from the crucial steps such as	
interpretation of d	ata or participating in a particular review decision or	
removal of the pers	on from the research depending on the extent of COI.	
4. Policies and measur	es for managing conflicts of interest must be dynamic,	

transparent and actively communicated to those affected.

### 3316 14.4 Data Acquisition, Management, Sharing and Ownership

3317 Collection of data is a major component of research. Four important aspects of data 3318 management – ownership, collection, storage and sharing need to be addressed.

### 3319 **14.4.1** Data ownership and custodianship (Table 14.3)

3320

### Table 14.3

- The usual understanding is that the person who conducts the research should own the data but conditions imposed by funders can and do vary considerably and so researchers and institutions must be aware of their obligations to them before they begin collecting data.
- 2. Institutes receiving funds for the research have responsibilities for budgets regulatory compliance and data management and so they claim ownership rights over data collected with funded research. This means that researchers cannot automatically assume that they can take their data with them if they move to another institution.
- 3. The ownership issues and the responsibilities that come with them need to be carefully worked out well before any data are collected. Before undertaking any work researchers should ensure clarity about data ownership publication rights and obligations following data collection.
- 4. For biological samples donors (participants) maintain the ownership of the sample. Institutes hosting/ implementing the research are the custodians of the data/ samples. Researchers have no claim for ownership or custodianship of biological samples.

### 3321

# 3322 14.4.2 Data collection

There is no single best way to collect data. Different collection techniques are needed for different types of research. The important considerations to ensure the overall integrity of both the process and the information collected are:

# 3326 14.4.2.1 Appropriate methods

- 3327Reliable research conducted using appropriate and reliable methods3328provide reliable data. The use of inappropriate methods in research3329compromises the integrity of research data and should be avoided.
- 333014.4.2.2Attention to detail

3331Quality research requires attention to detail at every step. Proper protocols3332need to be established and the results accurately recorded, interpreted,3333and published. Sloppy research wastes resources and should be avoided.

3334 14.4.2.3 Authorization

3335	Authorization is needed for the following prior to data collection (Tab	ole
3336	14.4)	

3338

3339

3340

### Table 14.4

1.	human participants and animals in research;
2.	information posted on some web sites;
3.	use of hazardous materials and biological agents;
4.	Biological sample storage & future testing;
5.	information in some libraries, databases, and archives;
6.	published photographs and other published information; and
7.	other copyrighted or patented processes or materials.

Researchers have a responsibility to know when permission is needed to collect or use specific data in their research.

### 3341 14.2.2.4 Recording

The final step in data collection is the physical process of recording the data in hard copy, soft copy, or other permanent forms. The physical formats for recording data vary considerably, from measurements or observations to photographs or interview recordings. To have and hold their value, research data must be properly recorded.

### 3347 14.4.3 Data protection and storage

# 3348 Once collected, data must be properly protected, as it may be needed later to confirm 3349 research findings, to establish priority, or to be re-analyzed by other researchers.

The responsible handling of data begins with proper storage and protection from accidental damage, loss, or theft. Care should be taken to reduce the risk of fire, flood, and other catastrophic events. Computer files should be backed up and the backup data saved in a secure place at a site that is different from the original data.

### 3354 **14.4.4 Data Sharing**

3355 There is no doubt that research data should be shared, but deciding when and with 3356 whom to share may raise difficult questions. Researchers can withhold confirmed or 3357 validated data until they have had time to establish their priority for their work through publication. Once a researcher has published the results of an experiment, it 3358 is generally expected that all the information about that experiment, including the 3359 3360 final data, should be freely available for other researchers to check and use. Data 3361 should be shared/ put in public domain in a de-identified /anonymized form, unless 3362 required otherwise for which applicable permissions/re-consent should be sought.

### 3363 14.5 Reviewing and Reporting Research

- The trust of the public in published research is an essential component of ethical and responsible research.
- 3366 14.5.1 The basic premise of all reviewers and editors evaluating research is that the work
  3367 has been performed honestly, its reporting is transparent and truthful, and the
  3368 researchers' integrity is beyond doubt.
- 14.5.2 Transparency pertains to both the research site and the researcher(s). This would
   require disclosure of the location of the research as well as the collaborating
   sites/institutions and the authors of that research.
- 3372 14.6 Responsible Authorship and Publication
- 337314.6.1. Authorship The International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE)3374guidance on authorship is largely accepted as a standard which is endorsed by the3375World Association of Medical Editors (WAME). The ICMJE recommends that the3376authorship be based on the following four criteria (Table 14.5)
- 3377 3378

# Table 14.5

	1. Substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; or the
	acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work;
	2. Drafting the work or revising it for important intellectual content;
	3. Final approval of the version to be published;
	4. Agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that
	questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are
	appropriately investigated and resolved.
3379	
3380	14.6.1.1The authorship of research should be considered at the time of its initiation.
3381	14.6.1.2 Institutions and departments should have authorship policies. Editors of
3382	journals do not adjudicate on authorship disputes and would almost always
3383	refer these to the institution/ researchers themselves to resolve.
3384	14.6.1.3 Authorship should never be gifted and 'ghost' authors are not acceptable.
3385	14.6.1.4 The primary author should be the person who has done the most research
3386	work related to the manuscript being submitted for publication. Research
3387	performed as part of a mandatory requirement of a
3388	course/fellowship/training program should have the candidate as the
3389	primary author. All efforts must be made to provide the candidate an

3390		opportunity to fulfil the second, third and fourth criteria of the ICMJE
3391		guidelines.
3392	:	14.6.2 Peer Review
3393		Scientific disclosure and progress has been dependent largely on peers evaluating
3394		research and judging the utility of conducting and publishing research.
3395		14.6.2.1The present peer review system depends on fairness, honesty and
3396		transparency of all stakeholders' – editors, reviewers and researchers.
3397		14.6.2.2 The process of peer review must be clearly stated, whether blinded or
3398		open, involving one or more reviewers and should be completed within a
3399		reasonable period of time.
3400		14.6.2.3 Researchers must avoid mentioning friends, well-wishers and mentors as
3401		reviewers.
3402		14.6.2.4 Reviewers must decline to review research of close associates, friends and
3403		students.
3404		14.6.2.5 The funding agencies and journals must ask reviewers and researchers to
3405		inform them of conflict of interest, if any.
3406		14.6.2.6 Reviewers must maintain confidentiality of manuscripts sent to them for
3407		review.
3408		14.6.2.7 If they feel that they are not competent to review papers they should
3409		inform editors immediately and should not pass on the manuscripts to
3410		friends and colleagues, without seeking the consent of the editors.
3411		14.6.2.8 Reviewers must not use the data available to them from an unpublished
3412		manuscript for any purpose and should complete the review in a
3413		reasonable period of time.
3414		14.6.2.9 Researchers must not create fake email ids and profiles to misguide
3415		editors in an attempt to self-evaluate their research.
3416		
3417	14.7	Research Misconduct and Policies for Handling Misconduct
3418		Research misconduct involves fabrication, falsification and plagiarism of data, which are
3419		serious issues. The Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE), UK provides guidance to
3420		handle different types of misconduct. The ICMJE and WAME support this guidance.
3421		Researchers, reviewers and editors should therefore use this guidance to avoid the
3422		problems of scientific misconduct.
3423		

- Fabrication is the intentional act of making up data or results and recording or reporting them.
- Falsification is manipulating research materials, equipment, or processes, or changing or omitting/ suppressing data or results without scientific or statistical justification, such that the research is not accurately represented in the research record.
- Plagiarism is the "wrongful appropriation" and "stealing and publication" of another author's "language, thoughts, ideas, or expressions" and the representation of them as one's own original work.

- 342514.7.1Misconduct, if suspected, needs to be investigated. The role of institutions in this is3426paramount and they must investigate all allegations of misconduct. This is imperative3427as the lives of patients may depend on the research in question. Such investigations3428must be done in a timely, fair and transparent manner and the results should be3429made available in the public domain.
- 3430 14.7.2 Simultaneous submission and overlapping publications are not acceptable. If multiple 3431 journals were to accept the submitted research it would result in competing claims 3432 for publication. Even if the research was not accepted, it would lead to unnecessary 3433 review of the work by different groups of reviewers. Overlapping publication would 3434 result in infringement of copyright laws if the copyright for the same article were to 3435 be owned by two different publishers. This is also ethically incorrect because the 3436 reader would believe the work to be original while it was previously published. Also if 3437 the overlapping publication had original data it could lead to the same data being 3438 counted twice during a meta-analysis.
- 3439

### 3440 **14.8 Reporting results**

- 14.8.1 Research once done, irrespective of results, must be published according to Helsinki
   Declaration, since it would be unethical to expose another set of patients/volunteers
   to the same risk to obtain the same results.
- 14.8.2 As part of trial registration, reporting of results has been mandated by law in some
   countries. Where it is not legally required, researchers should provide results of
   registered trials in public databases wherever these are available. In India it will have
   to be reported in the Clinical Trial Registry of India.

S. No.	List of Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs)	SOP Code	
1.	Writing, Reviewing, Distributing and Amending Standard Operating	SOP/001	
	Procedures for ECs		
2.	Constituting an Ethics Committee	SOP/002	
3.	Confidentiality Agreements	SOP/003	
4.	Conflict of Interest Agreements	SOP/004	
5.	Training Personnel and EC	SOP/005	
6.	Selection of Independent Consultants	SOP/006	
7.	Procedures for allowing Guest or Observer SOP/007		
8.	Categorization of Submitted Protocols for Ethics Review	SOP/008	
	A. Initial Full Board Review of New Research Study Protocols	SOP/008 A	
	B. Expedited Review of Research Study Protocols	SOP/008 B	
	C. Exemption from Ethics Review of Research Study Protocols	SOP/008 C	
9.	Agenda Preparation, Meeting Procedures and Minutes	SOP/009	
10.	Review of New Medical Devices Studies	SOP/010	
11.	Review of Resubmitted Protocols SOP/011		
12.	Review of Protocol Amendments SOP/012		
13.	Continuing Review of Study Protocols	SOP/013	
14.	Review of Final Reports	SOP/014	
15.	Review of Serious Adverse Events (SAE) Reports SOP/015		
16.	Review of Study Completion Reports SOP/016		
17.	T.         Management of Premature Termination, Suspension, Discontinuation         SOP/017		
	of the Study		
18.	Waiver of Written or Verbal Informed Consent	SOP/018	
19.	Site Monitoring Visit	SOP/019	
20.	Dealing with Participants' Requests and Complaints Coming to Ethics	SOP/020	
	Committee		
21.	Emergency Meeting	SOP/021	
22.	Communication Records	SOP/022	
23.	Maintenance of Active Study Files	SOP/023	
24.	Archive and Retrieval of Documents	SOP/024	
25.	Maintaining Confidentiality of EC's Documents	SOP/025	
26.	Reviewing Proposals involving Vulnerable Populations SOP/026		
27.	Audit and Inspection of the ECSOP/027		
28.	Audio Visual Recording of Informed Consent Process	SOP/028	

	Glossary		
1.	Accountability	The obligation of an individual or organization to account for its activities, accept responsibility for them, and to disclose the results in a transparent manner.	
2.	Adult Stem Cell	A stem cell derived from the tissues or organs of organism after birth (in contrast to embryonic or fetal stem cells).	
3.	Adverse Drug Reactions (ADR)	All noxious and unintended responses to a medicinal product related to any dose used in man for the prophylaxis, diagnosis, or therapy of disease, or for the modifications of physiological function. ADRs are classified into six types: dose-related (Augmented), non-dose-related (Bizarre), dose-related and time-related (Chronic), time-related (Delayed), withdrawal (End of use), and failure of therapy (Failure).	
4.	Adverse event	Any untoward medical occurrence in a patient or clinical investigation participant administered an investigational product and which does not necessarily have a casual relationship with this treatment. The adverse event can therefore be any unfavourable or unintended sign or experience associated with the use of the investigational product, whether or not related to the product	
5.	Alternative Medicine	Alternative medicine is any practice that is put forward as having the healing effects of medicine, but does not originate from evidence gathered using the scientific method, is not part of biomedicine, or is contradicted by scientific evidence or established science.	
6.	Appellate authority	An appellate authority decides on the appeal filled for a judgment of the lower authority. The mandate of appellate authority is to ensure that due process of law is followed and the information which is rightfully to be disclosed in not denied on flimsy and useless ground.	
7.	Assent	To agree or approve after thoughtful consideration of an idea or suggestion. In these guidelines it means agreement or approval which has to be corroborated with informed consent of LAR.	
8.	Assessment Form	An official record of the review decision along with comments and dated signature of the reviewer.	
9.	Audit	A systematic and independent examination of trial activities and documents to determine whether the review and approval activities were conducted and data were recorded and accurately reported according to the SOPs, GCP, Declaration of Helsinki and applicable guidelines and regulatory requirements.	
10.	Authority	Authority means the Biomedical and Health Research Authority established under this Act.	
11.	Autonomy	It is the ability and capacity of a rational individual to make an independently informed decision to volunteer as a research	

		participant.
12.	Ayurvedic, Siddha or Unani (ASU) drug	Includes all medicines intended for internal or external use for or in the diagnosis, treatment, mitigation or prevention of disease or disorder in human beings or animals, and manufactured exclusively in accordance with the formulae described in, the authoritative books of Ayurvedic, Siddha and Unani Tibb system of medicine and corresponding pharmacoaepias specified in the First Schedule. These are also called as classical drugs which are manufactured and named in accordance with the formulations described in the authoritative texts.
13.	AYUSH	Includes any existing/ new intervention with drug, therapeutic or
	Intervention	India as per Ministry of AYUSH, Govt. of India (including Ayurveda, Yoga and Naturopathy, Unani, Siddha, Homeopathy and SOWA RIGPA).
14.	Behavioral research	Refers to studies of the behaviour of individuals, or of groups, organizations or societies.
15.	Beneficence	Beneficence is a concept in research ethics, which states that researchers should weigh the risks against benefits bearing in mind the welfare of the research participant(s) as a goal in any type of research.
16.	Bioequivalence	Bioequivalence is a term in pharmacokinetics used to assess the expected <i>in vivo</i> biological equivalence of two proprietary preparations of a drug. If two products are said to be bioequivalent it means that they would be expected to be, for all intents and purposes, the same.
17.	Biomedical and Health Research	Includes basic, applied and operational research designed primarily to increase the scientific knowledge about diseases and conditions (physical or socio-behavioral), their detection, cause and strategies for health promotion, prevention, or amelioration of disease and rehabilitation and includes clinical research.
18.	Biologicals or biopharmaceutical	Any pharmaceutical drug product manufactured in, extracted from, or semi synthesized from biological sources (human animal or
	drug	microorganism). These include vaccines, blood, or blood components, allergenics, somatic cells, gene therapies, tissues, recombinant therapeutic protein, and living cells used in cell therapy.
19.	Biosimilars	A biosimilar (also known as follow-on biologic or subsequent entry biologic) is a biologic medical product which is almost an identical copy of an original product that is manufactured by a different company.
20.	Blinded studies	A <b>blind</b> or <b>blinded study</b> is an experiment in which information about the test is masked (kept) from the participant, to reduce or eliminate bias, until after a trial outcome is known. Double blinded means even the researcher does not know which is the test intervention.
21.	Bridging study	A supplemental study performed in the new region to provide pharmacodynamic or clinical data on efficacy, safety, dosage, and dose regimen in the new region that will allow extrapolation of the foreign clinical data to the new region. It is an additional study executed in the new region to "build a bridge" with the foreign clinical data on safety, efficacy, and dose response. This bridging of clinical studies is usually made by allowing extrapolation of the foreign clinical trial data to the population in the new region. (ICH E5)
-----	----------------------------	--
22.	Caregivers	A <b>caregiver</b> or carer is an unpaid or paid person who helps another individual with impairment with her or his activities of daily living.
23.	Case control studies	A study that compares patients who have a disease or outcome of interest (cases) with patients who do not have the disease or outcome (controls), and looks back retrospectively to compare how frequently the exposure to a risk factor is present in each group to determine the relationship between the risk factor and the disease.
24.	Case Report Form (CRF)	Case record form or case report form is printed, optical or electronic document designed to record all of the protocol required information to be reported to the sponsor on each trial participant.
25.	Case series	A case series (also known as a clinical series) is a type of medical research that tracks participants with a known exposure, e.g., patients who have received a similar treatment, or examines their medical records for exposure and outcome.
26.	Cell Line	Cells of common descent continuously cultured in the laboratory are referred to as a cell line.
27.	Chromosome	The thread-like DNA in a cell is divided into several separate lengths. Each length forms a structure called a chromosome. There are two copies of each chromosome in every cell. Human cells contain 23 pairs of chromosomes.
28.	Clinical Research	It is research that directly involves a particular person or group of people to study effect of interventions, or uses materials from humans indirectly, such as their behaviour or samples of their tissue for prevention, treatment and diagnosis of a disease condition/ health disorder.
29.	Clinical Trial Registry	A clinical trials registry is an official platform for registering a clinical trial.
30.	Clinical trial	Systematic study of new drug in human participant to generate data for discovering or verifying it's clinical, pharmacological (including pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic) or adverse effects with the objective of determining safety, efficacy or tolerance of the new drug and regulated under Drugs & Cosmetics Act and its Rules.
31.	Cognitive	Cognitive impairment is when a person has trouble remembering, learning new things, concentrating, or making decisions that affect

	impairment	their everyday life.
32.	Cohort	A cohort is a group of participants who have shared a particular event together during a particular time span (e.g., people born in Europe between 1918 and 1939; survivors of an air crash; truck drivers who smoked between age 30 and 40).
33.	Collaborative Research	Collaborative Research is an umbrella term for methodologies that actively engage researchers, communities and/ or policy makers in the research process from start to finish.
34.	Community	A community is a social unit of any size that shares common values, or that is situated in a given geographical area (e.g. a village or town).
35.	Comparator (Product)	An investigational or marketed product (i.e., active control), or placebo, used as a reference in a clinical trial.
36.	Compensation	Means provision of financial payment or reimbursement to the research participants or medical and/ or financial management when temporary or permanent injury occurs due to participation in the biomedical and health Research.
37.	Compliance	Compliance means conforming to a rule, such as a specification, policy, standard or law.
38.	Confidentiality Agreement	Secrecy or Nondisclosure agreements designed to protect trade secrets, information and expertise from being misused by those who have learned about them.
39.	Confidentiality breach	Unauthorized release of confidential information.
40.	Confidentiality	Refers to keeping information which an individual has disclosed in a relationship of trust and with the expectation that it shall not be divulged to others without permission in ways that are inconsistent with the understanding of the original disclosure with reference to the specific research undertaken for which the consent is obtained.
41.	Congenital anomaly	Structural or functional anomalies that occur during intrauterine life and can be identified prenatally, at birth or later in life. Congenital anomalies are also known as birth defects, congenital disorders or congenital malformations.
42.	Consanguinity	Descendent from the same ancestral family or related by blood.
43.	Contract research organization (CRO)	An institution or service organization, which represents a sponsor, in providing research support/ services on a contractual basis nationally or internationally.
44.	Cytotoxic drugs	A group of medicines that contain chemicals which are toxic to cells, preventing their replication or growth, and so are used to treat cancer. They can also be used to treat a number of other disorders such as

		rheumatoid arthritis and multiple sclerosis.
45.	Debriefing	A process of (1) receiving an explanation, (2) receiving information and situation-based reminders of context, (3) reporting of measures of performance, and/ or (4) opportunities to further investigate the results of a study, investigation, or assessment of performance after participation in an immersive activity is complete.
46.	Delirium	Delirium is a serious disturbance in mental abilities that results in confused thinking and reduced awareness of environment.
47.	Dementia	A chronic or persistent disorder of the mental processes caused by brain disease or injury and marked by memory disorders, personality changes, and impaired reasoning.
48.	Demographic surveillance system	Demographic surveillance systems (DSS) are one of the cornerstones of public health research in countries where lack of comprehensive and reliable data systems are non-existing.
49.	Descriptive studies	Any study that is not truly experimental, e.g., in human research, it can provide information about the naturally occurring health status, behaviour, attitudes or other characteristics of a particular group.
50.	Deviation/Non- compliance/Violati on	The EC monitors whether investigators do not perform the study in compliance with the approved protocol, ICH GCP, FDA regulations and/ or fail to respond to the EC's request for information/action.
51.	Device	An instrument, apparatus, implement, machine, contrivance, implant, <i>in vitro</i> agent, or other similar or related article, including a component, part or accessory, intended for use in the diagnosis of disease or other conditions, or in the cure, mitigation, treatment, or prevention of disease in man, or intended to affect the structure or any function of the body of man, and which does not achieve any of its primary intended purposes/ uses through chemical action within or on the body of man, or by being metabolized within the body.
52.	Direct To consumer Testing	Direct-to-consumer genetic testing refers to genetic tests that are marketed directly to consumers via television, print advertisements, or the Internet. This form of testing, which is also known as at-home genetic testing, provides access to a person's genetic information without necessarily involving a doctor or insurance company in the process.
53.	Distributive Justice	Distributive justice is fair distribution of burden, resources and benefits. In research it means fair selection of participants.
54.	Epidemiological studies	Epidemiology is the study of the patterns, causes, and effects of health and disease conditions in defined populations.
55.	Epidemiological Tools	Epidemiological tools are used to select study samples, estimate risk and evaluate associations.

56.	Ethicist	An <b>ethicist</b> is one whose judgment on ethics and ethical codes has come to be trusted by a specific community, and (importantly) is expressed in some way that makes it possible for others to mimic or approximate that judgement.
57.	Ethics Committee	Refers to a multidisciplinary committee of an institution responsible for safeguarding the rights, dignity, welfare and safety of research participants by carrying out independent review of research prior to its approval and then monitoring its conduct, and may also be referred to as Institutional Ethics Committee (IEC).
58.	Ethics	Ethics or moral philosophy is the branch of philosophy that involves systematizing, defending, and recommending concepts of right and wrong conduct.
59.	Expedited approval	An EC approval granted only by the Chairman of the Institute Committee or a designated Institute Committee member (not the full Committee) for minor changes to current EC approved research activities and for research which involves no more than minimal risk.
60.	Exploitation	The action or fact of treating someone unfairly in order to benefit from their work
61.	Exploratory research	Research conducted for a problem that has not been clearly defined.
62.	Fabrication	Fabrication is the intentional act of making up data or results and recording or reporting them.
63.	Falsification	Falsification is manipulating research materials, equipment, or processes, or changing or omitting/suppressing data or results without scientific or statistical justification, such that the research is not accurately represented in the research record.
64.	Field trials	Involve people who are disease-free but presumed to be at risk, used to evaluate interventions that reduce exposure without measuring the occurrence of health effects.
65.	Folklore medicine	It is the sum total of the knowledge, skills and practices based on the theories, beliefs and experiences indigenous to different cultures, societies, communities, folklores in India, used for the maintenance of health, as well as in the prevention, diagnosis, improvement or treatment of physical and mental illnesses, and which may not find a mention in the list of authoritative texts listed under First Schedule of Drugs and Cosmetics Act 1940.
66.	Funding agency	Refers to both governmental and non-governmental agencies that provide research grants through competitive means to an investigator or an institution for carrying out Biomedical and Health Research.
67.	Gene	A gene is a length of DNA that contains the information needed to make one polypeptide. For example, the beta globin gene contains the

		information needed to make the beta globin polypeptide found in hemoglobin of red blood cells. More than one gene may be involved in making one protein, and more than one polypeptide may be formed from one gene as a result of alternate splicing.
68.	Generic product	A product that is sold under the general name for a type of product, rather than a brand name.
69.	Genetic Engineering	It is the process of creating new DNA by cutting and patching (recombinant DNA technology). Several other technologies such as site directed mutagenesis, vector mediated integration or deletion of DNA etc. have evolved and are continuing to evolve.
70.	Genetic material/ genome	Genetic material refers to DNA or any other material carrying hereditary information in each cell of an organism. It consists of unique, single copies of genes, which make up approximately 10% of the DNA. The total informational content of an individual is known as 'genome'.
71.	Guideline	Any suggestion or recommendation intended as a guide for specific practice.
72.	Host country	Nation in which individuals or organizations from other countries or states visit as researcher(s) under international collaboration, which is India under the context.
73.	Human participant(s)	A person(s) or group(s) enrolling in research.
74.	Incarcerated	To imprison; confine or to enclose; constrict closely.
75.	Incompetent	Lacking necessary ability or skills or inadequate to or unsuitable for a particular purpose or unable to function properly.
76.	Independent consultant	An expert who gives advice, comments and suggestion upon review of the study protocols with no affiliation to the institute or investigators proposing the research protocols.
77.	Individualized medicine	Personalized or customised medicine is an emerging practice of medicine that uses an individual's genetic profile to guide decisions with regard to the prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of disease. Same approach is adopted in traditional medicine but on clinical basis.
78.	Inducement	A motive or consideration that leads one to action or to additional or more effective actions.
79.	Informed Consent Document (ICD)	Written signed and dated paper confirming participant's willingness to voluntarily participate in a particular trial, after having been informed all aspects of the trial that are relevant for participant's decision to participate.

80.	Inspection	The act by a regulatory authorities of conducting an official review of documents, facilities, records, and any other resources that are deemed by the authorities to be related in the clinical trial and that may be located at the site of the trial, at the sponsor's and/or contract research organisation's (CRO) facilities, office of ethics committees or at other establishments deemed appropriate by the regulatory authorities.
81.	Institution	Refers to an individual or establishment or an organization (public or private), such as a university, college, hospital, clinic or a research institute (including its relevant officials, designated ethics committee, researchers, and any other employees or agents involved in research), CRO or others conducting biomedical and health research involving human participants.
82.	Interdisciplinary	Involving more than one branch of knowledge.
83.	Interventional Trials	Intervention trials consist of trials to prevent disease (field trials) or trials to treat established disease processes (clinical trials).
84.	Investigational New Drugs (IND)	Substance which may be a new chemical entity, a new combination, new dosage form, new dosage regime or to be used for a new indication or new route of administration, being studied to verify their potential effects and safety for human use and to get approval for marketing.
85.	Investigational Product (IP)	A pharmaceutical product (including the Comparator Product) being tested or used as reference in a clinical study, which may be an active chemical entity, a new combination, an IND or a marketed drug/Device (Check).
86.	LAR	Legally authorised representative under applicable law or judicial authority or legally acceptable representative (LAR) responsible for the participant who consents on behalf of a prospective participant to participate in research or to undergo a diagnostic, therapeutic or preventive procedure as per research protocol duly approved by the Institutional Ethics Committee;
87.	Longitudinal studies	A longitudinal study is an observational research method in which data is gathered for the same subjects repeatedly over a period of time.
88.	Majority vote	A motion is carried out if one half plus one member of the required quorum votes in its favour.
89.	Maleficence	The act of committing harm or a harmful act.
90.	Man- Made emergencies	Disasters caused by humans. Examples of man-made hazards include Airline disaster, Biological agents, Disruptions in Services - Water, sewer, communications, travel, etc; Hazardous materials - truck, rail, and pipeline; Mass Gatherings, Transportation - truck and rail,

		Weapons of mass destruction
91.	Marginalized communities	A group of people is actively separated or excluded from the rest of society.
92.	Medicated devices	These are devices that contain pharmacologically active substances, which are treated as drugs.
93.	Mental illness	A condition which causes serious disorder in a person's behaviour or thinking.
94.	Mental health	Mental <b>health</b> is a level of <b>psychological</b> well-being, or an absence of a mental disorder; it is the " <b>psychological</b> state of someone who is functioning at a satisfactory level of emotional and behavioral adjustment"
95.	Meta-analysis	Meta-analysis is a statistical technique for combining the findings from independent studies.
96.	Minimal Risk	Minimal risk would be defined as one which may be anticipated as harm or discomfort not greater than that encountered in routine daily life activities of general population or during the performance of routine physical or psychological examinations or tests. However, in some cases like surgery, chemotherapy or radiation therapy, great risk would be inherent in the treatment itself, but this may be within the range of minimal risk for the research participant since it would be undertaken as part of current everyday life.
97.	Minutes	An official record of the business discussed and transacted at a meeting, conference, etc.
98.	Multifactorial Diseases	Conditions caused by many contributing factors are called complex or multifactorial disorders.
99.	Mutation	A process by which the nucleotide of an organism changes permanently or mutates. In humans this can lead to disease such as thalassemia in which the mutation results in decreased production of beta or alpha globin. The mutant gene is passed on from parent to the offspring, so the condition is inherited.
100.	Natural emergencies	A natural disaster is a major adverse event resulting from natural processes of the Earth; examples include floods, volcanic eruptions, earthquakes, tsunamis and other geologic processes.
101.	New chemical entity of an ASU drug	When an extract of a plant or a compound isolated from the plant and any compound formulation having plants, metals, minerals and animal products as ingredients has to be clinically evaluated for a therapeutic effect not originally described in the texts of traditional systems or, the method of preparation is different, it has to be treated as a new substance or new chemical entity (NCE) or an extract or a compound isolated from a plant and any compound formulation having plants, metals, minerals and animal products as

		ingredients which has never been in use before and has not ever been mentioned in ancient literature, should be treated as a new drug, and therefore, should undergo all regulatory requirements before being evaluated clinically.
102.	New drugs including Investigational New Drugs (IND)	Defined under Rule 122-E of Drugs and Cosmetics Rules include unapproved drugs, modified or new claims, namely, indications, dosage forms (including sustained release dosage form) and route of administration of already approved drugs and combination of two or more drugs or new combination of approved FDC. A new drug shall continue to be considered as new drug for a period of four years from the date of its first approval or its inclusion in the Indian Pharmacopoeia, whichever is earlier.
103.	Non- Therapeutic trial	A non-therapeutic trial is one which is unlikely to produce any direct benefit to the participants involved. The aim of a non-therapeutic trial is to obtain knowledge which may contribute towards the future development of new forms of treatment or procedure.
104.	Observational studies	In an <b>observational</b> study investigators observe subjects and measure variables of interest without assigning treatments to the subjects.
105.	Ostracisation	To exclude, by general consent, from society, friendship, conversation, privileges, etc.
106.	Pedigree studies	Pedigree studies have been used to identify genes influencing a wide range of monogenic, highly penetrant traits of biomedical importance, including a variety of inborn errors of metabolism and other genetic diseases (e.g., cystic fibrosis, Duchene muscular dystrophy, Huntington disease).
107.	Pharmaceutical Product(s)	Any substance or combination of substances which has a therapeutic, prophylactic or diagnostic purpose or is intended to modify physiological functions, and presented in a dosage form suitable for administration to humans.
108.	Pharmacodynamics	Study of the biochemical and physiological effects of drugs on the body or on microorganisms or parasites within or on the body and the mechanisms of drug action and the relationship between drug concentration and effect.
109.	Pharmacokinetics	It is a branch of pharmacology involving the study of the absorption, distribution, metabolism, and elimination of drugs from the body.
110.	Pilot Studies	A pilot study, pilot project or pilot experiment is a small scale preliminary study conducted in order to evaluate feasibility, time, cost, adverse events, and effect size (statistical variability) in an attempt to predict an appropriate sample size and improve upon the study design prior to performance of a full-scale research project.
111.	Pivotal trial	A clinical trial or study intended to provide evidence for a drug marketing approval from the licensing authority. Usually a phase III study which presents the data that the licensing authority uses to

		decide whether or not to approve a drug. A pivotal study will generally be well-controlled, randomized, of adequate size, and whenever possible, double-blind.
112.	Polymers	Polymers are substances whose molecules have high molar masses and are composed of a large number of repeating units.
113.	Population Screening	Population screening refers to a test that is offered to all individuals in a target group, usually defined by age, as part of an organised program.
114.	Populations	The total number of inhabitants constituting a particular race, class, or group in a specified area.
115.	Post-Marketing surveillance	The practice of monitoring the safety of a pharmaceutical drug or medical device after it has been released on the market and is an important part of the science of pharmacovigilance.
116.	Pre-clinical study	<i>in vitro</i> and animal studies provide information on possible toxicities and mechanisms of action, and starting doses for human studies.
117.	Predictive genetics testing	A form of genetic testing, also known as presymptomatic testing. These types of testing are used to detect gene mutations associated with disorders that may appear after birth, often later in life, but it is not certain whether these will manifest later
118.	Principal investigator	Means an individual or the leader of a group of individuals who initiates and takes full responsibility for the conduct of biomedical and health research; if there are more than one such individuals they may be called Co-Principal Investigators.
119.	Professional competence	Professional competence is the broad professional knowledge, attitude, and skills required in order to work in a specialized area or profession.
120.	Proprietary Medicine	A proprietary medicine is a non-secret compound which is marketed under the maker's name.
121.	Psychosocial Harm	Research, particularly psychology studies, can put participants in situations that may make them feel uncomfortable while learning about their reaction to a situation. The result can be psychological harm that can manifest itself through worry (warranted or unwarranted), feeling upset or depressed, embarrassed, shameful or guilty, and/or result in the loss of self-confidence.
122.	Public Health Studies	Public health is defined as the science of protecting the safety and improving the health of communities through education, policy making and research for disease and injury prevention.
123.	Quasi-experimental	Design where there is an intervention, but it is often not completely planned by the person doing the research. This design falls between observational and experimental studies.

124.	Quorum	Number of EC members required to act on any motion presented to the Board for action
125.	Randomised Controlled trials	A randomized controlled trial (or randomized control trial; RCT) is a type of scientific experiment, where the people being studied are randomly allocated to one or other of the different treatments under study.
126.	Randomization	Randomization is the process of making something random, in various contexts this involves, for example selecting a random sample of a population (important in statistical sampling); allocating experimental units via random assignment to a treatment or control condition, etc.
127.	Reference Biologic	It is used as the comparator for head-to-head comparability studies with the similar biologic in order to show similarity in terms of safety, efficacy and quality. Only a product that is licensed on the basis of a full registration dossier can serve as reference biologic.
128.	Regulations	Mean the Regulations framed under an Act.
129.	Reproductive cloning	Reproductive cloning involves creating an animal that is genetically identical to a donor animal through somatic cell nuclear transfer. In reproductive cloning, the newly created embryo is placed back into the uterine environment where it can implant and develop.
130.	Reproductive health	Reproductive health is a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being in all matters relating to the reproductive system.
131.	Reproductive toxicity	A hazard associated with some chemical substances that they will interfere in some way with normal reproduction; such substances are called reprotoxic. It includes adverse effects on sexual function and fertility in adult males and females, as well as developmental toxicity in the offspring.
132.	Research related injury	Means harm or loss that occurs to an individual as a result of participation in research, irrespective of the manner in which it has occurred, and includes both the expected and unexpected adverse events and serious adverse events related to the intervention, whenever they occur, as well as any medical injury caused due to procedures.
133.	Research	Means a systematic investigation for gathering information and its analysis designed to develop or contribute to knowledge.
134.	Retrospective studies	A retrospective study looks backwards and examines exposures to suspected risk or protection factors in relation to an outcome that is established at the start of the study.
135.	Risk minimisation	The identification, analysis, assessment, control, avoidance, minimization, or elimination of unacceptable risks.

136.	Risk	The probability of injury or harm or discomfort to study participants. Acceptable risk differs depending on the conditions for which the product is being tested. A product for sore throat, for example, will be expected to have a low incidence of side effects. However, unpleasant side effects may be an acceptable risk when testing a promising treatment for a life-threatening illness.
137.	Scientists	Professionals with advanced training and expertise in the medical or non-medical areas related to the protocol being reviewed.
138.	Serious Adverse Event (SAE)	The adverse event is Serious and should be reported when the patient outcome is death, life-threatening, hospitalization, disability, congenital anomaly, and requires intervention to prevent permanent impairment or damage.
139.	Sexual minorities	A sexual minority is a group whose sexual identity, orientation or practices differ from the majority of the surrounding society. It can also refer to lesbian gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT), gender queer (including third gender) or intersex individuals.
140.	Similar biologic	A biological product/ drug produced by genetic engineering techniques and claimed to be "similar" in terms of safety, efficacy and quality to a reference biologic, which has been granted a marketing authorization in India by DCGI on the basis of a complete dossier, and with a history of safe use in India. The products, where the reference biologic is not authorized in India shall be considered on a case by case basis if such products have been granted marketing approval in countries with well established regulatory systems such as US FDA, EMA etc. and have been in wider use for a minimum of four years. Such products are also referred as biosimilars, similar biotherapeutic products, subsequent entry biologics or follow on biologics in various countries.
141.	Social Benefit	Social benefit is the total benefit to society from producing or consuming a good/ service.
142.	Social Scientist	A person who is an expert on societal and social behaviour.
143.	SOP (Standard Operating Procedure)	Detailed written instructions, in a certain format, describe all activities and action undertaken by an organization to achieve uniformity of the performance of a specific function.
144.	Sponsor country	When a country supports negotiations to fund research.
145.	Sponsor	Means a person who initiates the research and is responsible for its management and funding who could be an individual, institution, private company, government or non-governmental organization
146.	Stent	A tube designed to be inserted into a vessel or passage way to keep it open allay obstruction or aid in healing
147.	Stepped Wedge	A cluster randomised trial design involving random and sequential

	design	crossover of clusters from control to intervention until all clusters are exposed.
148.	Stepped wedge Trial	A stepped-wedge trial is a form of randomised controlled trial that involves sequential but random rollout of an intervention over multiple time periods.
149.	Stigmatisation	The assignment of negative perceptions to an individual because of pe rceived difference from the population at large; itmay occur on the bas is of physical appearance (including race or sex), of mental or physical i llness, or of various other qualities.
150.	Suicidality	The act or an instance of intentionally killing oneself.
151.	Surrogate	A surrogate is a substitute or deputy for another person in a specific role.
152.	Theologian	A person who is an expert on theology (theology - the study of religious faith, practice, and experience the study of God and God's relation to the world, a system of religious beliefs or ideas).
153.	Therapeutic efficacy	The effectiveness of a particular therapeutic method.
154.	Therapeutic misconception	When a research participant fails to appreciate the distinction between the imperatives of clinical research and of ordinary treatment, and therefore inaccurately attributes therapeutic intent to research procedures. It describes the assumption of research participants that decisions about their care are being made solely with their benefit in mind It is not a misconception to believe that participants probably will receive good clinical care during research. But it is a misconception to believe that the purpose of clinical trials is to administer treatment rather than to conduct research.
155.	Traditional medicine	It is the sum total of the knowledge, skills, and practices indigenous to a country based on the theories, beliefs, and experiences, used in the maintenance of health as well as in the prevention, diagnosis, improvement or treatment of physical and mental illness.
156.	Transgender population	They experience a mismatch between their gender identity, gender expression or their assigned sex.
157.	Transparency	Transparency implies openness, communication, and accountability and operating in such a way that it is easy for others to see what actions are performed. It has been defined simply as "the perceived quality of intentionally shared information from a sender".
158.	Undue inducement	Offer of a desirable good in excess such that it compromises judgment and leads to serious risks that threaten fundamental interests.
159.	Unexpected ADR	An adverse reaction, the nature or severity of which is not consistent with the informed consent/ information sheets or the applicable

	product information (e.g., investigator's brochure for the unapproved
	investigational product or package insert/ summary of product
	characteristics for an approved product.